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CORPORATE PROFILE
i RBR

Munsun Capital Group Limited (ZEEAREBEHFRAF]) was
incorporated on 14 January 2004 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
On 12 December 2017, the Company has been deregistered in
the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability under the laws of Bermuda.

The shares (the “Shares”) of the Company have been listed on
the main board (the “Main Board"”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 12 October
2004 (Stock code: 1194).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in mining and processing of gold ores
and sale of gold products in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), provision of financial services business in Hong Kong
and the PRC, including asset management, securities brokerage,
financing and advisory services.

During the year, the Group further extended its business into
purchase and sale of metals and minerals in the PRC.

The Group has diversified its operation into the financial
services industry in Hong Kong and the PRC, including asset
management and securities brokerage and advisory services.
The Group continues to seek the opportunities to establish
investment funds on high investment return.

The Group is a non state-owned Chinese gold mining company
in the PRC with a particular focus on the central and western
regions of the PRC. The Group currently owns five operating
gold mines located in the central, western and northern regions
of the PRC, namely Jinxing Mine and Luanling Mine in Henan
Province, Mojiang Mine and Hengyi Mine in Yunnan Province,
and Yongfeng Mine in Inner Mongolia, with total gold resources
of approximately 7.1 million ounces. The Group produced 62
Koz and 73 Koz of gold for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017, respectively.
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JINXING GOLD MINE IN HENAN

Jinxing Mine is currently our largest mine in terms of total
gold resources and 2018 production. Jinxing Mine is located
in Luanchuan County, Henan Province. It is approximately
6 km from the regional town of Baitu and approximately
110 km southwest of Luoyang City, Henan Province. It is an
underground mine and consists of two areas, namely Jinxing
area and Xiepojing area. It has Australasian Code for Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves
("JORC code”) and its equivalent gold resources of 75.4 tonnes
(2,423 Koz) with average grade of 4.6g/t.

Jinxing Mine is located at the junction between the southern
margin of the Qinling complex structural zone and the
Xinhuaxia Taihang uplift zone. Jinxing Mine is a polymetallic
mine. The majority of the mineralisation is contained within
fresh rock due to the limited weathering profile in the region.
Two categories of mineralisation are identified, namely pyrite
bearing that contains silver, lead and copper in addition to the
gold mineralisation, and lead/gold bearing that is composed of
lead and gold mineralisation with minor silver. Mineralisation
occurs within quartz veins which are located within fracture
zones to form stock work style deposits. Ten vein groups have
been identified within the mining area.

LUANLING GOLD MINE IN HENAN

Luanling Mine is located in Luanchuan County, Henan Province.
It is approximately 40 km from Jinxing Mine. It is composed of
Northern underground mining site and Southern open-pit and
underground mining site and is contained within a single mining
license with an area of 9 km?. Luanling Mine has JORC code
gold resources of 60.7 tonnes (1,953Koz) with average grade of
3.2g/t.

Luanling Mine consists of two mining areas with mineralisation
of different characteristics, namely the Northern mining area
and the Southern mining area. Aggregate mining area of
approximately 9km? is under the mining license.
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Luanling Mine is located at the junction between the southern
margin of the Qinling complex structural zone and the Xinhuaxia
Taihang uplift zone. There are mineralised zones are defined
in two mining areas. The major gold zones include nine veins.
The mineralised material is dominated by pyrite, secondarily
marcasite, with small amount of galena and altaite (lead
minerals). The major gangue minerals include quartz, albite,
sericite and chlorite. The gold minerals include electrum, with a
little calaverite and petzite.

MOJIANG GOLD MINE IN YUNNAN

Mojiang Mine is located in Mojiang County, Pu’er City, Yunnan
Province, approximately 300 km southwest of the provincial
capital-Kunming of Yunnan Province. Mojiang Mine is located
in the famous Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San Jiang Metamorphic
Fold System implying favourable geology attributes. It has JORC
code gold resources of 14.9 tonnes (482 Koz) with average
grade of 1.4g/t.

Mojiang Mine holds one mining license covering an area of
approximately 7.2 km2.

Apart from gold deposit, there is also rich deposit of nickel
metal in Mojiang Mine. The nickel ore bodies occur parallel to
the gold ore bodies and belong to a typical hydrothermal type
that are mainly sulfides.

HENGYI GOLD MINE IN YUNNAN

Hengyi Mine is located in Zhenyuan County, Yunnan Province.
It is approximately 380 km southwest from Kunming. Hengyi
Mine is located between the Mojiang-Jinping Fold Belt and the
Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San Jiang Metamorphic Fold System.
It has JORC code gold resources of 51.4 tonnes (1,654 Koz)
with average grade of 2.7g/t.

Hengyi Mine consists of two mining areas, namely Bianfushan
mining area and Shangzhai mining area. Total area under the
mining licences is approximately 9.1 km?. It also holds four
exploration licences in adjacent areas with aggregate area of
approximately 36.7 km?.
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YONGFENG GOLD MINE IN INNER MONGOLIA

The Yongfeng Mine is located in Honghuagou, Inner Mongolia.
It currently holds mining licenses covering a total mining
area of 1.9 km?2. The mine is an underground mine located in
Honghuagou mineralisation belt of Inner Mongolia that has
relatively high gold grade. It has gold resources of 16.1 tonnes
(519 Koz) with average grade of 9.5g/t.

Seven mineralized veins were identified in Yongfeng Mine. The
mineralised veins have similar characteristics with an average
width between 1 and 1.5 metres and occur as gold bearing
quartz veins.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETERES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
our shareholders.

During the year under review, it saw rising interest rates,
strong U.S. economy lifted by the Trump adminstration’s tax
cuts and higher U.S. stock prices. Against these backdrops,
Gold encountered substantial headwinds for the most of
year and Gold price seesawed in 2018. Gold started to
rebound in the final quarter of 2018 as volatility returned to
US markets after a prolonged calm. Equity market volatility
and the resulting investors’ fear restored gold’s safe-haven
appeal. During 2018, the Group continued with its efforts
on exploration, organic expansion as well as cost control
in a safe and an environmentally friendly manner. With the
stricter envirionmental regulations and controls in China, we
remain dedicated to the philosophy of operating in a safe and
environmentally friendly manner.

Following the Group's diversification of its operation into
financial services industry, the Group continues to explore every
opportunity to establish investment funds on high investment
return in 2018. During the year under review, the Group has
operated two investment funds under its management in the
PRC. In the end of 2018, a subscription agreement had been
signed with an investor for preparation and establishment of
a new investment fund in January 2019 in spite of the overall
sluggish market and industry supervision in 2018.

Looking forward to 2019, it is expected that U.S. dollar will
weaken arising from geopolitical tensions caused by ongoing
trade disputes between the U.S. and China. Also, fed policy
stance on interest rate hike will become more neutral. Risks
of higher market volatility and slowdown in global economic
growth will continue to increase. As such, we would expect
gold will maintain its high relevance as a safe-haven assets
throughout 2019. The Group will continue to enhance the
mining production process and improve the technology to
achieve the cost efficiency.
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Higher levels of equity market volatility is likely to continue in
2019. With diversification of Group’s business into the financial
services industry, we recognize that strengthening of risk and
liability management as well as the improvement of the cost
control are essential to the Group’s continued growth in a
world of fast-changing threats and opportunities. The asset
management business will continue to contribute to the Group's
long term capital growth as it expands.

| owe my gratitude to my fellow board members for their
guidance and wisdom, to my colleagues for their dedication and
diligence and to our stakeholders for their continued support
throughout the year.

Mr. Yi Shuhao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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NANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBERE

KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT FEMBERE

FY 2018 FY 2017
Financial Data Summary =ZE-N —Z£—+ Movement %
HREEERE BEFEE FREE 1t %
Gold production output meES(THA)

(thousand ounces) 62 74 -16%
Revenue (HK$'000) Wz (FH7T) 813,901 838,305 -3%
Gross profit (HK$'000) EFM(FHL) 226,132 317,798 -29%
Net loss (HK$'000) FEE(TET) (466,335) (390,190) 20%
Total assets (HK$'000) wEE(TET) 12,683,081 13,591,807 7%
Total debts* (HK$'000) wmEE(FAET) 3,579,137 5,018,945 -29%
Cash and bank balances* Re MIRITHES >

(HK$'000) (F#&7T) 183,490 754,194 -76%
Net debts* (HK$'000) FEIE *(FAT) 3,395,647 4,264,751 -20%
Total equity (HK$'000) ks (T8I 7,724,828 7,209,880 7%
*Notes: * PR
—  Total debts are bank and other borrowings, financial liabilities at - REEARTRHMEN FBER

fair value through profit or loss and convertible bonds. EAFEIEZeMABERATRRKE
—  Cash and bank balances include cash and bank balances and - ReRRTEHRVERSMBITES
pledged deposits. LA R B HAFR -
—  Net debts are total debts less cash and bank balances and — FEEALEBEERIA® MEITHEHKI
pledged deposits. REERER -

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GOLD MARKET OUTLOOK

The full year gold demand for in 2018 saw a gain of 4%
reaching 4,345.1 tonnes according to the research of the
World Gold Council. The rise is largely led by the strong
central bank buying for diversification and safety driven by
heightened geopolitical and economic uncertainty throughout
the year. Central bank demand alone was the highest since
2015, rocketed by 74% reaching 651.5 tonnes. Global bar
and coin demand boosted in the second half of the year, up
by 4% to 1,090.2 tonnes in 2018. Annual inflow into gold-
backed Exchange Traded Funds (“ETF") recorded 68.9 tonnes
representing 67 % lower than inflows in 2017. A recovery of ETF
inflows of 112.4 tonnes in the fourth quarter primarily caused
by the stock market volatility and signs of slowing in economic
growth. Europe was the only region to see net ETF growth
in 2018. Annual jewellery demand barely changed at 2,200
tonnes. China was the main area of jewellery growth, in spite
of a slowdown in the fourth quarter mainly due to the trade
frictions.Gold used in technological applications grew slightly by
1% to 334.6 tonnes in 2018 owing to the increasing expansion
of high-end consumer electronics and vehicle electrification
throughout the year.

As for gold supply, total supply increased steadily by 1% to
4,490.2 tonnes in 2018, with higher recycling and the mine
production inched to a record high of 3,346.9 tonnes. The
ongoing strict environmental regulations and controls in China
resulted in a 9% fall in national mine production. With mine
production expected to be stable in 2019, supply will remain
constrained.

In the first quarter of 2018, gold price rose by 4% on fears of
geopolitical uncertainties. During the third quarter, gold’s price
fell 5% largely caused by the strong US dollar and the Fed's
interest rate hike expectations. In the fourth quarter, gold price
increased slightly fuelled by higher market volatility. Gold price
seesawed in 2018.

Looking forward to 2019, it is believed that U.S. dollar will
weaken arising from geopolitical tensions caused by ongoing
trade wars between the U.S. and China. Also, Fed policy stance
on interest rate hike will become more neutral. Risk will be
intensified by higher market volatility and increased likelihood
of slowdown in global economic growth. As such, we would
expect the prospect of gold market will be more favourable and
there will be a slow recovery in gold price in 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW
Financial Services Business

Following the Group's diversification of its operation into
financial services industry, the Group continues to explore every
opportunity to establish investment funds on high investment
return in 2018.

During the year under review, the Group has operated two
investment funds under its management in the PRC. In the end
of 2018, a subscription agreement had been signed with an
investor for preparation and establishment of a new investment
fund in January 2019 in spite of the overall sluggish market and
industry supervision in 2018.

Trading of metals and minerals

The Group is involved in trading of metals and minerals in
PRC and the revenue of this segment was approximately
HK$114,003,000 (2017: nil).

Gold Mining Business

At the same time, the Group continued focusing in mine
development and reserve converting exploration during the
year. Total gold production was 2 tonnes (62 Koz) during the
year, a 16% decrease as compared to that in 2017.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2018

£ 0]

ERBREE RS

B EBETEBS T ESRRBT
¥ AEER T N\FRERERT
BRABGNEEESNE ERE

REBEFEHE  ~&5EBTZEMIE
PREREES BRE-_ZT—\FEEM
BAERAABGITEEET  A5EE
RZE-—NFERE-—ZREEFFRE
& WEEITR T —NF—AKL
FIREHES -

TEREEES
KEIﬁAEPHﬁé%éE&ﬁEE%i% otk

D HE 818 W 49 114,003,000 (=
T—+F:F)o

TR RS

R - NEERAFENEE S FHIE
GRERREERMER S28EER
FAR2WE(62THA)  W_T—+F
WA 16% °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Henan Jinxing Gold Mine

Henan Jinxing Mine is located approximately 6 km from the
regional town of Baitu and approximately 110 km southwest
of Luoyang City, Henan Province. It is the largest mine in terms
of gold resources of the Group. It is an underground mine and
consists of two areas, namely Jinxing area and Xiepojing area.
The Group acquired Jinxing Mine in 2010. Ten vein groups
have been identified within the mining area, with similar
orientation, size and shape. The variation of overall continuity of
the thickness and grade of the vein is also relatively consistent,
which suggested good potential for further resources expansion.
Jinxing Mine has received the environmental approval and
safety approval for its new tailings yard and has started the
construction work. It has JORC code and its equivalent gold
resources of 75.4 tonnes (2,423 Koz) with average grade of
4.6g/t. Gold production in 2018 was 0.7 tonnes (23 Koz), an
increase of 1% compared to that of 2017.

In the end of August 2018, both projects, namely “Kangshan
Gold Mine Area Production-Purpose Exploration by Luanchuan
County Jinxing Mining Co., Ltd.” of Henan Province and
"Kangshan Gold Mine Area In-depth Investigation by Luanchuan
County Jinxing Mining Co., Ltd.” of Henan Province, have
been initiated and the implementation solutions thereunder
have also been optimized. Major construction works, such as
reinforcement works, site selection and dust screen works as
well as Beigou tailings dams expansion works, of Jinxing Mine

have been completed.

Henan Luanling Gold Mine

Luanling Mine is located in Luanchuan County, Henan
Province, 40 km away from Jinxing Mine. It is composed of
Northern underground mining site and Southern open-pit and
underground mining site and is contained within a single mining
licence with an area of 9 km?. The Group acquired the mine
in 2010 and realised full scale production in 2012. It has JORC
code gold resources of 60.7 tonnes (1,953 Koz) with average
grade of 3.2g/t. Gold production in 2018 was 0.5 tonnes (14
Koz), a decrease of 18% compared to that of 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

Expert conference evaluations as well as prospecting tender
conferences regarding The Implementation Solution of Gold
Mine Area Production-Purpose Exploration by Luanchuan
County Luanling Gold Mine Co., Ltd. of Henan Province and
The Implementation Solution of Gold Mine Area In-depth
Investigation by Luanchuan County Luanling Gold Mine Co.,
Ltd. of Henan Province for Henan Luanling Mine were organized
whereby awardees were confirmed. Prospecting contracts were
subsequently signed. Construction for production-purpose
exploration and geological prospecting were also completed.

Yunnan Mojiang Gold Mine

Mojiang Mine, is located in Mojiang County, Pu’er City, Yunnan
Province, which is approximately 300 km southwest of the
provincial capital — Kunming of Yunnan Province. It lies on
the famous Mojiang-Jinping and Ailaoshan Fold Belt, implying
favourable geology attributions. It has JORC code gold resources
of 14.9 tonnes (482 Koz) with average grade of 1.4 g/t. Gold
production in 2018 was 0.7 tonnes (22 Koz), a 31% decrease
compared to that of 2017.

Prospecting and drilling works of Mojiang Gold Mine are under
construction. Open mining is strictly conducted in accordance
with mining designs, systematic logging and sampling are
conducted at the mining sites and its surroundings as well as ore
block-out in order to ensure ore quality. Mining boundaries are
timely amended if there are any ore attitude changes according
to the geological logs. Combining both drilling information and
tunnel logs, transverse and drift construction are designed and
conducted.

Yunnan Hengyi Gold Mine

Hengyi Mine is located in Zhenyuan County, Yunnan Province. It
is approximately 380 km southwest from Kunming. It holds two
mining licenses, namely Shangzhai and Bianfushan.

Hengyi Mine is located between the Mojiang-Jinping Fold Belt
and the Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San Jiang Metamorphic Fold
System. The San Jiang Metamorphic System is situated on the
southwest margin of the Yangzi Platform and the northeast
margin of the Simao Block between the Honghe and Amojiang
Faults.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Since the Group’s acquisition of Hengyi Mine in 2012, the
Group has been working on ramping up its production capacity.
Heap leaching has been practised for several years at the mine.
It has JORC code gold resources of 51.4 tonnes (1,654 Koz)
with an average grade of 2.7 g/t. Gold production in 2018 was
67 kg (2 Koz), a 347 % increase compared to that of 2017.

Tunnel mining works at Langnitang mine section under
Shangzhai mining rights of Hengyi Gold Mine were conducted.

Inner Mongolia Yongfeng Gold Mine

Yongfeng Mine is an underground mine which was acquired
by the Group in 2009. Yongfeng Mine consists of two mining
areas, namely Lianhuashan mining area and Honghuagou
mining area, which are further divided into seven sub-mining
areas. Yongfeng Mine is located in the middle segment of the
northern margin of the North China Plate, adjacent to the Inner
Mongolia Fold Belt in the North. Seven mineralised veins were
identified. The mineralised veins have similar characteristics with
an average width between 1 and 1.5 metre and occur as gold-
bearing quartz veins. It has resources of 16.1 tonnes (519 Koz)
with an average grade of 9.5 g/t. The output of Yongfeng Mine
in 2018 was 20 kg (1 Koz), a 29% decrease compared to that
of 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

GOLD RESOURCES/RESERVES

At the end of year 2018, the Group had total resources of
218.5 tonnes which is compliant with the JORC code and/or
its equivalent. Measured and indicated resources (inclusive of
proven and probable reserves) were 83.1 tonnes and inferred
resources were 135.4 tonnes. The measured and indicated
resources (inclusive of proven and probable reserves) and
inferred resources of each mine of the Group are detailed in the
table below. The gold grade ranged from 1.4 g to 9.5 g per ton
of resources.

E&ﬁﬁ}ﬁ%/ﬁ%%

RZZ—N\FER  AEEIRIORCIELE
N/ EEEREER218.50 - 1R
FHEZHERE(REEEEMREHESE)
83 NMERIEE EIRE 135.41F - K&
& A e PRI B B B R E (B EE
FHPRHES) AREHEREFINT
Ko-BEMUNTREREEI147RE
9.5% ©

Updated mineral resources table @ EHBEEERR
Au Metal (t) Au Metal (koz)
£eBE(m) 2B (T#7)
Measured + Measured +
Indicated® Inferred Total  Indicated® Inferred Total
R+ 2@ 4] a5t FA+EHO i | CH
Jinxing Mine T HEE 359 395 754 1,153 1,270 2,423
Luanling Mine BESRE 16.7 44.0 60.7 538 1415 1,953
Mojiang Mine BT2E 114 35 14.9 369 113 482
Hengyi Mine ExmeE 14.1 373 51.4 455 1,199 1,654
Yongfeng Mine XEEE 5.0 111 16.1 162 357 519
Total &t 83.1 1354 2185 2,677 4,354 7,031

(1) All mines’ resources and reserves are JORC code compliant and/

or its equivalent.

(2) Measured and indicated resources are inclusive of proven and

probable gold reserves.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ANNUAL REVIEW - EXPLORATION AND
INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT

The Group continued its exploration work in its mines, and in
total has completed trenching of approximately 19,998m and
diamond drilling of approximately 370m.

Jinxing Mine £ Bl &2

1) Exploration activities &2 £)#%)% )

i) Exploration area and size Jinxing (5km?)
HREE R EEmE SEGEFLE)
ii) Exploration project Trenches (9,288m)
HEIRE (9,288 %)
i)~ No. of drillholes 2 drilling spots of each of
ERRILER 10 mine mouths
H£10@ A - BERA
2EI{EmE
i) Average size of drillholes Trenching of 2.2*2m;
ERRHLTH RN mE2.2% 2%

2)  Development/construction activities fElz % /%~ iEiK T E)

EEEBANWR DM

FERNE-BRREERE

REEREBLFENSEHEIE &
TERITEETIZE4719,998 K » i T2
49370k o

Xiepojing (0.05km?)
REF(0.05FFRE)

Trenches (2,616m)
R (2,616 K)

2 drilling spots of each of
2 mine mouths
H2M@5mA -
BERE2EIER

Trenching of 2.2*2m
MiE2.2*2 K

i) Area Jinxing Xiepojing
ER TR M

i) Infrastructure construction Development of main tunnel and Development of the main tunnel and
HERRmER engineering cut works of mine mouths ~ engineering cut works of Xiepojing,

No. 18,28,19,3,Xingshuya,Moshigou,  extension of slope mine
Houmusi, Qiaogou, Xiaobeigou

tunnels, etc.

1837+ 2837+ 1931 » 331« AR - R HEERE  RYIRER
ERE FEF BE /MUES SHER
BTSRRI ORI
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Luanling Mine B £1&

1) Exploration activities &z £1#%)% )

i) Exploration area and size South Area (2.7km?)
BREE L EERE HRQIFHRE)
ii) Exploration project Trenches (5,776m)
HEIR YR (5,7763K)
i)~ No. of drillholes 3 drilling points of each of
ERRILEE 8 mine mouths
HefEmA - GEAROIEIER
iv)  Average size of drillholes Trenching of 2.2*2m
ERRHLFHAN miE2.2% 2k

2)  Development/construction activities &z % /&~ 7Zi% &)

i) Area South Area
i) Infrastructure construction Development of main tunnel and
HERRmER engineering cut works of tunnel
No.301, 305, 306, 307, 308, 311 and
401

301371 ~ 30537 * 30637~ 307471
30841~ 311351 K401 T B 5 A M
RYIR
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North Area (6.3km?)
TE(63FFAE)

Trenches (2,318m)
FR(2,318K)

4 drilling spots of each of
7 mine mouths
H7@ERA - SEROAELER

Trenching of 2.2*2m
N82.272K

North Area
It&

Development of main tunnel and
engineering cut works of Dongpo

No.100 and 13, Huichungou No.201,

200, 202 and 115
BRI 1004T ~ 13357 EEB2014

200971 - 2025 R NS E BHA K

BYIRE



Mojiang Mine &I £

1)

2)

Exploration activities &3 &) % &)

i) Exploration area and size

BREELBERR

i) Exploration project
MRIRE

i) No. of drillholes
ERRILEE

iv)  Average size of drillholes

ERRILFEA)

v)  Average depth of drillholes
ERRILTIRE

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Open Cut (0.4km?)
BAFEB04THAE)

Diamond drilling (370m)
EIE(370K)

13 drillholes
13 @& 1L

Diameter of 75mm

EHHE7 ZX
28m
28K

Development/construction activities §& iz /%~ #i% 58

i) Area

RF [0
ﬂ;;;un

ii) Infrastructure construction
Bt RmER

Open Cut
BARE

Construction of a three mining
stope to separate the stripping and
mining area, and 6 other heap
leaching plants

HR 3RS - 2 RIH8E - R -

HEEMERm6E

EEEBANWR DM

Underground

it TR E

No. 2 and No. 1 bulkhead wall for
mining junkyard, phase two mine
mouth mining and rehabilitation
project
2HRRNVFHLSEETR
“HBFORRREEIR

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

EXPLORATION, DEVELOPMENT AND MINING
PRODUCTION EXPENDITURES

During the year, the Group had capital expenditures of HK$130
million for exploration, development and mining production
and had entered into certain significant contracts with certain
independent contractors for provision of exploration and
infrastructure development of the Group. Details of the relevant
exploration and infrastructure development work are set in
above section headed “ANNUAL REVIEW — EXPLORATION AND
INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT". Details of the Group’s
capital commitments are set out in note 34(a) to the financial
statements.

During the year, the Group incurred production costs of HK$588
million which included raw materials of HK$172 million,
amortisation and depreciation of HK$179 million, wages and
subcontractors’ fees of HK$149 million, resources compensation
fees and taxes of HK$24 million and other miscellaneous mining
and processing costs of HK$64 million.

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL

There was no significant major merger, acquisition or disposal
by the Group during the reporting period and up to the date of
this Annual Report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and Results

During the year, the Group recorded profit from operations
of HK$80 million as compared with profit from operations of
HK$53 million last year. The increase in profit from operations
is mainly due to the fair value loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of HK$85 million, which included
fair value loss arisen from listed shares and unlisted equity
investments in investment funds of HK$81 million and HK$4
million respectively, recorded by the Group last year, but, no
relevant loss incurred during this year. However, the profit
from operations is eroded by the decrease of sales revenue and
gross profit mentioned in following paragraph in this section.
In addition, the Group has an increase of the finance costs to
HK$538 million (2017: HK$427 million) during the year (details
are set out in the following section headed “Finance Costs”).
Accordingly, the Group's loss after tax increased to HK$466
million during the year as compared to HK$390 million last year.

During the year, the Group's revenue and gold production
decreased by 3% to HK$814 million (2017: HK$838 million)
and 16% to 62 thousand ounces (2017: 74 thousand ounces)
respectively. The decrease in revenue is mainly arisen from the
decrease in gold price, stricter environmental regulations and
controls in China and earlier start of raining season in Yunnan
in the PRC resulted in decrease in the Group’s gold production
during the year. The gross profit margin of the Group decreased
to 28% during the reporting period (2017: 38%) which is
attributable from the increase of revenue on trading of metals
and minerals which has a lower gross profit margin than other
operating segments, the decrease in gold price and the increase
in the Group’s production costs per unit. The Group's sale
revenue decreased by 3% during the reporting period, but its
production costs, particularly fixed production costs, were not
reduced in the same rate. In addition, increased mining depth
and complicated geologic structure in the particular mining site
currently under production pushed production cost higher.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

The Group’s total comprehensive loss increased by 22 times to
HK$728 million during the year as compared to HK$31 million
last year. The increase in total comprehensive loss is attributable
to the Group’s recognition on an exchange loss on translation
of financial statements of PRC subsidiaries and associate of
HK$291 million during the year (2017: exchange gain of
HK$359 million) that is arisen from depreciation of exchange
rate of RMB against HK$ during the year.

During the year, the loss per share of the Company was HK20.4
cents (2017 (restated): HK53.87 cents). The loss per share
last year and this year has been adjusted to reflect the impact
on the Share Consolidation and Rights Issue of the Company
which was effective on 28 May 2018 and 27 August 2018,
respectively. Details are set out in notes 11 and 26(b) in the
financial statements.

Other Income and Other Net Gain/Loss

During the year, the Group’s other income was HK$18 million
(2017: HK$20 million), representing a decrease by 10% as
compared last year. The decrease is mainly due to the decrease
in sundry income to HK$1.5 million (2017: HK$4 million).

During the year, the Group recorded the other net gain of HK$2
million as compared to the other net loss of HK$87 million last
year. The turnaround to the other net gain is mainly attributable
from the fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$85 million which included fair value loss
arisen from listed shares and unlisted equity investments
in investment funds of HK$81 million and HK$4 million
respectively recorded by the Group last year, but, no relevant
loss was incurred during this year.

Selling and Distribution Costs

During the year, the Group’s selling and distribution costs were
HK$12 million (2017: HK$16 million), representing a decrease
by 25% as compared with last year. The decrease is mainly
attributable to the decrease in the Group's revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative Expenses

During the year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
HK$154 million (2017: HK$182 million), representing a decrease
by 15% as compared with last year. The decrease is mainly due
to a decrease in directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments to
HK$4 million (2017: HK$14 million).

Finance Costs

During the year, the Group’s finance costs were HK$538 million
(2017: HK$427 million), representing an increase by 26% as
compared with last year. The increase in finance costs is mainly
due to a loss on the 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure of
HK$55 million (2017: nil) recorded by the Group during the
year, and increase in effective interest rates on the Group’s bank
and other borrowings due to the general increase in difficulty in
sourcing finance in the market. However, the increase of finance
costs is partly offset by the increase in non-cash fair value gain
on derivative financial instruments relating to the convertible
bonds from HK$31 million last year to HK$38 million during
this year. Details of the 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure and
fair value gain on derivative financial instruments relating to the
convertible bonds are set out in notes 6 (a) and 24 in the financial
statements.

Deferred Tax

As at 31 December 2018, deferred tax liabilities amounted to
HK$580 million (2017: HK$615 million), which represented mainly
the estimated tax effect of the temporary differences arising from
acquisitions of gold mines by the Group in previous years and
was calculated at PRC income tax rate of 25% on the increase
in fair value of mining rights. The deferred tax liability balance is
subsequently reversed and credited to the consolidated income
statement as a result of tax effect of the amortisation of the mining
rights. Such liabilities are accounted for in accordance with the
accounting principle and therefore no cash payment is required.
Details are set out in note 25 (a) in the financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At 31 December 2018, the Group's cash and bank balances
(including pledged deposits) and net current liabilities were
HK$183 million (2017: HK$754 million) and HK$2,702 million
(2017: HK$2,985 million), respectively. The decrease in the
Group’s net current liabilities is mainly attributable from (i) the
Company completed share placement with net proceeds of
approximately HK$155 million; (ii) the Company completed
rights issue with net proceeds of approximately HK$326 million
and set-off the underwriter loan approximately HK$761 million;
and (iii) the decrease in pledged bank deposits under current
assets of HK$507 million and bank and other borrowings and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss under
current liabilities of HK$828 million which is attributable from
the settlement of bank and other borrowings and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss secured by the
pledged bank deposits during the year. At 31 December 2018,
the Group’s net assets increased to HK$7,725 million (2017:
HK$7,210 million).

The Group has met its needs of working capital and capital
expenditure mainly through cash generated from operations,
bank and other borrowings and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. As at 31 December 2018, the Group's
bank and other borrowings were repayable within one to five
years and its fixed rate borrowings over total borrowings was
84%. There is no significant seasonality of the borrowings
demand of the Group. Further details of the Group’s bank
and other borrowings are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements. The Company's directors are of the opinion that
the Group will be able to finance its future working capital and
financial requirements as further detailed in note 2(b) in the
financial statements.

The Group’s cash and bank balances and bank and other
borrowings are mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and
Renminbi.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

At 31 December 2018, the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company was 5,836,921,580 shares, each of
HK$0.1 (the “Shares”). During the year, the Company has
completed the capital reorganisation, the share consolidation,
the share placing and the 2018 convertible bonds restructure as
well as the rights issue and increase in authorized share capital.
Further details are set out in the section headed “Share Capital”
in the report of the directors in this annual report and note
26(b) in the financial statements respectively.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher returns to
the owners of the Company that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital
management during the year.

At 31 December 2018, the Group's gearing ratio decreased to
31% (2017: 37%). The Group monitors capital using a gearing
ratio, which is calculated as the net debts divided by total equity
plus net debts. The Group’s net debts include bank and other
borrowings, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and convertible bonds, less cash and bank balances and pledged
deposits. The Group's total equity comprises total share capital
and reserves of the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledge of assets of the Group are set out in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

EEENWE DN

BEXE

R-FE—NEFE+-_RA=+—8" &2
AIEREECIB T2 ERITERARE
%4 5,836,921,580 B ([iX 17 1) - B 4F
N ARBEZRBRAEZER - BRHE
B BOBRERZSE—N\FABRES
BAA KR RIS IETERAN - #E—

FBEORHNRAFREFTSHREIRA
— B R BTSRRI 5 26(b) ©
AEBTHEGERNRNEREALEE

RS ARRIHEA AR S EH - AT
K2 = EERF RRFFREE AR
FEZEZENL 2 ZEEEFE - TR
JEAZ RN B B 1 8 BB ANREE - NF
ANAREBEEARNEIE 2 JEY B E -

RZT—-N\F+_A=1t—H0 &x&E

MEEABHERIEINN(ZT—L
F:37%) c ARENBEERBLE

(ERFERRAEERINFERFTE
EL)ERER - AGREZFERBR
RITREMER - EBBRRAFET
ReeRmBERATBREES  BRERE
FRITRBARE BT ER - NREBEZE
BEBREAEEARALFE -

EEHRA

AREBZEERTFFBINES
RMFE28 o

1 75

FAREE
RZZE-—N\F+_A=1+—8  ~*&H
WEELTABEASRAE -

EREXAEEBARA
-F - /\Eixﬁi

23



24

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group's principal assets and liabilities are located in the PRC
and are denominated in RMB which is the functional currency
of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC. The Group did not
enter into any forward foreign exchange contracts to manage
its foreign currency risk during the year as the management
considered that the Group’s exposure to exchange rate risk
could be managed. Details of the foreign exchange risks of
the Group during the year are set out in note 33(e) to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS RISK

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from the market
price fluctuations on gold products and equity securities. To
protect the Group from the impact of price fluctuations in gold
products, the management closely monitors gold product price
exposure and will consider to use derivative contracts should the
need arises. The Group did not enter into any forward equity
securities contracts to manage its equity securities price risk. The
Group mitigates its price risk by performing detailed analysis of
investments and dedicated professionals are assigned to oversee
and monitor the performance of investments. Details are set out
in note 33(d) in the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

At 31 December 2018, the Group had investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income of HK$280 million, representing 2% of the Group's total
assets, which include mainly investment in an unlisted company
in the PRC of HK$268 million and investment in a private equity
fund in the PRC of HK$12 million.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other
investments at 31 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed approximately
830 (2017: 920) employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. All
employees are remunerated according to their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practices. Both on-the-job
and professional training are provided. The Group provides
retirement benefits in the form of Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance to its employees in Hong Kong. The Group
provides defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organised by the relevant local government authorities in the
PRC to its employees in the PRC.

PRODUCTION SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION

We operate in a responsible manner to ensure the health
and safety of employees of our Group. We are committed to
meeting applicable legal requirements and where possible seek
to implement leading industry standards in our operations.
We have established a dedicated safety and environment
enhancement team that is responsible for the occupational
health and safety of our mines and operations.

We are subject to various PRC laws and regulations with respect
to the prevention and treatment of occupational diseases, the
prevention of worksite accidents and the handling of industrial
injuries. Production safety permits have been obtained for our
mines.

We have adopted a comprehensive set of internal occupational
health and safety policies for our mines. We conduct staff
training, review internal safety procedures, carry out regular
on-site safety inspections and continuously monitor the
implementation of safety policies. Protective equipment and
clothing are regularly provided to our mine personnel, and we
reqgularly check proper usage of such equipment. In addition,
each of our mines has been equipped with a real-time visual
monitoring system to monitor mine operation and safety.
We have also set up an inspection and detection system in
the explosive warehouses in each of our mines to provide
comprehensive protection to the usage and security of daily
explosives.
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We require our third-party contractors to possess requisite
production safety licences and relevant qualifications for the
work they contract from us and to undertake appropriate safety
measures.

We have been in compliance with all relevant PRC laws and
regulations regarding occupational health and safety in all
material respects. We have not had any material accident
involving death or personal injury at any of the mines operated
by us.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG") Report within three months
after the publication of this annual report in compliance with
the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIP WITH GOVERNMENT AND
AWARDS

The Group has been maintaining good relationships with the
local government where the mines are located.

In July 2012, the Group signed the cooperation framework
agreement on mineral resources exploration and development
with the local government of Yunnan Province. According to
the agreement, with the local government’s strong support and
assistance on exploration development and consolidation of
gold resources, the Group will have the priority rights to access
to the gold mining assets in the region. Moreover, the local
government will provide support on infrastructure, including
power, water and logistics.

In 2011, the Group also signed the similar framework
agreement with local government of Henan Province. According
to the agreement, the local government will provide full support
in terms of the Group's consolidation of precious metal resource
sector in the region. The Group is also subject to the subsidy
policy tailored for foreign investment as well as the favourable
policy for land acquisition and other approvals.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Jinxing Mine and Luanling Mine had been granted a number
of awards with fruitful results over the years. During the
year, Jinxing Mine was granted an award of “Outperformed
Enterprise in Economic Development” by the People’s
government of regional town Baitu in March 2018. Luanling
Mine was granted the title of “2017 Advanced Unit for
Workplace Safety in the Gold Industry of Luoyang City” by the
Luoyang Gold Administration Bureau in February 2018.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CORPORATE
PROSPECT

Looking forward to 2019, it is believed that U.S. dollar will
weaken arising from geopolitical tensions caused by ongoing
trade wars between the U.S. and China. Also, Fed policy stance
on interest rate hike will become more neutral. Risk will be
intensified by higher market volatility and increased likelihood of
slowdown in global economic growth. As it stands, we believe
these factors will likely to make gold attractive in 2019.

As for mining business, the Group's objective is to maintain its
stable development in respect of mine exploration and reserve
increase by means of strict implementation of existing mines
exploration planning. More effort will be put on optimizing the
construction of the major exploration projects and on the cost
control in an environmentally friendly manner. Being one of the
largest privately owned, China-based gold mining companies,
the Group commits business strategy as to:(i) continue to
expand production capacity at our existing mines, (ii) speed
up construction work of the capacity expansion and improve
the exploration efficiency, and (iii) continue to conduct further
exploration projects in order to increase resources and upgrade
reserves.

Following the Group’s diversification of its operations into
financial services industry in Hong Kong and the PRC, including
asset management and securities brokerage, the Group will seek
new investment opportunities for delivering long term capital
growth in a world of fast-changing threats and opportunities.
As always, the Group will remain vigilant on costs and adopt a
prudent approach in its growth strategies.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of the Group’s
business depends on the support from its key stakeholders,
including employees, customers, suppliers, banks, regulators
and shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationships with each of its
key stakeholders.

The details of the Group’s major customers, the credit terms
granted to them and credit risk exposure are set out in the
section headed “Major Customers and Suppliers” in the “Report
of the Directors” and notes 18 and 32(a) in the financial
statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance and procedures to ensure integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to promote the
ongoing development of the best long term interest of the
Company and enhance value for all the shareholders.

The Company complied with all the code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
December 2018 except for certain deviations as specified with
considered reason for such deviations as explained below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all directors
(“Directors”) of any non-compliance with the Model Code
during the financial year ended 31 December 2018, and they
have all confirmed their full compliance with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code.
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THE BOARD

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested
in the Board. The major responsibilities of the Board include
formulation of strategic plans, adoption of corporate strategies,
assessment of investment projects, monitoring and controlling
the Group's operating and financial performance, assessment
and management of risk to which the Group is exposed. The
management of the Group are responsible for the execution of
the Board’s decisions and day-to-day operation of the Group.

COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board during the year and up to
date of this report consists of 8 directors, with 5 Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yi Shuhao (Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer), Mr. Chen Sheng (Vice Chairman), Mr Zhang Lirui (Vice
Chairman), Mr. Yu Yong and Mr. Wang Baozhi. 3 Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely, Ms. Wong Chi Yan, Professor
Xiao Rong Ge and Professor Zhang Tianyu.

There are no financial, business, family or other material
relationships among members of the Board.

Under provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should
not be performed by the same individual.

On 13 December 2018, Mr. Yi Shuhao, the Chairman of the
Company was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. On the same date, Mr. Chen Sheng resigned as the
Chief Executive Officer but remained as an Executive Director
and redesignated as Vice Chairman. The Board considers that
vesting both of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in Mr. Yi is beneficial to the business prospects and
management of the Group as Mr. Yi has in-depth experience
in business management and development and can lead the
Group to have continuous growth in the future. The Company
had considered the governance issue of balance of power and
authority on the board and believed that the structure of the
Company (including strong independent elements in the board
and delegation of authorities to management) was sufficient to
address this potential issue.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has appointed a sufficient number of
Independent Non-Executive Directors with suitable professional
qualifications, such as expertise in accounting and financial
management, in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. They actively bring their valuable experience to
the Board for promoting the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company has received from each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
the Company considers all of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors to be independent.

As permitted under the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws"”), the Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance for which Members of the Board and officers
of the Company do not have to bear any excess.

The term of office of the Directors (including Independent Non-
Executive Directors) is 3 years. In accordance with the Bye-laws,
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one third of
the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not 3 or
a multiple of 3, the number nearest to, but not less than, one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.
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Attendance records of the Directors at Board Meeting, Executive
Committee Meeting, Audit Committee Meeting and General

Meetings held in 2018 are as below:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors:
Mr. Yi Shuhao
(appointed as Chairman and Executive Director
on 5 September 2018 and further appointed
as Chief Executive Officer on 13 December 2018)
Mr. Liu Liyang (resigned on 24 October 2018)
Mr. Chen Sheng
Mr. Zhang Lirui
Mr. Wang Baozhi
Mr. Yu Yong
Ms. Zang Dongling (resigned on 5 September 2018)

INEDs:

Professor Xiao Rong Ge
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung
Professor. Zhang Tianyu
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The minutes of Board meetings are prepared by the company
secretary of the Company. The draft minutes are circulated to all
members of the Board for their comments and the final version
of the minutes is sent to all members of the Board for their
records within a reasonable time after the meeting. The minutes
are also open for inspection by all members of the Board at the
Company'’s registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged in-house
trainings for Directors in the form of seminar and provision of
training materials. A summary of training received by Directors
during 2018 according to the records provided by the Directors

is as follows:

Name of Directors xR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yi Shuhao ZRERE
Mr. Chen Sheng BoR B o A
Mr. Wang Baozhi FRELE
Mr. Zhang Lirui SR A8 5T A&
Mr. Yu Yong RELEE
Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHITES
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung R ST
Professor Xiao Rong Ge EEJE €
Professor Zhang Tianyu oR H AR IR
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) under the Board. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely,
Ms. Wong Chi Yan, Professor Zhang Tianyu and Professor Xiao
Rong Ge. Ms. Wong Chi Yan is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee has formulated its term of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The Audit Committee’s duties are mainly to review the
Company’s financial reports, make recommendations on the
appointment, removal and remuneration of independent
auditors and approve audit and audit related services, and
supervise the Company'’s internal financial reporting procedures
and management policies.

At least two meetings of the Audit Committee will be convened
annually to review the accounting policies, risk management,
internal control and the relevant financial and accounting issues,
so as to ensure fairness and accuracy of the Company's financial
statements and other relevant information. The minutes of the
Audit Committee meetings are prepared by the secretary of the
meeting. The draft minutes are circulated to the Committee
Members for comments and the final version of the minutes
is sent to the Committee Members for their records within a
reasonable time after the meeting. The minutes are also open
for inspection by the Committee Members at the Company’s
registered office.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, three Audit
Committee meetings were held and the attendance of each
member is set out in the section headed “Composition” of this
report, The work performed by the Audit Committee included
to review and recommend for the Board’s approval the interim
and annual financial results and reports, financial reporting
and compliance procedures, and internal control and risk
management matters as well as to review and recommend for
the Board's approval, the Audit Planning Report and Internal
Control Planning Report, the engagements with the Auditor and
the consultant for internal control matter of the Company.
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Remuneration committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the
“"Remuneration Committee”). The Remuneration Committee
currently consists of two Independent Non-Executive Directors,
Professor Zhang Tianyu and Ms. Wong Chi Yan, and one
Executive Director, Mr. Yi Shuhao. Professor Zhang Tianyu is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Company has
formulated written terms of reference for the Remuneration
Committee in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and in overseeing and evaluating remuneration packages of the
Directors. Its duties include making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. It takes into consideration
factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of Directors. It also takes into account whether the emoluments
offered are appropriate to the duties and performance of the
respective individuals concerned and whether such emoluments
are competitive and sufficiently attractive to retain such
individuals.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no Remuneration
Committee meeting was held. The Remuneration Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2018.
In 2018 and up to the date of this report, the work of
Remuneration Committee included to review the remuneration
policies and made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration packages regarding renewal of service contract
of executive director and independent non-executive director
and newly appointed directors as well as annual review on
remuneration policy and structure for directors and senior
management of the Company.

Competitive remuneration packages are structured to be
commensurate with individual responsibilities, qualification,
experience and performance.
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The remuneration of a Director is determined with reference
to his duties and responsibilities with the Company and the
prevailing market situation. Details of the emoluments of
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out
in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report. The emoluments paid to senior management during
the year ended 31 December 2018 were within the following
bands:

EZFMO2RERARBZBENE
EUERITHRAMEE - BHE-FT—N
FH-A=1t—"BHLFEZEEMEF
BERAFRG ST HERRITES -
ECT-N\FTA=T—"HIEFEX
NTeREEEREZHMEEATEHE
AN

Number of
Senior Management
SREEREAY
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 Z#IT% 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 BLE
1,500,000 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 B LE
2,000,000 77T 2

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 ELE

2,500,000 %7

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) under the Board. Members of the
Nomination Committee currently consists of two Independent
Non-Executive Directors, Ms. Wong Chi Yan and Professor
Zhang Tianyu, and one Executive Director, Mr. Yi Shuhao who is
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for the

following:

reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
making recommendations on proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the
chief executive.

regularly review the time required from a director to
perform his responsibilities; and

to review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and
review the measurable objectives that the Board has
set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the
progress on achieving the objectives.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy aims to set out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board to ensure that
the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
knowledge and skills. In identifying suitable candidates, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates with the
objective criteria with due regard of the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no Nomination
Committee meeting was held. The Nomination Committee also
dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2018. In 2018
and up to the date of this report, the Nomination Committee’s
work included to make recommendation to the Board on
rotation of directors for 2018 and 2019 AGM, appointments
of Executive Director, Independent Non-Executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, re-designation of Vice Chairman of the Board,
access the Independence of Non-Executive Directors, reviewed
the structure and size and diversity of the Board and reviewed
the formulation of nomination policy and the revised terms
of reference of Nomination Committee in alignment with the
amendments to the Corporate Governance Code and the
related listing rules effective on 1 January 2019.

The Company has formulated the nomination Policy and
revised terms of reference of Nomination Committee as from 1
January 2019. The updated terms of reference of Nomination
Committee had been made available on the website of the
Stock Exchange and of the Company.
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Nomination Policy

The Board should have a balance of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. To ensure changes
to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, the Company has formal, considered and transparent
procedure for selection, appointment and re-appointment
of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly succession
(if considered necessary), including periodical review of such
plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-
appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board
upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the
Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is
qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive director, his or her independence shall be
assessed in accordance with, among other things, the factors
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from
time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s
education, qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated
to consider whether he or she has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise for filling the office of an independent non-executive
director with such qualifications or expertise as required under
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 30 March 2017
and comprises all Executive Directors of the Company. Mr.
Yi Shuhao is the Chairman of the Executive Committee. The
Executive Committee is vested with all the general powers of
management and control of the activities in the ordinary course
of business of the Group as are vested in the Board, save for
those matters which are reserved for the Board’s decision and
approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of the
Executive Committee. The Executive Committee will meet as
and when necessary to discuss the operating affairs of the
Group and may also deal with matters by way of circulation.

The Executive Committee is mainly responsible for undertaking
and supervising the day-to-day management and is empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business
activities and administration of the Group and to
make such amendments thereto from time to time as
the Executive Committee may think fit and to make
exceptions to the policies as the circumstances arise while
implementing such polices; and

(i)  to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted by the
Group on business activities.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Group has established a corporate governance committee
(the "Corporate Governance Committee”). The Corporate
Governance Committee currently consists of two Executive
Directors, Mr. Yi Shuhao and Mr. Wang Baozhi. Mr. Yi Shuhao
is the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.
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The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for the
following:

e developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

®* reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with applicable legal and
regulatory requirements;

e developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

e reviewing the Company's compliance with the code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no Corporate
Governance Committee meeting was held while Corporate
Governance Committee dealt with matters by way of
circulation. In 2018 and up to the date of this report, the
Corporate Governance Committee’s work included to review
and make recommendations to the Board and Board Committee
on establishment of dividend policy, nomination policy and the
revised terms of reference of Nomination Committee.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and
ensure that they are prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of such financial statements.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company,
Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements is set out
in the Auditor’s Report on pages 74 to 82.
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AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors (including any entity under common control, ownership
or management with the external auditors or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party having knowledge of
all relevant information would reasonably conclude as part of
the audit firm nationally or internationally) during the year is as
follows:

BT
FEBE LIRS

Audit services
Non-audit services

RISKS MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities to maintain a sound
and effective risks management and internal control systems
of the Group to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and
the Company’s assets. The Group has established guidelines
and procedures for the approval and control of expenditure.
Operating expenditures and capital expenditures are subject
to the overall budget control and approval process prior to
commitment.

The Company has established an internal audit function. The
Board has, through the Audit Committee of the Company,
conducted the annual review of the effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal controls and risk management system
for the year ended 31 December 2018. The review covered
all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions. There
were no significant control failings, weaknesses or significant
areas of concern identified during the year which might affect
shareholders.

The Group handles and disseminates inside information with
due care. Staff is required to comply with and maintain the strict
confidentiality of the information. Only personnel at appropriate
level can get reach of price sensitive and inside information.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. Leung Lai Seung, is responsible for
facilitating the Board process, as well as communications among
Board members, with shareholders and the management.
Ms. Leung'’s biography is set out in the “Biographical Details
of the Directors and the Senior Management” section on
page 52. During the year, Ms. Leung took not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training to update her skills and
knowledge.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting and special general
meetings provide the principal channels of communication with
its shareholders which provide opportunities for shareholders to
share views with the Board.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders.

Due to other business engagements, some Independent Non-
Executive Directors of the Company could not attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 June 2018
and the special general meetings of the Company held on 31
January 2018, 25 May 2018 and 23 August 2018. However, at
the respective general meetings of the Company, there were
Executive Directors and some other Independent Non-Executive
Directors present to enable the Board to develop a balanced
understand of the views of the Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening special general meeting and putting
forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board, on the requisition of
shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company by sending a written
notice to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong, shall convene a special
general meeting to address specific issues specified in such
requisition of the Company within 21 days from the date of
deposit of written notice. The same requirement and procedure
also apply to any proposal to be tabled at shareholders’
meetings for adoption.
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ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company's
Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong at Units 5&6, 17/F,
Convention Plaza Office Tower, 1 Harbour Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong (email: info@munsun.hk).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there is no change
in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Yi Shuhao (5#U%), aged 32, was appointed as an
Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
Executive Committee and a member of Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company on 5 September 2018. Mr. Yi
was subsequently appointed as an authorized representative,
a member of Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of
Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 October 2018.
Mr. Yi was also re-designated from a member of Corporate
Governance Committee to the Chairman of Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Yi was appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 13 December
2018. He has received a bachelor’s degree in laws from Henan
Institute of Science and Technology. He also holds the Legal
Professional Qualification Certificate and Lawyer License of
the People’s Republic of China. He has eight years of legal
consulting and commercial experience. Mr. Yi previously served
as a lawyer at Beijing Yingke (Shenzhen) Law Firm. He also
previously worked as a lawyer in Guangdong Guanghe (Zhuhai)
Law Firm and served as a product director at Digital China
Macao Commercial Offshore Limited.
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Mr. Chen Sheng (BRE), aged 46, was appointed as an
Executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee
of the Company on 6 September 2017. Mr. Chen has been
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
24 January 2018. Mr. Chen subsequently resigned as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and was redesignated as Vice
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 13 December 2018.
Mr. Chen graduated from China European International Business
School with a master’s degree in business administration (EMBA).
He has over 20 years’ experience in government and state-
owned corporate governance and extensive economic financial
and investment experience. Mr. Chen served as a researcher in
the research centre of the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council of Shanghai
Municipal Government. He worked as the deputy general
secretary in the Asia Research Centre of Shanghai Jiaotong
University, the deputy general manager in the Asia Pacific
International Commodity Exchange Centre of China Railway
and the president of Shanghai Rongfa Enterprise Development
Limited.

Mr. Zhang Lirui (5RFI#{), aged 46, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 10 July 2015. Mr. Zhang
is currently a member of Executive Committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhang was subsequently redesignated as vice chairman of
the Board of the Company on 13 December 2018. He graduated
from Shenzhen University and Huazhong University of Science
& Technology and holds a bachelor’s degree in international
finance and postgraduate in economics. Mr. Zhang has more
than 26 years of experiences in the business sectors of market
capital and securities. During the years from 1992 to 2008, Mr.
Zhang worked successively in the market capital, credit and
organization departments and sub-branches of the Shenzhen
Branch of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited.
He was a director of Munsun Assets Management Ltd from
August 2012 to December 2013 and a director of Munsun Asset
Management (Asia) Limited from October 2012 to May 2014.
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Mr. Wang Baozhi (£{R3%), aged 51, was appointed as an
Executive Director and a member of each of the Executive
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company on 21 August 2017. Mr Wang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in agriculture education from Yuxi Agriculture College
and a master’s degree in Economics from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics (formerly Jiangxi Finance and Economics
College). He is currently a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has over 23 years of experience
in finance. Mr. Wang has been the managing director of
south china business headquarter of Zhongrong International
Trust Company Limited (“Zhongrong International”) since
April 2009. Before joining Zhongrong International, he has
previously worked as the project manager of Shenzhen Baifuda
Finance Company Limited, the financial controller of Shenzhen
Chengnong Siliao Company Limited, the financial controller of
Shenzhen Hongji (Group) Logistic Company Limited, the chief
financial officer of Shenzhen Nanyou (Holdings) Limited and an
auditor of Shenzhen Minfu Audit Firm.

Mr. Yu Yong (5RE), aged 62, was appointed as an Executive
Director, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and a member of
the Executive Committee of the Company on 6 September 2017.
Mr Yu holds a bachelor’s degree in geology engineering (mine
exploration) from the Central South Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy. He is a professor-level senior engineer and a national
mineral reserves appraiser. He has numerous years of extensive
experience in geological exploration technology, geological
technology management and resource assessment. He served as
the deputy director of the China Metallurgical Geology Bureau,
the deputy manager of the geological resources department of
the China National Gold Group, the secretary, the vice president
and chief engineer of China National Gold Geology Co., Ltd.. He
has long been engaged in solid mineral geological exploration,
mining geological, geological research, geological technology
management and mine management. He has presided over and
mainly participated in a number of major scientific research and
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mining projects, and obtained two first-class awards and one
second-class award in science and technology from the China
Gold Association. He has also presided over and completed a
number of large and medium-sized exploration projects, and
was responsible for or participated in numerous domestic and
foreign mining rights projects, presided over or participated
in the review of various types of geological prospecting
design projects, participated in or reviewed various geological
exploration reports.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Wong Chi Yan (& 2), aged 37, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company on 1 March 2019.

Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree
in Accounting awarded by Hong Kong Baptist University and
a Master of Laws in International Corporate and Financial Law
awarded by The University of Wolverhampton, the United
Kingdom. She is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
Ms. Wong has extensive experiences in auditing, accounting
and financing as well as merger and acquisition.

Ms. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director
of each of Success Dragon International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1182), Huiyin Holdings Group Limited (formerly known
as Share Economy Group Limited) (stock code: 1178) and Asia
Television Holdings Limited (stock code: 707), companies listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Wong is also the
company secretary of Goldway Education Group Limited (stock
code: 8160), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
("GEM") of the Stock Exchange, and the company secretary and
authorised representative of each of Flyke International Holdings
Ltd. (stock code: 1998) and China Properties Investment
Holdings Limited (stock code: 736), companies listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Ms. Wong was an executive director and authorised
representative of Elegance Optical International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 907) from February 2017 to October 2018,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She
was also an executive director of CHerish Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2113) from October 2017 to June 2018, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She was an
independent non-executive director of Ding He Mining Holdings
Limited (stock code: 705) from January 2018 to July 2018, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She
was an executive director and authorised representative of
Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) from
May 2015 to October 2017. She was also an executive director,
company secretary and authorised representative of PPS
International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8201) from June
2015 to July 2016, companies listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange. She was also the executive director of China Taifeng
Beddings Holdings Limited (stock code: 873) from July 2016
to August 2016, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. She was the company secretary and authorised
representative of Fullsun International Holdings Group Co.,
Limited (formerly known as URIGHT International Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 627) a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange from September 2013 to April 2016.
She was also an independent non-executive director of Tech
Pro Technology Development Limited (stock code: 3823) from
March 2017 to February 2019, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Professor Xiao Rong Ge (H % M), aged 69, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 21 January 2010.
Professor Xiao obtained his PhD in Professional Geology from
the China University of Geosciences (Beijing). He is currently
a professor of Professional Geology and mentor to doctoral
students at the China University of Geosciences (Beijing).
Professor Xiao has long been conducting research work in the
fields of geology, mineral exploration and economic evaluation.
He participated in the fieldwork of geological inspection
of metal minerals by an integrated exploration team of the
geological exploration company of the Ministry of Metallurgical
Industry of China, mainly at the regions of Langshan mountain
Bayan Obo, Manzhouli and Daxinganling of Inner Mongolia,
PRC. He also took part in the geological research work of the
Three-River Area of Yunnan and the system research of meso-
cenozoic geological minerals and sylvite and copper minerals
in Yunnan. As a post-doctoral researcher at the Institute of
Geochemistry Chinese Academy of Sciences, he engaged in
geological geochemistry research, focusing research on the
formation of meso-cenozoic sandstone-type copper minerals.
He is currently engaged in the research studies on various
types of minerals involving non-ferrous metals, precious
metals, ferrous metals, non-metals and energy minerals, and
has in-depth studies on the rules for the formation of metal
ore deposits and mine exploration and has accomplished a
series of research achievements. Academic publications in the
recent decade include: Geochemistry of rock mineral deposits
(Geological Publishing House), Boron ore deposits in Liaodong
(Geological Publishing House), Gold mine formation rules
and mineralization forecast in the deep parts of Xiaoginling
(Geological Publishing House), Phosphate ore deposits in China
(Geological Publishing House), Molybdenum ore formation
theory (Geological Publishing House) and Crystalline graphite
ore deposits in northern China (Science Press). Professor Xiao
had engaged in the projects of the National Science Foundation
of China, basic technical research projects of the Department of
Technology, Ministry of Land and Resources, national geological
inspection projects, open laboratory projects on geochemistry of
the Chinese Academy of Sciences and related provincial projects
of the Department of Land and Resources and various mining
enterprises projects, and was awarded a Third Class Award of
Technological Progress by the Ministry of Geology and Mineral
Resources, a First Class Award and a Second Class Award
of Technological Achievement by the Ministry of Land and
Resources. Professor Xiao had engaged in consultant services
for mining investment, valuation for financing, mining rights
valuation and technical inspection, and had conducted valuation
of mining resources for various mining enterprises.
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Professor Zhang Tianyu (5RH ), aged 44, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company on 21 August 2017.
Professor Zhang was re-designated as the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 31 August 2017.
Professor Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting
from Nankai University, a master’s degree in Accounting
from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and a
Doctor of Philosophy in Accounting from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. He has over 12 years
of experience in accounting. Professor Zhang is a professor
in School of Accountancy in The Chinese University of Hong
Kong (“Chinese University”) and the director of the Center for
Institutions and Capital Market in Shenzhen Finance Institute.
His research focuses on political institutions and governance
in China emerging market. He is now sitting on the editorial
board of The Accounting Review and Contemporary Accounting
Research. Before joining the Chinese University, he worked for
City University of Hong Kong in 2011. Professor Zhang also
served as an independent director of Netac Technology Co Ltd
from February 2011 to February 2017. The aforesaid company is
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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Senior Management

Ms. Leung Lai Seung (RE%), aged 56, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 23 January 2017. Ms.
Leung was subsequently appointed as the Service Agent of the
Company on 24 October 2018. Ms. Leung served as Company
Secretary of Ceneric (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 542)
between April 2011 to December 2016. She is a fellow member
of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. She also
holds a Professional Diploma in Company Secretaryship and
Administration from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and an Executive Diploma
in Corporate Governance and Pragmatic Business Ethics from
the University of Hong Kong. She possesses over 20 years
of experience in handling company secretarial practice and
corporate governance matter for listed companies.
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The Directors hereby submitting the annual report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set forth in note 29(a) to
the financial statements. The discussion and analysis as required
by schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are set
out on pages 9 to 28. This discussion forms part of the report of
the directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 are set out in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 83
and 84.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In alignment with the recent amendments to the Corporate
Governance Code and the related listing rules, the Company
has formulated the dividend policy as from 1 January 2019.

In determining whether to propose a dividend and the relevant
dividend pay-out ratio, the board of directors of the Company
shall take into considerations, inter alia, the Group’s earnings
performance,financial position, expected working capital
requirements, investment requirements, future expansion plan
and general economic condition as well as other external factors
that may have an impact on the business of the Company.
The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions and
requirements under the Bermuda law, the Company’s Bye-laws
and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. There can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any given year
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in page 307.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of change in equity on pages 87 and 88 and note 26
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

FIXED ASSETS

Particulars of the movements in fixed assets of the Group during
the financial year are set forth in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2018 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Particulars of convertible bonds of the Group and the Company
as at 31 December 2018 are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2018, the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company was 5,836,921,580 at par value of
HK$0.1 each. During the year, the Company has completed
the capital reorganisation, the share consolidation, the share
placing and the 2018 convertible bonds restructure. as well as
the rights issue and increase in authorized share capital. Details
of the above transactions are set out in the following sections

noou

headed “2018 Capital Reorganisation”, “Share Consolidation
and Change in Board Lot Size”, “Placing of New Shares
under General Mandate” and “ Rights Issue and Increase in
Authorised Share Capital” and note 26(b) in the consolidated
financial statements. No convertible bonds of the Company was

exercised during the year.

Subsequent to the end of the year under review, the Board
proposed to implement the capital reorganisation by reduction
of the issued share capital of the Company through a
cancellation of the paid-up capital of the Company to the
extent of HK$0.099 on each of the issued existing shares
of the Company such that the nominal value of each issued
existing share of the Company will be reduced from HK$0.1
to HK$0.001 (the “2019 Capital Reorganisation”). The Board
also proposed to refresh the existing general mandate for the
directors to allot, issue and deal with new shares up to 20%
of the total number of issued shares of the Company as at the
date of passing of such resolution at the special general meeting
("Refreshment of the Existing General Mandate™).

The aforesaid proposals were approved by the shareholders of
the Company at a special general meeting of the Company held
on 27 February 2019. Details were set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 18 January 2019, 27 February 2019
and 28 February 2019 as well as the circular of the Company
dated 4 February 2019. The Capital Reorganisation has become
effective on 28 February 2019.
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2018 Capital Reorganisation

On 12 October 2017, the Board proposed to effect the capital
reorganisation (the “2018 Capital Reorganisation”) in the
following manner: (i) the par value of each of the issued shares
of HK$0.125 each in the existing share capital of the Company
("Existing Shares”) reduced from HK$0.125 each to HK$0.005
each (“New Shares”) by cancelling the capital paid-up thereon
to the extent of HK$0.12 on each of the issued Existing Shares
(the “Capital Reduction”); (ii) immediately following the Capital
Reduction taking effect, all the authorised but unissued share
capital of the Company (which shall include the authorised but
unissued share capital arising from the Capital Reduction) would
be cancelled in its entirety and forthwith upon such cancellation,
the authorised share capital of the Company would be increased
to HK$150,000,000 by the creation of additional New Shares
as shall be sufficient to increase the authorised share capital of
the Company to HK$150,000,000 divided into 30,000,000,000
New Shares; (iii) the credits arising in the books of the Company
from the Capital Reduction would be credited to the contributed
surplus account of the Company within the meaning of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda; and (iv) the amount standing
to the credit of the contributed surplus account be applied to
be applied in any other manner as may be permitted under the
the bye-laws of the Company in effect from time to time and all
applicable laws of Bermuda.

The aforesaid proposal was approved by the shareholders
of the Company by a special resolution at an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 27 November 2017.
Details of the 2018 Capital Reorganisation were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 12 October 2017, 27
November 2017, 12 December 2017 and 2 January 2018 as well
as the circular of the Company dated 1 November 2017. The
2018 Capital Reorganisation has become effective on 2 January
2018.
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Placing of New Shares under General Mandate

On 17 January 2018, the Company entered into a Placing
Agreement with an independent placing agent whereby the
Company conditionally agreed to place, through the placing
agent, on a best effort basis, up to 2,779,000,000 new shares
of the Company to not less than six independent places at
HK$0.057 per Placing Share.

The completion of the Placing took place on 1 February
2018. A total of 2,779,000,000 new shares of the Company
have been allotted and issued to not less than six Placees
under general mandate. The net proceeds from the Placing,
after deduction of the placing commission and other related
expenses of approximately HK$155 million has been fully used
as intended during the year under review. HK$120 million was
used for the settlement of the Group’s debts whilst HK$35
million was used for general working capital (comprising
production costs, finance costs and administrative expenses of
approximately HK$20 million, HK$10 million and HK$5 million
respectively). Details of the Placing are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 17 January 2018 and 1 February 2018.

Share Consolidation and Change in Board Lot
Size

By an ordinary resolution passed at the special general meeting
on 25 May 2018, pursuant to the share consolidation (the
“Share Consolidation”), every 20 issued and unissued shares
of HK$0.005 each were consolidated into 1 consolidated
share (the “Consolidated Share”) of HK$0.1 each in the share
capital of the Company. The Share Consolidation has become
effective on 28 May 2018. At the same time, the board lot size
has been changed from 2,000 shares to 10,000 Consolidated
Shares. Following the Share Consolidation, the authorised
share capital of the Company are HK$150,000,000 divided into
1,500,000,000 Consolidated Shares of a par value of HK$0.1
each, of which 833,845,940 Consolidated Shares are already
in issue. Details of the Share Consolidation are set out in the
Company's announcements dated 10 April 2018, 27 April 2018
and 25 May 2018 as well as the Company’s circular dated 3
May 2018.
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Rights Issue and Increase in Authorised Share
Capital

On 21 June 2018, the Company entered into an underwriting
agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with certain
underwriters for the proposed rights issue of not less than
5,003,075,640 rights shares and not more than 5,045,075,640
rights shares (the “Rights Share(s)”) at the subscription price
of HK$0.22 per each Rights Share on the basis of 6 Rights
Shares for 1 existing issued share of the Company (the “Rights
Issue”). The aggregate subscription price for the Rights Issue
will be not less than approximately HK$1,1701 million and not
more than approximately HK$1,110 million. Pursuant to the
Underwriting Agreement, the underwriters have undertaken
to the Company to fully underwrite the Rights Shares and
certain underwriters will set off the aggregate subscription
price payable by the relevant underwriters to the Company
for subscription of the Rights Shares which are not taken
up by the qualifying shareholders of the Company (the
“Untaken Shares”) pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement
against part of the underwriters’ loans, including the Loans
of the Incoming Lenders owed by the Company to the
respective underwriter (the “Set-off”). The estimated net
cash proceeds from the Rights Issue (taking into account the
effect of the Set-Off and deducting the related expenses for
the Rights Issue) will be not less than approximately HK$326
million and not more than approximately HK$1,096 million.
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In order for the Company to allot and issue the Rights Shares
proposed under the Rights Issue and to provide the flexibility
for future development, the Company increased its authorised
share capital from HK$150,000,000 divided into 1,500,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each to HK$1,000,000,000 divided
into 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each by the
creation of an additional 8,500,000,000 new ordinary shares
(the “Increase Authorised Share Capital”), all of which will rank
pari passu with all existing ordinary shares of the Company
in all respects. The Rights Issue and the Increase Authorised
Share Capital have been approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the Company’s special general meeting on 23
August 2018 and the Increase Authorised Share Capital was
effective from 23 August 2018. The Rights Issue transaction has
been completed on 26 September 2018, and an aggregate of
5,003,075,640 new shares had been allotted and issued by the
Company. Details are set out in the Company’s announcements
between 21 June 2018 and 26 September 2018 and its circular
dated 3 August 2018 and the prospectus dated 4 September
2018.

The net proceeds from the Rights Issue, after set-off the
underwriter loan and deducting related expenses, are
approximately HK$326 million. During the year, the net
proceeds were used for the Group's general working capital
of approximately HK$49 million and reduction of the Group's
debts of HK$277 million.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 21 June 2018, the Company entered into an underwriting
agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with certain
underwriters for the proposed rights issue of not less than
5,003,075,640 rights shares and not more than 5,045,075,640
rights shares (the “Rights Shares”) at the subscription price
of HK$0.22 per rights share on the basis of 6 rights shares
for every 1 existing issued share of the Company (the “Rights
Issue”). The aggregate subscription price for the Rights Issue will
be not less than approximately HK$1,101 million and not more
than approximately HK$ 1,110 million. Details of the Rights Issue
are set out in the Company’s announcements between 21 June
2018 and 26 September 2018 and the Company’s circular dated
3 August 2018 and the prospectus dated 4 September 2018.

Mr. Liu Liyang (“Mr. Liu”), the former executive Director and the
chairman of the Board, through Tai Ning Investment Holdings
Limited and his personal interest, was interested in 21,482,343
Shares (representing approximately 2.58% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 23 August 2018); Mr. Zhang
Lirui ("Mr. Zhang”), an executive Director, was interested in
2,584,169 Shares (representing approximately 0.31% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 23 August 2018).
Under the listing rules, Mr. Liu and Mr. Zhang are the connected
persons of the Company and they are required to abstain
in favour of from voting on the resolution in relation to the
approval of the Rights Issue and the Underwriting Agreement.
The Rights Issue and the Increase Authorised Share Capital have
been approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
Company's special general meeting on 23 August 2018. The
Rights Issue transaction was completed on 26 September 2018.
The above Connected transaction is also disclosed in the section
headed “Rights Issue and Increase in Authorised Share Capital”
in the Report of Directors.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above
connected transactions.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other non-exempted
connected transaction entered into by the Company during the
year. The related party transactions as disclosed in notes 35(a)
to the consolidated financial statements are fully exempted
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yi Shuhao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chairman and Executive Director
on 5 September 2018 and appointed as
Chief Executive Officer on 13 December 2018)

Mr. Liu Liyang (resigned as Chairman on 5 September 2018
and resigned as Executive Director on 24 October 2018)

Mr. Chen Sheng (Vice-Chairman)
(resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 13 December 2018
and re-designated as Vice-Chairman on the same date)
Mr. Zhang Lirui (Vice-Chairman)
(re-designated as Vice-Chairman on 13 December 2018)

Mr. Yu Yong (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Baozhi

Ms. Zang Dongling (resigned on 5 September 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Professor Xiao Rong Ge
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung
(resigned on 1 March 2019)
Professor Zhang Tianyu
Ms. Wong Chi Yan
(appointed on 1 March 2019)
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The service contract of Mr. Wang Baozhi as an Executive
Director was signed on 21 August 2017 for a term of three
years. The service contract for each of Mr. Chen Sheng and Mr.
Yu Yong as Executive Directors was signed on 6 September
2017 for a term of three years. The service contract of Mr.
Zhang Lirui as an Executive Director was signed on 10 July 2018
for a term of three years. The service contract of Mr. Yi Shuhao
as an Executive Director was signed on 5 September 2018 for a
term of three years.

The service contract of Professor Zhang Tianyu as an
Independent Non-executive Director was signed on 21 August
2017 for a term of three years. The service contract of Professor
Xiao Rong Ge as an Independent Non-executive Director
was renewed for a term of three years commencing from 21
January 2019.The service contract of Ms. Wong Chi Yan as an
Independent Non-Executive Director was signed on 1 March
2019 for a term of three years.

There is no specific clause in all the service contracts providing
for the amount of compensation in case of early termination.
Each Director was subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the Company’s annual general meetings in
accordance with the Bye-laws. Pursuant to Bye-law 84(1), Mr.
Wang Baozhi, Mr. Zhang Lirui and Professor Xiao Rong Ge
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and shall be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to Bye-
law 83 (2), Ms. Wong Chi Yan shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible for
re-election.

Other than as disclosed above, no Director has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

During the year, no consideration was provided to or receivable
by third party for making available the service of director or in
any other capacity while director.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
Executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of its Independent Non-Executive Directors
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTEREST
IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests of the Directors and chief
executives in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and/or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange are as follows:
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Notes:

(@)  These represent the interests in underlying shares in respect of
the share options granted by the Company, the details of which
are set out in the section headed “Share Options Scheme”
below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors nor chief executive of the Company nor their
associates, had any interest in long position or short position in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which required, pursuant to the Model
Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES

The Company currently has one share option scheme: the 2014
Share Option Scheme.

The 2014 Share Option Scheme was adopted by a resolution
passed by the Company’s shareholders on 30 May 2014. The
2014 Share Option Scheme provides that the Board may specify
the eligible participants to whom the options shall be granted.
The eligible participants include directors, employees, suppliers,
customers, consultants, agents and advisers of the Company
and its subsidiaries and any person who, in the sole discretion
of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group in
recognition of their contribution to the Group. The Board shall
determine the exercise price of option in accordance with the
terms of the 2014 Share Option Scheme, which cannot in any
event fall below the price stipulated in the Listing Rules. The
maximum number of the ordinary shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% (i.e. 435,127,903
shares) of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at
the date when the 2014 Share Option Scheme is approved and
adopted. The 2014 Share Option Scheme was effective on 4
June 2014 and will remain valid and effective for a period of 10
years from that date.
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The existing scheme mandate limit in respect of the granting of
options to subscribe for shares under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme was refreshed and renewed at the an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 19 September 2016.
The maximum number of the ordinary shares of the Company
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2014
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% (ie. 1,385,769,378 shares)
of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 19
September 2016 being the date of approval of the refreshment
of the existing scheme mandate limit. On 12 October 2016,
1,385,769,378 options have keen granted under the 2014
Share option Scheme. During the year, no options have been
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under 2014 Share Option Scheme to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
Shares in issue.

Offer of an option (“Offer”) shall be deemed to have been
accepted by any participant (the “Grantee”) who accepts an
Offer in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and the option to which the Offer relates shall be deemed to
have been granted and to have taken effect when the duplicate
of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the Offer duly
signed by the Grantee together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
granting thereof is received by the Company within such period
as the Board may determine and specify in the Offer.
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The exercise price of options under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme is at least the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date on
which an offer of an option is made by the Company to
the grantee (which date must be a business day);

(i) a price being the average of the closing prices of the
Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and

(iii)  the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of 2014 Share Option
Scheme, the maximum number of ordinary shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of ordinary
shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

The Company had completed Share Consolidation on 28 May
2018. Adjustments were made to the exercise prices and the
number of Consolidated Shares falling to be issued in respect
of the outstanding Share Options in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Share Option Scheme, Rule 17.03(13)
of the Listing Rules and the supplementary guidance dated 5
September 2005 issued by the Stock Exchange. As a result of
the Share Consolidation, the subscription price of share options
outstanding was adjusted to HK$4.972 per Consolidated Share
and the total number of share options outstanding was adjusted
to 39,638,467 Consolidated Shares.

The Company had also completed Rights Issue on 26 September
2018. Adjustments were made to the exercise prices and
the number of Shares falling to be issued in respect of the
outstanding Share Options in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Share Option Scheme, Rule 17.03(13) of
the Listing Rules and the supplementary guidance dated 5
September 2005 issued by the Stock Exchange. As a result
of the Rights Share, the subscription price of share options
outstanding was adjusted to HK$4.799 per Share and the
total number of share options outstanding was adjusted to
22,895,598 Shares with effect from 27 September 2018.
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As at the date of issue of this annual report, the number of
Shares in respect of which options had been granted and
remained outstanding under 2014 Share Option Scheme was
14,555,799, representing approximately 0.25% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report.

Details of the share options granted and remained outstanding
as at 31 December 2018 under the 2014 Share Option Scheme
are as follows:
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Number of share options
BhEdR
Outstanding ~ Adjusted ~ Number of
Outstanding share options outstanding ~share options
share options ~ Adjusted  Number of ~ immediately ~share options  lapsed  Outstanding
immediately outstanding share options  before after after at31
Outstanding before Share share options ~ lapsed  completion ~ completion  completion  Decemenber
at 1 January Lapsed  Exercsed Consolidation after Share after Share of Rights Issue of RightsIssue of Rights 018
W8 before Share  before Share ~~ ZERA  Consolidation Consolidation ~ ZHHH  THARE lsue  —5-N\%
Berde —Z-N\F Comolidation Consoidation  2fH  RAARE RAaks zARRY 8Bz wAfRE 108
Date of grant e -A-B  BOAME REAKE HAGR: SEEZMR 0 RMZ HAGRe  ERRR &M =t-B
RHA% ke HAAE ki ik BRE fRERE BREHE  BRE  ERE BREER  HAGR
HKS
A
(*Note1)
(1)
Mr. Liu Liyang 12 October 2016 4799 138,000,000 - 19 137999981 6,399,999 6899999 7148399 (7,1483%9) -
(resigned on 24 October 2018)
iy EETATIR
(A=F-)\&
TAZTRERE)
Mr. Zhang Liu 12 October 2016 4799 138000,000 - - 138,000,000 6,900,000 6300000 7,148,400 - 7148400
i ZE-RETATZA
Other senior management
staff and Employees 12 October 2016 4799 623,269,378 (106,500,000) - 516796378 25838468 (17538469 8299999 8598799  (1,191400) 7407399
EHROERARREE  ZEEtATIR
Total A3 899,269,378 (106,500,000) 19 792,796,359 39638467 (17538,469) 22099998 22895598  (8339,799) 14,555,799

*Note1: The exercise price of the outstanding share option has been
adjusted to reflect the effect of the Share Consolidation and
completion of Rights Issue.

The above share options are of an exercise price of HK$4.799
per share with the exercise period from 12 October 2016 to 11
October 2019.
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The share options granted are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. The information on measurement of
the fair value of share options is set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the financial year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provides that every Director or
other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, losses, damages and expenses which he/she
may sustain or incur in by reason of the execution of the duties
of his/he office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the
Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the
Directors.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2018, as far as known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company) who had 5% or more interests or short position
in the shares or underlying shares in respect of equity derivatives
of the Company that would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

LONG POSITION IN THE SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

Name of Shareholders Capacity
R EME g
1. Liu Shiwei Beneficial and spouse interest
W+ B (Note (a))
EnMicEEa (@)
2. Guan Yuyan Corporate and spouse interest
BEHK (Note (b))

=8 KB B (HRE (b))

3. Grace Silver Limited Beneficial interest (Note (c))
InABR AR Bt ()

4. Beijing Easyhome Corporate interest (Note (d))
Investment Holding EERER (MEE(d)

Group Co., Ltd.*
I REAZRIEEER

SEARAT
5. Koo Yuen Kim Beneficial and corporate interest
EREkA (Note ()

B foRE R (M EE ()
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FERR

RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—H BEF
PR MARBIRIEREZ LB GD
EIB6IFEFENBLCMARLE  BAR
BIESERITHAEIN - TIALTRAR
AR EBRAITE T ARBEROPHESE
5% A LEmFIOAR Mz FEERA
RIFESMAEHROIEXVEE2 R3S
M2 RERARRHE

RRARRB2ER

Number of Shares/
underlying  Approximate %
Shares held of shareholding

Frsien AR5 I
HEBRAEE B
1,670,515,980 28.62%
1,670,515,980 28.62%
1,305,038,799 22.36%
643,061,087 11.02%
611,345,727 10.47%
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*

Notes:

(a)

The English name is for identification purpose only

Mr. Liu Shiwei holds 365,477,181 Shares by virtue of his personal
interest. Ms. Guan Yuyan, being Mr. Liu’s spouse, has interest
of 1,305,038,799 Shares in the Company via her wholly-owned
controlled corporation namely Grace Silver Limited. Accordingly,
Mr. Liu is also taken to be interested in 1,305,038,799 Shares via
his spouse.

Ms. Guan Yuyan has deemed interest in 1,305,038,799 Shares
via her wholly-owned controlled corporation namely Grace Silver
Limited. Mr. Liu Shiwei being the spouse of Ms. Guan has interest
of 365,477,181 Shares in the Company. Accordingly, Ms. Guan is
also taken to be interested in 365,477,181 Shares via her spouse.

Grace Silver Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Ms.
Guan Yuyan.

China Home Hong Kong Limited is wholly-owned by Beijing
Easyhome Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd.. China Home
Hong Kong Limited is directly holding 643,061,087 Shares and
Beijing Easyhome Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. is deemed to
hold 643,061,087 Share through its controlled interests in China
Home Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Koo Yuen Kim holds 595,258,945 Shares by virtue of his
personal interest and 16,086,782 Shares through his wholly-
owned controlled corporation namely Golden Eagle (Asia)
Investment Limited.

Saved as disclosed above in this section, as at 31 December

2018, the Company has not been notified of any other persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)

who

had any interest or short position in the shares or

underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors of any
noncompliance with the Model Code during the financial year
ended 31 December 2018, and they have all confirmed their full
compliance with the required standard as set out in the Model
Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29
to 44 for details.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

None of the Directors and their respective associates had any
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was continued.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

ESETRSRENEESTR
ARBIEERALETRAM S+ FE IS
BTAEREMEESHETERRSHZ

FEREREFNEAE_T—\F
=t HUEMBRFEREA EM
TIRETANTRIELFEE®R
S BEER RECEEETE
AIFTEIM R ERZE

3 o+ B
o o [
4H14}:m_l

DII

W
=
W
N
O
HY
N
N
piiy
=
il
N
™
]
i

EERBRFRB 2 ER

MEEELRREZAZBE AR E(H
S Al RE AR EERBE/ABF 2 FHT
A

WiE - MEREE EHES

FA - ARBHEEMMHBERRGER
B BEEsghEAQREMN EmE

BrREERE
ARAZARNBARARERRAF
B2 AR ) E T SR EEEE
B2 IEX -

EREXANEEERQ A
—E-NFEFR



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable
to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

—  the largest supplier 24%

—  five largest suppliers totally 77%

Sales
- the largest customer 24%
- five largest customers totally 70%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers
or customers noted above. During the year and up to the date
of this report, the Group maintained good relationship with its
major customers and suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 34 to
the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the Group's events after the reporting period are set
out in note 37 to the financial statements.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 have been audited by Ascenda Cachet CPA
Limited (“Ascenda Cachet”), who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ascenda Cachet as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Yi Shuhao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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-

Ascenda CACFEU

R |Z|3F|

To the members of Munsun Capital Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Munsun Capital Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 83 to 306, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates the losses incurred for the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 and the extent of net
current liabilities as at 31 December 2018. These conditions
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. In light of all the measures and arrangements
detailed in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Directors are of the opinion that the Group will be able to
finance its future working capital and financial requirements.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

The impairment assessment of the mining rights

As disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements
for further information.

Key Audit Matter

The carrying amount of the Group’s mining rights was
approximately HK$5,955 million as at 31 December 2018.

The mining rights and procedures over management’s annual
impairment test, with reference to valuation of the mining rights
prepared by independent valuers, were significant and the
assessment process is complex, requires significant judgment
and imposes significant estimation uncertainties.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our approach focused on the following procedures:

e assessing the appropriateness of key assumptions (e.g.
price assumptions, production, ores reserves and costing
figures, etc.) as compared with third party/independent
sources or other evidence;

e agreeing key inputs to approved mine plans as
appropriate, and comparing these with historical actual
figures, considering the accuracy of previous internal
forecasts; and

e comparing the calculated recoverable values to the
associated carrying values, assessing whether any
impairment charges were necessary.

Impairment assessment of the goodwill

As disclosed in note 12 of the consolidated financial statements
for further information.

Key Audit Matter

During the previous years, the group acquired the entire
equity interests in Shenzhen Munsun Asset Management
Company Limited, Munsun Asset Management (Asia) Limited
and Munsun Securities Limited. The purchase price allocation
resulted in goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit of
the financial services operation of the Group (the “FS CGU") of
approximately HK$281 million as at 31 December 2018.

Impairment of goodwill has to be assessed annually. The
assessment process is complex, requires significant judgment
and imposes significant estimation uncertainties.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our approach focused on the following procedures:

® reviewing management’'s impairment model for
assessing the carrying value of goodwill and
challenging management on the identification of the
FS CGU, cash flow forecasting, discount rates and
growth rates;

e assessing that the cash flow forecasts used in the
valuation are consistent with information approved by
the board of directors and have reviewed the historical
accuracy of management’s forecasts;

e evaluating the implied growth rates beyond 2018
by considering evidence available to support these
assumptions and their consistency with findings from
other areas of our audit and by performing sensitivity
analyses;

e gassessing the discount rates and long term growth
rates applied within the model by compared
against historical trends to assess the reliability of
management’s forecast; and

e comparing the calculated recoverable values to the
associated carrying values, assessing whether any
impairment charges were necessary.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
OUR AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions

of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BURBEMBES

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yuk Tong.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 March 2019

Chan Yuk Tong
Practising Certificate Number P03723
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other net gain/(loss)

Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses

Profit from operations
Finance costs
Share of profit of associate

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Loss per share
Basic

Diluted

The notes on pages 92 to 306 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

8
HE A

E7

H AW A

Hib iz, (E18)FHE
HE Moy AR
TTERE A

EERA
LUR TN

oK (=K /NI

BRELATE R
PSR X

ZNETE 2N
BEFERBE

BRER
BN

g

2 A = 22
mEBEmR
For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-N\FTA=+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA7&TT717R)

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Note HK$000 HK$°000
B 5T FET FHET
4(a) 813,901 838,305
(587,769) (520,507)

226,132 317,798

18,157 19,665
2,225 (86,922)
(12,255) (15,579)
(154,091) (181,831)

80,168 53,131
6(a) (538,212) (426,782)
2,039 1,973
(456,005) (371,678)
7 (10,330) (18,512)
(466,335) (390,190)

HK cents HK cents

JEA JEN
(Restated)

(4FEl)

11

(20.40) (53.87)
(20.40) (53.87)

£ 92 E% 306 A Z M B AR M55
RLZ—BD °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z-\F+A=1t—RItFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars JAE 75171 )

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year
(net of tax)

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences

on translation of financial
statements of

— subsidiaries

— associate

Iltems that may not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Increase in fair value of

financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss
for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

The notes on pages 92 to 306 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$000 HK$°000
B aE FET FET
FEBE (466,335) (390,190)
FEHMZE
(F518) W
($BRBIE)
HE gk EF 7 E
Bm A -
BME T RAA]
MERREEZ
PE 5 Z %8
—MBAR] (290,483) 358,409
— BN A (507) 572
(290,990) 358,981
RETAJpEEFT 7 EE
BwmZEH -
FREM P E
RN EYRZ
TREENRTEEM
29,408 -
(261,582) 358,981
AATREEANELEE
HEEARE
(727,917) (31,209)

R2—#5 -

FNREFE306 AZHEBAGE PR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
wra IR OR &

As at 31 December 2018

T \F+-A=t+-A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA7&TT717R)

2018 2017
—E-NEF ZE—tF
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Intangible assets BmEEE 12 6,279,604 6,455,816
Fixed assets EE&E 13 5,056,737 5,298,507
Deposits paid for gold mining and L& FEERAE I
exploration rights RIBEEFT RS 14 144,666 152,375
Financial assets at fair value through  #E@E 2 Uk I%
other comprehensive income NEEYERZ
THEE 15 280,166 -
Available-for-sale investments AEERE 15 — 264,120
Investment in associate REZERNRI 2 RE 16 10,501 8,969
Trade, loans and other JEWEBRFN ~ B M
receivables, deposits Hoh FEGRIR
and prepayments & MIERRIE 18 109,532 49,379
Pledged deposits EHEAER 20 45,564 47,992
Deposits paid for fixed assets HEEEEMNIZES 87,787 93,379
Other deposits Bz 10,536 13,464
Total non-current assets EFREBEEATE 12,025,093 12,384,001
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 17 197,023 181,389
Trade, loans and other FEUWERR - B
receivables, deposits o FECGRIR
and prepayments e R RIE 18 320,092 316,183
Pledged deposits EHEAER 20 56,955 564,163
Client trust bank balances BPETRITES 21 2,947 4,032
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTES 21 80,971 142,039
Total current assets REBEEHT 657,988 1,207,806
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables JE AR X %
HAth & K1 22 751,596 739,115
Contract liabilities ARAE 22 29,237 =
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 23 2,231,387 2,071,096
Financial liabilities at fair value BRBEREATE
through profit or loss PRz S MAaRE 19 - 988,444
Derivative financial instruments PTESMTA 24 216 =
Convertible bonds AR RES 24 329,946 385,460
Tax payable FERTH IR 17,840 9,176
Total current liabilities BB EARE 3,360,222 4,193,291

The notes on pages 92 to 306 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B BARR &R
As at 31 December 2018
R_ZE—-N\F+-_A=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA/& T3 7R )

Net current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities
NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

RBREFE
HEERABEE

FRBEE
RITREME R
EEHIAAE

FRBRERE
EEFE
BRA R f#
[LEN

fFE

ROBER ARG
EEAE

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

29 March 2019.

Mr. Yi Shuhao
ZRERE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

FERITEAEE

The notes on pages 92 to 306 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Note HK$000 HK$°000
B 5 FET FET
(2,702,234) (2,985,485)

9,322,859 9,398,516

23 1,017,804 1,573,945
25(a) 580,227 614,691
1,598,031 2,188,636

7,724,828 7,209,880

26 583,692 1,737,240
7,141,136 5,472,640

7,724,828 7,209,880

REFGN _ZT-NF=ZA-tTILB&

EILFFRI B o

Mr. Zhang Lirui
TR T 4E
Executive Director

HITEE

F92F 5306 A 2 MiFEBALRE ISR

RLZ—BD °



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2018

At1 January 2018

Changes in equity for 2018;

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
forthe year

Total comprehensive
Joss for the year

Capital reorganisation (note 26 (b))

lssue of news shares by share placing
(note 26 (b))

Transaction costs for issue of new
shares under by share placing
(note 26 (b))

Issue of new shares under
Rights Issue (note 26 (b))

Transaction cost for issue of new
shares under Rights Issue
(note 26 (b))

Lapse of share options

Appropriation of safety
production fund

Utlisation of safety
production fund

Appropriation of
statutory surplus resenve

At 31 December 2018

Z2-N§-A-8

ZR-NEzRRED:

TERBE
TEREREAE

TEREERRAS

éti@%aw(@
BRRRRERTHRR
TEM())
FARRE
i) Eﬁx?nﬂﬂ
(st 26 (o)
RERRETRRE
(B3£26 (b))
BERRRARRAN
RERE
(B3£.26 (o))
BhERR
AfigatEds

IRTRLERS
Bifzeandh

NoE-NE
tzp=t-8

BE_Z—-\G+ZA=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA 7L51I7R )
Fair Accumu-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Statutory value Gapital ~ Exchange [ated Total
capital ~ premium surplus reserves reserves Teserve reserve losses equity
Rx  RBEE  EfEH® Rk AVERE  BREBE  EXRE ZiER  EREE
HKSO00 - HKSO0D HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 00 HKS000 HKs 000
73 7T 74T FE&n 7Er 7L 741 73 7
(note26  (notes26  (notes 26 (note 26 (note 26 (note 26 (note 26
(b) (b)& (b)& (o) (0 i) (q) i) (c) i)
(W) 600)  w06)  (Ee (K26 (W26 (Ko
(K326 (K26 (c)iv) (Qvi) (ai) (c)i)
(b)R (b)R
26(0) () 260 i)
1,731,240 - 5,611,589 147,057 - 95,511 1128 (388,645) 7,209,880
= = = = = = = (466335)  (466,335)
= = = = 29,408 = (290,990) = (261,582)
= = = = 29,408 = (290990) (466,335  (721917)
(1,667,750) - 1,667,750 - - - - - -
13895 144,508 - - - - - - 158,403
- (3,126) - - - - - - (3,126)
500,307 600,369 - - - - - - 1,100,676
- (13,088) - - - - - - (13,088)
- - = - - (65,163) = 65,163 -
= = = 5551 = = = (5551) =
= = = (2523) = = = 258 =
= = = 1,18 = = = (1186) =
583,692 18663 7219339 15121 29,408 30348 (283862)  (194031) 7724828

The notes on pages 92 to 306 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z-\E+ZA=+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars A& TT717R)

At1January 2017

Changes in equity for 2017:

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive
loss for the year

Lapse of share options
Transfer of share premium account
to contributed surplus (note 26 ()
Appropriation of safety
production fund
Utiisation of safety
production fund
Appropriation of
statutory surplus reserve

At 31 December 2017

RZE-tE-f-B

“E-tERERE:
rEERR
TERRMEENE

FEERERRER

BREXK

RivapsEzEaR4 (M 260)

BNR2EESS

IRRRLEAS

BNEERARE

RIE-tf
+ZB=t-H

Accumu-
Share Share  Contributed Statutory Capital Exchange lated Total
capital premium surplus TeSeNVes resenve resere losses equity
ke ROEE  ESR%  iERE  BfRE ERBE ZiEE EnuE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL T TEL T T TEn T T
(note 26 (notes 26 (notes 26 (note 26 (note 26 (note 26
(o) (b} & (o)& (a) o) (Ul (o) i)
(Mz2e) 26000 260 1) (Hisk26 (M2 (B2
(M6 (Frita6 (o) (i) (i)
bR W
200 2600
1,737,240 5,611,589 - 139,147 210429 (351,853) (105,463) 7,241,089
- - - - - - (390,190) (390,190)
- - - - - 358,981 - 358981
- - - - - 358,981 (390,190) (31,209)
- - - - (114918) - 114,918 -
= (561,589 5,611,589 - - - - -
- - - 5313 - - (5313) -
- - - (4242) - - 48 -
- - - 6,839 - - (6,839) -
1,737,240 - 5,611,589 147,057 95,511 1128 (388,645) 7,209,830

The notes on pages 92 to 306 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of
intangible assets
Depreciation and amortisation
of fixed assets
Finance costs
Interest income
Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Loss/(gain) on disposal
of fixed assets
Share of profit of associate
Changes in working capital:
Increase in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade, loans
and other receivables, deposits
and prepayments

Decrease/(Increase) in client trust
bank balances

Increase in trade and
other payables

Cash generated from operations

Tax paid
— PRC income tax paid

Net cash flows from
operating activities

The notes on pages 92 to 306 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-N\FTA=+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA7&TT717R)

2018 2017

—E-N\FE —E—+rF

Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
(456,005) (371,678)

6(c), 12 86,914 96,341
6(c), 13 110,763 97,364
6(a) 538,212 426,782
5 (15,669) (14,741)

5 (986) (537)

5 - 85,196

5 572 (153)

(2,039) (1,973)

(29,652) (71,394)

(36,898) 3,136

1,085 (802)

(13,446) 178,433

182,851 425,974

(4,607) (23,437)

178,244 402,537
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A A 3 =
nv:i\ =] Iﬁaﬁl)zli%%%
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-T—/\F+-A=+—BLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars JA7&7T517R)

Investing activities

Payment for purchase
of fixed assets

Proceeds from disposal
of fixed assets

Payment for purchase
of intangible assets

Decrease in other
non-current deposits

Decrease in deposits
paid for fixed assets

Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Dividend received from financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Interest received

Net cash considerations paid for
acquisitions of subsidiaries

Increase in restricted deposit

Net cash flows used in
investing activities

REES
BEREEEENMNRK

& Bl E B E TSR

AR EEMNR

HipEmepinemd

METEEXMNZERE
Z8es

HERAFEF AR
ZERMEEMSREA

BAFHERA
BazemEE
Z BB B
B WHLE
Y s Pl I8 A R PTA
ReEFRR

XRFINEEESIE N

REEBAZ
RERERE

The notes on pages 92 to 306 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Note HK$000 HK$°000
B 5 FET FET
13 (127,025) (277,831)
902 830

12 (16,377) —
2,712 26,052

868 4,950

= 221,085

986 537

20,382 5,797
- (26,264)

(32,972) -
(150,524) (44,844)

£92 2306 2 K EBAGANTSH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEBRETRER
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE_Z—-)\F+=-A=H [L:FF
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SAETSII7R)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$°000 HK$000
B aE FET FAET
Financing activities RMEES 38(b)
Proceeds from issue of VARR 7 Bl &
new shares by share BITHRD 2
placement Fris k78 26(b)(ii) 158,403 —
Transaction costs for issue of VARR {7 B & S 1 TH AR (7
new shares by share placing B X SRR 26(b)(ii) (3,126) —
Proceeds from issue of new shares IRIR AR AT R AR A7
under Rights Issue FriS 5178 26(b)(iv) 339,999 —
Transaction costs for issue of new IRIR AR B TR AR
shares under Rights Issue R B 26(b)(iv) (13,088) —
Payment for the 2018 Convertible —N\FrIRRES
Bonds Restructure BHRNR 24(ii) (83,421) —
Net proceeds from new bank and FHEIRITREMER 2
other borrowings PSR IR 558 38(b) 2,234,903 1,167,506
Repayment of bank and EEIRIT R EAM
other borrowings =670 38(b) (1,756,388) (1,789,544)
Net proceeds from financial liabilities & B85 A FEFIER
at fair value through profit or loss ZERMARZ
PTIS IR R AR 38(b) — 780,450
Repayment of financial liabilities BREBBRRATE
at fair value through profit or loss Rz ERBE 38(b) (962,295) (574,919)
Decrease in pledged deposits 2R E RO 491,441 466,202
Finance costs paid BB ISR 38(b) (520,408) (395,070)
Net cash flows used in RMEEBFAZ
from financing activities BEREHE (113,980) (345,375)
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash ﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%’ﬁ%
and cash equivalents W), R s (86,260) 12,318
Cash and cash equivalents J?(‘—)EJ —BRZAER
at 1 January ReZEEY 142,039 105,595
Effect of foreign exchange EXEFHIE
rate changes (7,780) 24,126
Cash and cash equivalents R+=—A=+—-HB%2
at 31 December RERREEEY 21 47,999 142,039

The notes on pages 92 to 306 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

92

GENERAL INFORMATION

Munsun Capital Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda with limited liability. The address of its registered
office and principal place of business are disclosed in the
corporate information section of the annual report. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in mining and processing of gold
ores and sale of gold products in The People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), provision of financial services business
in Hong Kong and the PRC, including asset management,
securities brokerage, financing and advisory services.

During the year, the Group further extended its business
into purchase and sale of metals and minerals in the PRC.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group
is set out below.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting year
of the Group and the Company. Note 3 provides
information on any significant changes in accounting
policies resulting from the initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting years
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is the historical
cost basis, except financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss or through other
comprehensive income and derivative financial
instruments that are carried at fair value. Items
included in the financial statements of each entity in
the Group are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong
Kong is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and that of its
subsidiaries in Mainland China is Renminbi (“RMB").
For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has adopted Hong
Kong dollars as its presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the Company’s directors have considered the
future liquidity of the Group. The Group incurred
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$390,190,000 and HK$466,335,000 for the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 respectively,
and, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$2,702,234,000 as at 31 December 2018. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast a significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Nevertheless, the Company’s directors are of the
opinion that the Group will be able to finance its
future working capital and financial requirements
given that:

(i)  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group has been granted new bank and
other borrowings of approximately HK$111
million. Details are set out in note 37(a). Save
as disclosed above, the Company’s directors
are of the opinion that the Group will be
able to obtain the renewal of bank and other
borrowings due in the foreseeable future.

(i) As detailed in note 26(b)(iv) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company completed a
rights issue in September 2018, resulting in net
cash proceeds of approximately HK$326 million
and the reduction of loans by approximately
HK$761 million. The directors of the Company
are considering various alternatives, including
but not limited to the restructuring of certain
current due loans to long term loans and other
capital raising activities, to support its working
capital needs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/ TR -

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

(@

financial statements (continued)

(iii) A substantial shareholder of the Company, Mr.
Liu Shiwei, has agreed to provide continuing
financial support as necessary to enable the
Group to meet its liabilities as and when they
fall due in the foreseeable future.

(iv) Based on a cash flow forecast prepared by the
Group’s management for the twelve months
after the end of the reporting period, the
Group will be able to generate adequate cash
flows from its continuing operations and to
obtain sufficient fundings to meet the debts
of the Group as and when they fall due in the
foreseeable future.

Accordingly, the Company’s directors are of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 on a going concern basis. The
consolidated financial statements have not reflected
any effects of adjustments if the Group was unable
to continue to operate as a going concern.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements
of control described in the accounting policy for
subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(9

(d)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

2. FESHBEE)

(c)

(d)

B ELE ()

MAREBEKXE—HHE QR
B A% A - RIE AR I WERR (D)
ZHBARMEE(RRED
B)RBE - () EAIEERE
5 MY BRE B K (i) R R AT
BHRFELEZRE  RER
() U B B A F{E - (i) A
RE R E 89 2B K (i)
Bam i IR E L EE R R
HER - ERTREAMEE K
m A FE R A R SR B B 15 2R D
BHOBREBANREEN
(WEm)  MAKREZER
HERBEEXBERIZAN
Al — B MR -

EBRSREE

XA FRAREEARK-
BREHEARBEROQF
B8 A FEERAEE
REBEREBNEENR
FE AEBEHERBLEER
EMAENREMASES
i3S E R ok lb o
BITHBRAES =TAZM -
BEREEEHT - BRERE
BRBENEEEERNIFE
PrEm A EERARAFE
KBRS BT A
B FEERE  WED
EFERBEB B ETIFE
BEmH AT EFE - W
oA

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER



98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill

(continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired,
the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBEE)

(continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwiill (d) ¥EXEHEEE®)

(continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA 75!

7.

N

I S

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

(1)) Mining rights

Mining rights with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment loss (see note
2(h)(vi)). The mining rights are amortised
over the estimated useful lives of the mines,
in accordance with the production plans
of the mines concerned, by using the unit
of production method based on the actual
production volume over the estimated total
proven and probable reserves of the gold
mines.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

(i1)

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights and assets are stated at
cost less any impairment losses. Exploration
rights and assets include the cost of acquiring
exploration rights, topographical and geological
surveys, exploratory drilling, sampling
and trenching and activities in relation to
commercial and technical feasibility studies.

Exploration and evaluation costs include
expenditure incurred to secure further
mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as
in new areas of interest. Expenditure incurred
prior to accruing legal rights to explore an area
is written off as incurred.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an
exploration property is capable of commercial
production, exploration and evaluation costs
capitalised are transferred to either mining
structures or mining rights and depreciated/
amortised by the unit of production method
based on the proved and probable mineral
reserves. Costs incurred for exploration which
can be directly attributable to the development
of mining structures are transferred to mining
structures when the exploration reaches the
stage of commercial production. All other costs
will be transferred to mining rights. Exploration
rights and assets are written off to profit or loss
if the exploration property is abandoned.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

(continued)

(1))~ Trading rights
The trading right at the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange Limited is recognised as intangible
assets in the consolidated statement of financial
position. It has indefinite useful lives and are
tested annually for impairment and carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses.

(f) Fixed assets

Fixed assets, other than construction in progress, are
stated in the statement of financial position at cost
less any accumulated amortisation and depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses (see note

2(h)(vi)).

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTBERG®E)

(continued)

(f) Fixed assets (continued) f) BEEE &)
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including HEgms EHEENR(E
any lumpsum upfront payments) are allocated TR — IR MR FIE ) &
between the land and the building elements in EREFEEZ T RETF
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold HozHERSEHATE
interests in the land element and building element of ZAOMEFDEE T RIE
the lease at the inception of the lease. FHH o
To the extent the allocation of the lease payments MENREMA] EH D
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that - HIREEHENHE
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented Tz R AR S AR
as interests in leasehold land held for own use under XTI ARBREHERSF
operating leases and included in fixed assets in the EERAEELH ERZRE
consolidated statement of financial position and is REBETEEAN HEFE
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. EEHERREE -
The cost of self-constructed items of fixed assets BECZETEEEBENAE
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial BEME - BEEST - 915164
estimate, where relevant, of the cost of dismantling FRMEBEA)FHRE
and removing the items and restoring the site BRIEE REERAEME ZK
on which they are located, and an appropriate K AREELH 2 EEL
proportion of production overheads and borrowings BEEBRAMERKANEMF
costs (see note 2(x)). 2(x)) °
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or REILERTEEEBEEBEZ
disposal of an item of fixed assets are determined BRBHEMmSREFHE
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds ZEERmE Rz EZ8EE
and the carrying amount of the item and are EoWRmEREEERE
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement B R o

or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f) Fixed assets (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of fixed assets, other than mining structures,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight line method over their estimated useful lives
as follows:

- Buildings situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired
term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
being no more than 50 years after the date of

completion.
- Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
- Motor vehicles 4 - 8 years
- Office equipment, fixtures 3-5years

and fittings

Depreciation of mining structures is provided to write
off the cost of the mining structures. The mining
structures are depreciated over the estimated useful
lives of the mines, in accordance with the production
plans of the mines concerned, by using the unit of
production method based on the actual production
volume over the estimated total proven and probable
reserves of the gold mines.

Where parts of an item of fixed assets have different
useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

(9)

Fixed assets (continued)

Construction in progress represents buildings, mining
structures and plant and equipment in the course
of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is stated at cost
less any identified impairment loss (see note 2(h)
(vi)). Cost comprises construction expenditure and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
fund during the period of construction and other
direct costs attributable to such projects, if the
amount of capital expenditures and the time
involved to complete the construction are significant.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of fixed assets when completed
and ready for its intended use.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress until it is substantially complete and ready
for its intended use.

Leases

(@) The Group as leasee

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or
a series of transactions, is or contains a lease
if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets
for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Leases (continued)

(@) The Group as leasee (continued)

()

Classification of assets leased to the
Group

Assets held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

- land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value
of which cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of
a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted
for as being held under a finance
lease, unless the building is also
clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time
that the lease was first entered into
by the Group, or taken over from
the previous lessee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

provided at rates which write off the cost
of the assets over the term of the relevant
lease or, where it is likely the Group
will obtain ownership of the asset, the
life of the asset, as set out in note 2(f).
Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as
set out in note 2(h) (vi). Finance charges
implicit in the lease payments are charged
to profit or loss over the period of the
leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the
remaining balance of the obligations for
each reporting period.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SABS LA + Br S FTHESN)
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTESFHBE®)
(continued)
(g) Leases (continued) (g9) HE#E)
(@ The Group as leasee (continued) (a) K £ E (F 5 & H A
(%)
(i) Assets acquired under finance leases (i) RIEFHETHEIETS
ZEE
Where the Group acquires the use of MAEERERE
assets under finance leases, the amounts HERSEEZE
representing the fair value of the leased A% - RlEEER
asset or, if lower, the present value of HEEEQATESK
the minimum lease payments of such ZEEENKIEMR
assets are included in fixed assets and the ExE 2R E(
corresponding liabilities, net of finance REIE S B )T
charges, are recorded as obligations REEEE M8
under finance leases. Depreciation is &z 8Bk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Leases (continued)

(@) The Group as leasee (continued)

(i) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases are charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over
the accounting periods covered by the
lease term. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged as
expenses in the reporting period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Leases (continued)

b)

The Group as lessor

A sale and leaseback transaction involves the
sale of an asset and the leasing back of the
same asset. The lease payment and the sale
price are usually interdependent because they
are negotiated as a package. The accounting
treatment of a sale and leaseback transaction
depends upon the type of lease involved. If the
leaseback is a finance lease, the transaction is a
means whereby the lessor provides finance to
the lessee, with the asset as security.

When the Group is a lessor under finance
leases, an amount representing the minimum
lease payment receivables and initial direct
costs is included in the consolidated statement
of financial position as trade and loans
receivables. Any unguaranteed residual
value is also recognised at the inception of
the lease. The difference between the sum
of the minimum lease payment receivables,
initial direct costs, the unguaranteed residual
value and their present value is recognised as
unearned finance income. Unearned finance
income is recognised over the period of the
lease using the effective interest rate method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable from 1 January 2018)"” (see note 2

().
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

()

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing
financial assets refers to how it manages its
financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial
assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at
amortised cost if both of the following
conditions are met:

—  The financial asset is held within a
business model with the objective to
hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

—  The contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the asset
is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A TTHIR » B BA FHESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

()

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income if
both of the following conditions are met:

—  The financial asset is held within a
business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling.

—  The contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income (equity
investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect
to classify irrevocably its equity investments
as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when
they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are
never recycled to the consolidated income
statement. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the consolidated income
statement when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a
recovery of part of the cost of the financial
asset, in which case, such gains are recorded
in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

()

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss,
or financial assets mandatorily required to be
measured at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost
or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, as described above, debt instruments
may be designated at fair value through
profit or loss on initial recognition if doing
so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

This category includes derivative instruments
and equity investments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value profit or loss
are also recognised as other income in the
consolidated income statement when the
right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

()

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract,
with a financial liability or non-financial host,
is separated from the host and accounted
for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would
meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Reassessment only occurs
if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the
fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid
contract containing a financial asset host is not
accounted for separately. The financial asset
host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a
financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABITEIIR » BR

BRI

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i1)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets, except in the case of financial
assets recorded at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i1)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial
assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss include financial assets held for trading
and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i1)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are carried in the statement of financial
position at fair value with positive net changes
in fair value presented as other income and
gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as finance costs in the consolidated
income statement. These net fair value changes
do not include any dividends or interest earned
on these financial assets, which are recognised
in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition (applicable before 1
January 2018)" (see note 2(u)).

Financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39
are satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(ir)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts
are accounted for as separate derivatives
and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host
contracts are not held for trading or designated
as at fair value through profit or loss. These
embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated income statement.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either
a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of
a financial asset out of the fair value through
profit or loss category.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SR » B

2.

BRI

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i1)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and
gains in the consolidated income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised
in the consolidated income statement in
finance costs for loans and in other expenses
for receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i1)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-
derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted
equity investments and debt securities. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are
those which are neither classified as held for
trading nor designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. Debt securities in this category
are those which are intended to be held for
an indefinite period of time and which may
be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTTHIR + BR 5

SHEFEIN

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(ir)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments
(continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale
financial investments are subsequently
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive
income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is
derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement in other income, or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, when
the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve to the consolidated income statement
in other gains or losses. Interest and dividends
earned whilst holding the available-for-sale
financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement as other income in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable before 1 January 2018)” (see note

2(u)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(ir)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments
(continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity
investments cannot be reliably measured
because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for
that investment, or (b) the probabilities of the
various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and
intention to sell its available-for-sale financial
assets in the near term are still appropriate.
When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due
to inactive markets, the Group may elect to
reclassify these financial assets if management
has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(ir)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments
(continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the
available-for-sale category, the fair value
carrying amount at the date of reclassification
becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has
been recognised in equity is amortised to
profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate.
Any difference between the new amortised
cost and the maturity amount is also amortised
over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is
subsequently determined to be impaired, then
the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to
the consolidated income statement.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/&TTF17R -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i) Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part

of a financial asset or part of a group of similar

financial assets) is primarily derecognised

(i.e.,

removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

2.

R EE g

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(i) Derecognition of financial assets (policies under

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs
for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For
credit exposures which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 85 3R 2R B RE

mEe

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA

2.

BILIUR - BB BFEN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A TTHIR » B BA FHESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

R EE g

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

General approach (continued)

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that are
not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant
financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to
adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A TSR -

BB BFTEIN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the
group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
and observable data indicating that there
is @ measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost,
the Group first assesses whether impairment
exists individually for financial assets that
are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that
no objective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for
which an impairment loss is, or continues to
be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETHII7R »

BrABFRIESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account
and the loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect
of future recovery and all collateral has been
realised or has been transferred to the Group.
Include other criteria for writing off amounts
charged to the allowance account against the
carrying amount of impaired financial assets.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
the estimated impairment loss increases or
decreases because of an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account.
If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is
credited to other expenses in the consolidated
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment
loss has been incurred on an unquoted
equity instrument that is not carried at fair
value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked
to and must be settled by delivery of such an
unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.

Avallable-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the
Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an
amount comprising the difference between
its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less
any impairment loss previously recognised
in the consolidated income statement, is
removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETHII7R »

BrABFRIESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments
(continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, objective evidence would
include a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment below its cost.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original
cost of the investment and “prolonged”
against the period in which the fair value has
been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss
— measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the consolidated
income statement — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Impairment
losses on equity instruments classified as
available for sale are not reversed through the
consolidated income statement. Increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or
“prolonged” requires judgement. In making
this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which
the fair value of an investment is less than its
cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments
(continued)

In the case of debt instruments classified as
available for sale, impairment is assessed based
on the same criteria as financial assets carried at
amortised cost. However, the amount recorded
for impairment is the cumulative loss measured
as the difference between the amortised cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that investment previously recognised
in the consolidated income statement. Future
interest income continues to be accrued based
on the reduced carrying amount of the asset
using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. The interest income is
recorded as part of finance income. Impairment
losses on debt instruments are reversed
through the consolidated income statement
if the subsequent increase in fair value of
the instruments can be objectively related to
an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LAZSTTEIR » Br BEFTHEIN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investment, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(vi)  Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

intangible assets;

fixed assets and construction in progress;

deposits paid for gold mining and
exploration rights and fixed assets;

investment in associate;

other non-current deposits; and

investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’'s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated:

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.,
a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Investments, other financial assets and
other assets (continued)

(vi)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss whenever the carrying amount of
an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying amount of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), or
value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i)

Investment in associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investment in associate is stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group's share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associate is
included in the consolidated income statement
and consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investment in the associate, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i)

()

(k)

Investment in associate (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to
be accounted for under the equity method. In case,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate,
the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Trade, loans and other receivables

Trade, loans and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see
note 2(h)(iv) and (v)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(k)

\)

Inventories (continued)
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any writedown of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the writedown
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
writedown of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

Other investments

The Group’s policies for investments in equity
securities other than investments in subsidiaries and
associate are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is
determined that the fair value at initial recognition
differs from the transaction price and that fair value
is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for
an identical asset or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction costs,
except where indicated otherwise below. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are
classified as current assets. Any attributable
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
dividends or interest earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out in notes 2(u)(i) and (ii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Other investments (continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income.
At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value
reserve. As an exception to this, investments in equity
securities that do not have a quoted price in an
active market for an identical instrument and whose
fair value cannot otherwise be reliably measured are
recognized in the statement of financial position at
cost less impairment losses (see note 2(h)(iv) and (v)).
Dividend income from equity securities is recognised
in profit or loss in accordance with the policies set
out in note 2(u)(i) and (ii).

When the investments are derecognised or impaired
(see note 2(h)(iii), (iv) and (v)), the cumulative gain
or loss recognized in equity is reclassified to profit
or loss. Investments are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investments or they expire.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBEE)

(continued)

(o) Financial liabilities (policies under (o) eRBE(R=F—N\F

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, derivative financial instruments and
other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(o) Financial liabilities (policies under

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term. This category also includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated income statement
does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBEE)

(continued)

(o) Financial liabilities (policies under (o) eRBE(R=F—N\F

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss are designated
at the initial date of recognition, and only if the
criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on
liabilities designated at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except for the gains or losses arising from
the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in
other comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the consolidated income statement.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
consolidated income statement does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

AN

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTHBERM®)

(continued)

(o) Financial liabilities (policies under (o) TREBEBE(R=E—N\&F

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing
in the near term. This category includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated income statement
does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss are designated
at the date of initial recognition and only if the
criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A TTHIR » B BA FHESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBEE)

(continued)

(o) Financial liabilities (policies under (o) eRBE(R=F—N\F

HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January
2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(p) Convertible bonds

(1)

Convertible bonds that contain an equity
component

Convertible bonds that can be converted
to equity share capital at the option of the
holder, where the number of shares that
would be issued on conversion and the value
of consideration that would be received at
that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain
both a liability component and an equity
component.

At initial recognition, the liability component
of the convertible bonds is measured as
the present value of the future interest and
principal payments, discounted at the market
rate of interest applicable at the time of initial
recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds
over the amount initially recognised as the
liabilities component is recognised as the equity
component. Transaction costs that relate to the
issue of a convertible financial instrument are
allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently
carried at amortised cost. The interest expense
recognised in profit or loss on the liability
component is calculated using the effective
interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the convertible bond equity
reserve until either the convertible bond is
converted or redeemed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(p) Convertible bonds (continued)

(1)

(1)

Convertible bonds that contain an equity
component (continued)

If the bond is converted, the convertible bond
equity reserve, together with the carrying
amount of the liability component at the time
of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the
share issued. If the bond is redeemed, the
capital reserve is released directly to retained
profits.

Other convertible bonds
Convertible bonds which do not contain an
equity component are accounted for as follows:

At initial recognition, the derivative component
of the convertible bonds is measured at fair
value and presented as part of derivative
financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds
over the amount initially recognised as the
derivative component is recognised as the
liability component. Transaction costs that
relate to the issue of the convertible bonds
are allocated to the liability and derivative
components in proportion to the allocation
of proceeds. The portion of the transaction
costs relating to the liability component is
recognised initially as part of the liability. The
portion relating to the derivative component is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(p) Convertible bonds (continued)

(i1)

Other convertible bonds (continued)

The derivative component is subsequently
remeasured in accordance with note 2(q). The
liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised
in profit or loss on the liability component is
calculated using the effective interest method.

If the bond is converted, the carrying amounts
of the derivative and liability components are
transferred to share capital and share premium
as consideration for the shares issued. If the
bond is redeemed, any difference between the
amount paid and the carrying amounts of both
components is recognised in profit or loss.

(q) Derivative financial instruments

(r)

Derivative financial instruments are initially

recognised at fair value on the date of grant and

are subsequently remeasured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period (see note 2(h)(i) and
(ii). The gain or loss on remeasurement to the fair

value of derivative financial instruments is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

(1)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts

are stated at their present values.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

() Employee benefits (continued)

(i1)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset,
with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the capital
reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).

2.

FESHBE®)

(n EERBFE)

(i1)

KR B EREZ (3L
ETREZBEBREZR
M s 2 B AR T
SREEM - AFER
ERT BB N R — &
B AT H R E B R A
B WEREDBRE
Z IR R AR - IR
BANABRBIRT T8
BRI E ARBEOE
EEEIBLRESER
BorlgeltR  BFal
B 2 At AT ER
BREBRED -

ARAEERBHASE
5 78 5 57 88 2 B AR K
B HERAEFER
R RFTRFEMIEZ
THAEREEEHNEF
BaPr FA A
IMRFRZEE SR
FHERREEZER
BauEAFEELE
JEZRE - CHERRX
hZBESERE A F
H B - DA RS B
BREZERZE(R
Ry 5 B 7N fof 8 1 AR
ZHE)  EERREKX
RN/ v R R EL

57 B 1R R W& Al
HERW - BEBEE
BAFETER EE
BREETEE AR
0 8 AR ) 38 A i 2
H(EERBAREEN)
BALE

\\\\ e

e

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER

1585



196

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r)

(s)

Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in the profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.

2. FESHBEE)

(s)

FriS®i (&)

BT RLEFRZOIINMER
Sh MBRERIBEE BHE
EHRIBEEE(RBRRRATgEE
SEEMNAZECHIEEENK
BNz RRERT ) H &
R XFHERHAIENY
NERMELXABRCHEEE
Z AR RPEER T A B A
[l B A7 & 2 FE AR B G A =
EMEACHE: BELH
Bz ZRVAER—REHE
BARE—-—ERHEREA
WA EINEREZRETE
5188 [B] 2 [A — HA & ok iR AE A
HEEMEEADEBEBENTR
BEAS M AT A4 E 2 I A
oo EAFERRTFEZRE
ANMEREZEEETRENAIHF
BREXRNABRIEBEEEM
RERAEE ZIRERIBE
ERTERAR L
MZERTER—HBEA
REA—ERUELE#H I
LA ERAEANRIES
B AN R B [ 2 [F] — HA
A (e -

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER

157



198

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future
or, in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

?v-'?/—\,\ﬁﬁﬁi'%llﬁ‘ﬁ

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A T3 + Br 5 E FrE5h)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the following additional conditions are met:

(i) in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or

(i) in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities

(1)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e., the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade
and other payables. The fair value of financial
guarantees issued at the time of issuance is
determined by reference to fees charged in an
arm’s length transaction for similar services,
when such information is obtainable, or is
otherwise estimated by reference to interest
rate differentials, by comparing the actual
rates charged by lenders when the guarantee
is made available with the estimated rates
that lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made.
Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with
the Group's policies applicable to that category
of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition
of any deferred income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (continued)

()

(i1)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in
profit or loss over the term of the guarantee
as income from financial guarantees issued.
In addition, provisions are recognised in
accordance with note 2(t) (iii) if and when (i)
it becomes probable that the holder of the
guarantee will call upon the Group under
the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that
claim on the Group is expected to exceed the
amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee, i.e., the
amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation.

Contingent liabilities assumed in business
combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination which are present obligations at
the date of acquisition are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value can be
reliably measured. After their initial recognition
at fair value, such contingent liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation
where appropriate, and the amount that would
be determined in accordance with note 2(t)
(iii). Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued
or were not present obligations at the date of
acquisition are disclosed in accordance with
note 2(t) (iii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

2.

R EE g

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (continued)

(i) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
or the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the
time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (continued)

(iit)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
(continued)

Provisions for the Group's obligations for
land rehabilitation are based on estimates
of required expenditure at the mines in
accordance with the PRC rules and regulations.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final
rehabilitation and mine closure based upon
detailed calculations of the amount and timing
of the future cash expenditure to perform
the required work. Spending estimates are
escalated for inflation, then discounted at
a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability such that the
amount of provision reflects the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation.

(u) Revenue recognition

(i)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(1)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration
is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods
or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the customer a
significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for
more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would
be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(1)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Sale of gold products and other by-products,
trading of metals and minerals

Revenue from the sale of gold products and
other by-products, trading of metals and
minerals is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the gold
products, metals and minerals.

Services rendered

Revenue for services rendered mainly includes
the revenue arising from the provision of
management and performance services,
securities brokerage and commission and
financing and advisory services, which are
recognised over time when services are
rendered.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual
basis using the effective interest method
by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i1)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1
January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Provided
it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the revenue and costs,
if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue
is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Sale of gold products and other by-products

Revenue is recognised when the title to the
goods and the related risks and rewards of
ownership are passed to customers, the Group
will not execute the right of supervision and
control over the goods, either the proceeds
are received or entitlement to proceeds is
evidenced, and the cost of sale of goods can
be estimated reliably. Revenue excludes value
added tax and is after deduction of any trade
discounts and returns.

Service rendered

Revenue on financial services business from
management and performance fees, securities
brokerage and commission, financing and
advisory services rendered is recognised once
the duties under the service contracts are
performed and outcome of the transactions
can be foreseen with reasonable certainty.

Other income

Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment
is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)  Revenue recognition (applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

net fair value gains/losses on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, include realised
gains/losses which are recognised on the
transaction dates when the relevant contract
notes are exchanged; and unrealised fair value
gains/ losses which are recognised in the period
in which they arise.

(v) Contract liabilities (applicable from 1
January 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received a consideration (or an amount
of consideration that is due) from the customer.
If a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer,
a contract liability is recognised when the payment
is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Nonmonetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of operations outside Hong Kong are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

(x)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

On the disposal of an operation outside Hong Kong
(i.e., a disposal of the Group's entire interest in an
operation outside Hong Kong, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes an
operation outside Hong Kong, or a partial disposal of
an interest in an associate that includes an operation
outside Hong Kong of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Interest-bearing borrowings and
borrowing costs

() Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised
initially at fair value less attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA L3I 7R -

FRABFTIESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x) Interest-bearing borrowings and
borrowing costs (continued)

(ir)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred,
except to the extent that they are capitalised
as being directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in
progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted
or complete.

(y) Related parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(y) Related parties (continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(y) Related parties (continued)

(b)  (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a) (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence,

or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(z) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the cosolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Company's
directors, i.e., the chief operating decision-maker,
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group's various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

(aa) Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the consolidated income statement over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the consolidated
income statement by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the current year, the Group has where applicable

applied the following new and revised HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA which are or have become effective:

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 40

HKFRIC 22

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28

Share-based payment:
Classification and measurement
of share-based payment
transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Financial instruments

Revenue from contracts
with customers

Clarifications to HKFRS 15
Revenue from contracts
with customers

Transfers of Investment Property

Foreign currency transactions and
advance consideration

The adoption of the above new and revised HKFRSs has no
material impact on these consolidated financial statements,
except for HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 as described below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

(@)

Impact on the consolidated financial statements
HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”. It sets out the
requirements for recognising and measuring financial
assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy
or sell non-financial items.

HKFRS 9 was generally adopted without restating
comparative information with the exception of
certain aspects of hedge accounting. The Group
used modified retrospective approach while
adopting HKFRS 9. The Group has applied HKFRS
9 retrospectively to items that existed at 1 January
2018 in accordance with the transition requirements.
Therefore, comparative information continues to be
reported under HKAS 39.

HKFRS 9 categories financial assets into three
principal classification categories: measured
at amortised cost, at fair value through other
comprehensive income and at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"). These supersede HKAS 39°s
categories of held-to-maturity investments, loans
and receivables, available-for-sale investments and
financial assets at FVTPL. The classification of financial
assets under HKFRS 9 is based on the business model
under which the financial asset is managed and its
contractual cash flow characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LAZSTTEIR » Br BEFTHEIN)

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(@)

Impact on the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

The following table shows the changes in
measurement categories of financial assets from
HKAS 39 to HKFRS 9:

Available-for-sale investments AHERE
Financial assets at fair value through  EBE M2 AR
other comprehensive income DNTEFR SRERE

The Group has elected to designate the available-
for-sale investments as financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income and
to present subsequent changes in fair value in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling). At
the time of disposal, the accumulated fair value is
transferred to retained profits.

As these financial assets were previously classified
as available-for-sale and measured at its fair value,
therefor, no material adjustment was made on the
opening balance upon the adoption of HKFRS 9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS
39 with the "expected credit loss” (“ECL") model.
The ECL model requires an ongoing measurement
of credit risk associated with a financial asset and
therefore recognises ECL earlier than under the
incurred loss accounting model in HKAS 39.

The Group has trade, loan and other receivables
that are subject to HKFRS 9's new ECL model, and
the Group was required to revise its impairment
methodology under HKFRS 9 for these receivables.

The Group applies (i) simplified approach to
measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade and other receivables from
initial recognition; and (ii) general approach to
measuring ECL for the loan receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12-months
("a 12-month ECL"). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance
is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (“a lifetime ECL").

Simplified approach

For trade and other receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

The adoption of new approach did not result in any
impact on the amounts reported in the opening
consolidated statement of financial position on 1
January 2018 and the financial information during
the year ended 31 December 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Trade and loan and other receivables are written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others, (i) the failure
of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group; (ii) the debtor does not have a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term; and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may reduce
the ability of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

While cash and bank balances, deposits, pledged
deposits and other deposits are subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, no impairment
loss was identified.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers

HKFRS 15 supersedes HKAS 11 Construction contracts,
HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and applies
to all revenue arising from contracts with customers,
unless those contracts are in the scope of other accounting
standards. HKFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to
account for revenue arising from contracts with customers.
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer.

HKFRS 15 requires entities to exercise judgement,
taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and
circumstances when applying each step of the model to
contracts with their customers. HKFRS 15 also specifies
the accounting for the incremental costs of obtaining
a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a
contract.

The Group adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption and it elected to
apply that method to only those contracts that were
not completed at the date of initial application. The
comparative information for the consolidated financial
statements would be presented based on the requirements
of HKAS 18 and related interpretations, thus the
comparative figures have not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers (continued)

Set out below are the amounts by which each consolidated
financial statement line item was affected as at 1 January
2018 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

Liabilities =R
Receipts in advance

(before adoption of HKFRS 15)
Contract liabilities

SRS (&)

BBYBHmELEDE 1557
[REFF&H WS (5
TXPE AR T BT RS R
FISHEN =T —N\F—A—H
ZEEAMBHRRABBKRTEL

TH

HK$°000
FET

FEWER(IRAE BV BHRE
EBIEE 1557 Al 64,541
AHEBERBEEMBERE

(restated upon adoption of HKFRS 15) AERIE 155R1&ET) (35,458)
Receipts in advance TEWERR (R E BN BmE
(restated upon adoption of HKFRS 15) AERE 155718 ET) 29,083

The adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no material impact
on the consolidated income statement and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income or on the Group's
operating, investing and financing cash flows for the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(a) Revenue

W = K o2& F
(a) Uz

Revenue represents (i) sales value of gold products and
other by-products to customers (net of value added
tax, returns and discounts) under the Gold Mining
Operation (as defined below); (ii) sales value of metals
and minerals to customers (net of value added tax,

returns and discounts) under the trading of metals and
minerals (as defined below); and (iii) management and
performance fees, securities commission and brokerage

fee and interest income under the Financial Services
Operation (as defined below). The revenue during the

year is analysed as follows:

WamBiE()eBARELCE
BTN TRARPLERESRE
mAEkEMBIERZHEEE
OREER - RERITH) ; (i)
CBREEES(ERMA )T
Zﬁ’%/\ﬁ&ﬁ%?z%ﬁ%{ﬁﬁ
ORIEER - RERITM)

(III)i@ﬂH&f%%%(E%QDT)
TZEBRRBER #FHE
BERe RELEBRURF B
A o FARAREAHTAT -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FEIT
Revenue from contract with SEHRERER
customers arising from L6
Gold Mining Operation
Sale of HE
— Gold products —EHEPEM 601,460 654,195
— Other by-products — Hofth Bl 2 o 79,371 153,351
680,831 807,546
Revenue from contract with cEBRBEEESZEF
customers arising from Trading & X%
of Metals and Minerals
—Sale of metals and minerals —SBREENE 114,003 —
Revenue from contract with SRRBEKER
customers arising from CE L&
Financial Services Operation
— Service fee income — RS U A 19,067 30,759
Total revenue from contracts BEFEHWE
with customers 813,901 838,305
Timing of revenue recognition & U 25 B S
Sale of gold products, other A — R B R A
by-products, metals and minerals ~ E®EREMIIER
transferred at point in time B REEHE 794,834 807,546
Services transferred over time B8 B i 62 2 A AR 75 19,067 30,759
813,901 838,305
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAB AR + Br B A FTHEIN)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BB DIBERH)

(continued)

(a) Unz(#)

(a) Revenue (continued)

Performance obligation BRIEHE
Information about the Group's performance ERASEBHNEBHER
obligations is summarised below: BT -

Sales of gold products and other by-products
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of goods.

Sales of metals and minerals
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of goods.

Management services
The performance obligation is satisfied upon services
are rendered.

Brokerage services
The performance obligation is satisfied upon services
are rendered.

P = KA Bl & dn
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has three (2017: two) reportable
operating segments as follows:

(i)  mining and processing of gold ores and sales of
gold products and other by-products (the “Gold
Mining Operation”);

(i) purchase and sales of metals and minerals (the
“Trading of Metals and Minerals”) (which was
commenced during the year); and

(iiiy provision of financial services including asset
management, securities brokerage, financing
and advisory services (the “Financial Services
Operation”).

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit or
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss
before tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group's profit or loss
before tax except that interest income and finance
costs are excluded from such measurement.

All assets are allocated to reporting operating
segments.

Segment liabilities exclude bank and other
borrowings, convertible bonds and their related
derivative financial instruments and other unallocated
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

More than 90% of the Group's revenue was derived
from activities in the PRC and its principal assets
were located in the PRC during the reporting period.
Accordingly, no analysis by geographical information
is provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHRDBER#)
(continued)
(b) Segment Information (continued) (b) DEBER (&)
The Group's operation by business segment is as AEBRER DS HHE
follows: JER N
2018 2017
—B-N\f “E-tF
Gold Trading of Financial Gold Trading of Financial
Mining Metals and Services Mining Metals and Services
Operation Minerals Operation Total Operation Minerals Operation Total

SRRREE SERBERS CREERE it ERRRE SERBERS SRRERH ot
HKS000  HKSO00  HKSUO0  HKSOO0  HKSODO  HKSODO  HKSODD  HKSOOD
AT Tz TEr fér AT AT AT TET

g

Segmentrevenue  AHHA
Revenues from external - RESMIEEMA

customers 680,831 114,003 19,067 813,901 807,546 - 30,759 838,305
Seqment profit(loss) %A,/ (§#) 76,367 B1 (10060 6658 117323 — (6% 40363
Recondilation: R
Interest income FEMA 15,669 14,741
Finance costs i (538,212) (426,782)
Loss hefore tax B AEE (456,005) (371,678)

Other segment A Es

information

Capital expenditure ~ EZ 131,830 = 60 13180 277,769 - 6 277831
Depreciation and MERES

amortisation 196,675 — 1002 197677 192,546 — 1159 193705

Fair value loss on BATETABEL
financial assets at SRHEELATERR

fair value through

profit or loss = = = = = = 85,19 85,19
Share of profit of B E R AR

associate - - 2,039 2,039 - = 1973 1973

EREAEEBARAA

—E-N\FEH 185



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

(continued)

(b) Segment Information (continued)

At 31 December 2018 At31 Decmber 2017
R-8-NETZA=1-R R-F-tE+ZA=1-A
Gold  Tradingof  Financial Gold  Trading of Financial
Mining  metals and Services Mining ~ metals and Senvices
Operation minerals  Operation Total  Operation minerals  Operation Total

LRAREY SERMERZ SHBHEH fit SBRRXE SEBREERZ eRBEER &5t
HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Fiér FiET Fiér FiET TET TET TET TET

Segmentassetsand ~ AHEERLEE

total assets 11,940,509 - 742572 12,683,081 12,892,026 - 699,781 13,591,807
Segment liabilities k-t 1,328,626 - 50,274 1,378,900 2,321,653 — 29,773 2351426
Recondilation: R
Coporateandother ~ AAREHANEER

unallocated liabilties 3,579,353 4,030,501
Total liabilities BE&i 4,958,253 6,381,927

REEMAEBRRKZE10%
FULZRBRE(ZHREEE
FRER) 2 WmmT

Revenues from customers, which are all in the Gold
Mining Operation, contributing 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group are as follows:

2018 2017

—B-N\F —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$°000

FET FET

Customer A XPEH 196,626 101,156
Customer B BE L 124,310 163,021
Customer C BEFPA 95,399 122,926
Customer D EPT 82,056 N/A (@A) *
Customer E BRI N/A (RER) * 141,771
Customer F EEC N/A (FREH) * 183,670

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

(continued)
(b) Segment Information (continued)
* The transactions with these respective customers did

not contribute 10% or more of total revenue of the
Group during the years ended 31 December 2018 or

2017.

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAIN/ 5.
(LOSS)
Other income Hibg A
Bank interest income |ITHREHA
Dividend income A% B U A
Sundry incomes FETEW A
Other net gain/(loss) Hitzz (F58) 38
Exchange gain/(loss), net ERH&Z s/ (E18) 588
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair & BIEFRIR A FENERZ

value through profit or loss TRIEEZ AN TEEBE
(Loss)/gain on disposal of fixed assets HEBTEEE

(E8), Wak

WERkDEBERE)
(b) 2EBE R (&)

* Eﬁi:——)\ﬁj_v
—tFtZA=t—H1t
FE - BZEXEPERE

TZRHABEREERR

W2 10% s bA | o

Hittw AR Btz (8
B)FHE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$°000

FET TFET

15,669 14,741

986 537

1,502 4,387

18,157 19,665
2,797 (1,879)
— (85,196)

(572) 153
2,225 (86,922)

ERERXEBEBERD A
—E-NEER

187



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME )

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETHII7R »

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX

I S

Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(@) Finance costs: (a)
Interest on bank and
other borrowings
Interest on convertible
bonds (note 24)

Interest on financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss

Total interest expenses on financial
liabilities
Less: Interest capitalised into
construction in progress
(note 13(c))

Fair value (gain)/loss on financial
liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (note 19)

Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments (note 24)
Loss on the 2018 Convertible Bonds

Restructure (note 24(i))

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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6. BRBIATESHE
BREATEERE R (GTA) TH&
18 :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
BB
RITR
HERZFE 450,032 397,645
AR EHFE
(FfF5E24) 26,988 44,431
477,020 442,076
BBBREATFE
HIBR 2 & @
BEMNE 49,111 20,910
TRIBEZFE
F 4258 526,131 462,986
W RERTIEA
BRI ZFE
(MF5E13(c)) (3,851) (6,762)
522,280 456,224
BBBRIEATE
PRz SR A&
AFEWE),
EsiE(MIEE19) (1,187) 1,388
PTHESRMIARNFEE
Wk (P 5k 24) (37,638) (30,830)
—E-N\FABK
BAEHEE
(P =E 240)) 54,757 —
538,212 426,782




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. BRBIATEE (&)
Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BREATEEBRE R, (GTA) TH&
(continued) 18 (48)
2018 2017
—E2-NEF —T—+F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) {EERKA
remuneration) (BREEHS)
Salaries, wages and other benefits He I4&K
H 12 A 76,770 83,745
Contributions to retirement IRREFIFT I
benefit schemes 8,918 8,211

85,688 91,956
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA 75!

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

N

I S

Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(continued)

(o)

Note:

Other items
Cost of inventories sold under the
Gold Mining Operation (note (i)

Cost of inventories sold under the
trading of metals and minerals

Total cost of sales
Amortisation of intangible
assets (note 12)
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit service
— non-audit service
Depreciation and amortisation
of fixed assets (note 13)
Operating lease charges in
respect of:
— land and buildings
— machinery and equipment

(c)

6. BRBIATEHE (&)
BREATEERE R (GTA) TH&
15 (8&)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
HihEH
SRAREBZE
(F=E () 473,997 520,507
cEBERBEES
EHEFEXR 113,772 —
HE K AN BRE 587,769 520,507
mEEEH
(FFzE12) 86,914 96,341
Gl
— ET RS 3,360 3,239
— TR 730 970
Bl EETE R
(FFzE13) 110,763 97,364
BEANT&SEZ
KETHERR
— T R EEY 34,183 22,829
— W38 MR 80 80
BEE -

Cost of inventories sold under the Gold Mining Operation
includes HK$236,893,000 (2017: HK$216,939,000)
relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation
expenses and operating lease charges, which amounts
are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed

separately above for each of these types of expenses.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A7

INCOME TAX 7.

(@) Taxin the consolidated income statement represents:

Current tax ZNEREL B
— PRC income tax — RS
(Under)/over-provision in prior years £ (&), fREEEME
— PRC income tax — RS
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBNER
Deferred tax credit EERIAE R
(note 25(a)) (MfsE 25(a))
Total income tax expense FTS i B2 A58

?v-?/—\,ﬁiﬁ%% Bf &
BLAR BREBE ;/THV)
rEH
(a) HAEZRAITZIEES:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —+tF
HK$000 HK$°000
FETT FET
(13,327) (23,675)
(408) (1,630)
— 1,402
,,,,,,,,,, (a08) (229
(13,735) (23,903)
3,405 5,391
(10,330) (18,512)

(b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting
loss at applicable tax rates:

Loss before tax BRIGATEE

Notional tax on loss before tax, RIRIE AR IS R AR
calculated at the rates applicable ZEANEE
to the tax jurisdiction concerned BREAIEE . B&NIA

Tax effect of non-deductible AR 2 FRIETE

expenses

Tax effect of non-taxable income IEFERFI UM A 2 BT £
Profit attributable to associate B 22N B B (i 7
Under-provision in prior years TETREME

The share of tax attributable to associate amounting
to HK$672,000 (2017: HK$660,000) is included
in share of profit of associate in the consolidated
income statement.

(b) BIERXFGEEEER

MR E 2 $8 -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$°000 HK$000
FHET FEIT
(456,005) (371,678)
(94,585) (66,397)
107,835 92,015
(2,818) (6,841)
(510) (493)
408 228
10,330 18,512

DIEHE LR EMBIEA

672,000 L (=T —tF :

660 ooo;‘%ﬁ)asﬂ\,ﬁ%éﬁ
mERLZDIEEERERAA

EREXAEEBARA
-F - /\Eixﬁi
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

7. INCOME TAX (continued)

(0)

(d)

(e)

The provision for PRC income tax is calculated on
the assessable profit of the Group’s subsidiaries
incorporated in the PRC at 25% during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
made during the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017 as the Group did not have any assessable
profit subject to Hong Kong profits tax.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda,
the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI"), the Group is exempted from any income tax
in Bermuda, the Cayman Islands and the BVI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, Section 383(1) (a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits
Directors’ in kind

fees F&

RE

EEHE RENFE
Note HKS000  HKS'000
iz FET FET

8. EERTHARMS

EERITHREAEMESRE LR
8« FE QR EHI 5 383(1)(a)
() (O RMIERAR(HEESF
HERDROIE 2 ZHBELT

Equity

settled

Retirement share-hased
scheme payment 2018
contributions NRE Total

BUGHE  Subtotal KBRS —F-NE
5 Mt BEXH a3t
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FEn FE7 FE7 FE7

Executive directors HES

Mr. Yi Shuhao PRERLE (a) — 161 6 167 - 167
Mr. Chen Sheng RELE (o) = 500 18 518 = 518
Mr. Zhang Lirui FHgiEL () - 500 18 518 — 518
Mr. Yu Yong RERE (d) = 1,000 18 1,018 = 1,018
Mr. Wang Baozhi RERE e) = 500 18 518 - 518
Mr. Liu Liyang Ly (f) - m 11 234 = 234
Ms. Zang Dongling BRI T o) = 340 12 35 = 35
Independent BUFHTES

non-executive directors

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung WAREE 240 - - 240 — 20
Professor Xiao Rong Ge BREHE 240 = = 240 = 20
Professor Zhang Tianyu FRAAK 240 = = 20 = 240
Total st 720 324 101 4,045 - 4,005

EREAEEBARAA

E-NEEH 133
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits

Directors' inkind
fees  H& - 25

e REWMAE
Note HK$000  HKS'000
i3 AL TAR

8. EERITHARME &)

Equity

settled

Retirement share-based
scheme payment 2017
contributions PARRHE Total

BREE Subtotdl  EEZRB —E—tE
ft N EREH @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL TEL THT THT

Executive directors HES

Mr. Liu Liyang Ly (f) - 2,688 18 2,706 - 2,706
Mr. Chen Sheng RELE (o) - 159 6 165 - 165
Mr. Yu Yong RERE (d) — 318 6 34 - 324
Mr. Wang Baozhi IREEE e — 182 7 189 — 189
Ms. Zang Dongling BRRLT ) — 159 6 165 — 165
Mr. Zhang Lirui RHHEE - 2,688 18 2,706 - 2,706
Mr. Li Xianghong ZRBEE (h) - 2,000 12 2,012 - 2,012
Mr. Zhang Shuguang REXEE (h) - 1,333 12 1,345 - 1,345
Mr. Wang Hao TELE (i) - 2,500 15 2515 - 2515
Mr. Zhang Liwei Rh#EE () - 653 6 659 - 659
Independent BUFHTES

non-executive directors

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung BAELE 240 - - 240 - 240
Professor Xiao Rong Ge BREHE 240 - - 20 - 240
Professor Zhang Tianyu RERAE (e) 87 - - 87 - 87
Mr. Yin Chenggang FERRAIEE (k) 158 = = 158 = 158
Total a5t 725 12,680 106 1351 — 1351

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
no emoluments were paid or payable to the Company’s
directors or chief executive or any of the five highest paid
individuals set out in note 9 below as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Company or as compensation for
loss of office. There was no arrangement under which any
directors or chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during both years.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

()

(d)

(e)

)

(9)

(h)

0

0]

(k)

Mr. Yi Shuhao was appointed as the executive director and
the chairman of the Company on 5 September 2018 and
the chief executive officer on 13 December 2018.

Mr. Chen Sheng was appointed as the executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 6
September 2017 and 24 January 2018 respectively. He
resigned as the chief executive officer and redesigned as
vice-chairman of the Company on 13 December 2018.

Mr. Zhang Lirui re-designed as the vice-chairman of the
Company on 13 December 2018.

Mr. Yu Yong was appointed as the executive director
and deputy chief executive officer of the Company on 6
September 2017.

Mr. Wang Baozhi was appointed as executive director of
the Company and Professor Zhang Tianyu was appointed
as independent non-executive director of the Company on
21 August 2017.

Mr. Liu Liyang was appointed as the chairman of the
Company on 6 September 2017 and resigned as the
chairman and the executive director of the Company on 5
September 2018 and 24 October 2018 respectively.

Ms. Zang Dongling were appointed as executive director
of the Company on 6 September 2017 and resigned on 5
September 2018.

Mr. Li Xianghong resigned as the chairman and the chief
executive officer and the executive director of the Company
and Mr. Zhang Shuguang resigned as executive director of
the Company on 31 August 2017.

Mr. Wang Hao resigned as executive director on 31
October 2017.

Mr. Zhang Liwei resigned as executive director on 28 April
2017.

Mr. Yin Chenggang, was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 4 January 2017 and
resigned on 31 August 2017.

8.

EERTRARME (8

P&

(@ SHREEER_T—-NFLAR
REZEARRRMITEERE
FBIN—F—-N\F+-A+=H
B ERTTHHAEE -

(b) EREBEENFIN-T—LFNA
REERZZE-N\F—-AZ-+WHA
BZERRRANTESRRT
B - FR T N\F+_-A
T=ZHBEARRRITRAAR L
FERBIERE

(© RMHFEER_Z—NEF+A
T=RERER/ARBENEE -

(d) RZEBE—tFNARE REX
EREZERARRATELERE
BE

() RZZE—tHFNAZ-+—H F
RELLEEZERRRRNITE
ERRAREREZ TR/ AR
BIUFMITES -

f) BNBEER-_ZE—LFAAR
HEZERARREFEILDHIN
ZE-N\FAREERZZ-N
FTA-TOABEARALIE
ESTES -

(99 BEERLIN-_ZT—tFAARX
REZEAERRRATERTER
“E-N\FAARLHEBHE

(hy RZZ—tFNA=+—H F
(A6 58 A B (E AN 12 ) £ B FR AT
BERAITEE RORBIC T AR
EARRRITES -

i) EHEEER-_FT—-—LF+A
=t HBERTES -

() FTH#EEENR-_ZT—+FMOA
ZHN\HBHERITES -

(k) FREEER-"ZT—tF—AN
REZERARARBLIFRNTE
FEIR_FE—tFNA=+—H
BHE o

EREAEEBARAA
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Il‘li\

B BHRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included

one director (2017: four directors), details of whose

remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the

remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2017:

one) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind

Retirement scheme contributions

e K
EWHas
BRREHEIHR

The number of non-director and non-chief executive

highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within

the following band is as follows:

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

DIVIDEND

1,000,001 BLE
1,500,000 7T
1,500,001 BLE

9. ENBESMEES
ERNANREMEREERE—&E
BTG MEEE)  H
SEBHN E XS - TS
(ZZ—+F: —R)WIFANTE
ERTHARNSESHEES KE

EMEFBOT -
2018 2017
—E-N\FE —E—+F
HKS$000 HK$°000
FET FET
4,992 2,000
50 18
5,042 2,018

MEeEATHEAMTBES BT
BagnssMeEEHANT

Number of employees

EEAH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
T ILE 1,000,0008 7T 1 —
1 -
2 R

2,000,000 % 7T
2,000,001 BT E
2,500,000 %7

The directors of the Company do not recommend the

payment of any dividend for the years ended 31 December

2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

11. LOSS PER SHARE

The basic and diluted loss per share and weighted

average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31
December 2017 have been adjusted to reflect the impact

of the Share Consolidation (as defined in note 26) and

Rights Issue (as defined in note 26) which was effective
on 28 May 2018 and 26 September 2018, respectively.

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$466,335,000 (2017: HK$390,190,000) and on
the weighted average number of 2,286,114,000
(2017: 724,360,000 (as restated)) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company’s outstanding
share options or conversion of outstanding
convertible bonds which had anti-dilutive effect and
would result in a reduction in loss per share during
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
Therefore, the diluted loss per share is same as basic
loss per share during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.

11. BREE

HE-_T—tF+-A=+—HL
FENBREARRKEEEERE R
RINEFHEELTHE - UkED
MR- N\FRAZTNBEZ
E-N\EFENAZFNBERBHBRG
APt (EERME26) RER(EE
BHisE26) 2 -

(a)

(b)

BREREE

EREXAEBEEDIRER
NEHEAEANEMNLEIRB
466,335,000 8 T(Z T —+
£ 1 390,190,000 7T ) A &
REANBFTERKR 2 INE
1 #02,286,114,000 (=
T — + 4 724,360,000 §%
(&&=7)))518 -

FREEER
SESREEERE UK
B R AR A R 14 AR AT (8 1 B

RERETE S E R RE R
AR ES (FEAEREER
I HEREE_T—N\F
EZFTE—+tF+A=+—
HIEFEZBREBRLD) o
Bt #2—FT—-—NFk=
T—+F+-_A=+—81
FE BRESEBEEIGR
EREBEAER -

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12. BLEE
Exploration
Mining rights and Trading
rights assets right Goodwill Total
REE RREREE 58 ik CE

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TEL FET AT TET TET
(note a) (hote a) (note b) (note ¢)

(Writa) (Wita) (Hrith) (Byitc)

Cost KA
At 1 January 2017 WZE—+F-A—H 7,001,523 42,158 500 273,893 7,318,074
Acquisition of subsidiary KEHBAT - — — 7,225 7,205
Exchange adjustments 5 AR 255,518 3,186 - - 258,704
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
t-A=t-H 7,257,041 45,344 500 281,118 7,584,003
At 1 January 2018 WZE2-NE-F—-H 7,257,041 45,344 500 281,118 7,584,003
Additions g 54,875 — — — 54,875
Exchange adjustments AR (183,985) (2,29) = = (186,279)
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N\E
+-B=t-H 7,121,931 43,050 500 281,118 7,452,599
Accumulated amortisation ~ Z3H#
At 1 January 2017 WZE—+E-f-H 978,148 — — — 978,143
Charge for the year EmER(MET6(0)

(note 6(c)) 96,341 - — - 96,341
Exchange adjustments & 5 R 53,698 — — — 53,698
At 31 December 2017 RIT—+F

+ZfA=1-H° 1,128,187 — — - 1,128,187
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\5-A-H 1,128,187 = = = 1,128,187
Charge for the year EmiR(MET6(0)

(note 6(c)) 86,914 = = = 86,914
Exchange adjustments & i A (42,106) = = = (42,106)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F

+-R=1-H 1,172,995 = = = 1,172,995
Carrying amounts Kl
At 31 December 2018 R-F-N\&
+-f=t-H 5,954,936 43,050 500 281,118 6,279,604
At 31 December 2017 R-E—t&
+-A=t+-H 6,128,854 45,344 500 281,118 6,455,816
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(a)

)

(ii)

(iii)

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s mining
rights with a total carrying amount of
HK$5,592,650,000 (2017: HK$2,174,843,000)
were pledged as security for bank and other
borrowings facilities granted to the Group (note
23).

At 31 December 2018, the directors of the
Company conducted assessments of the
recoverable amounts of the mining rights
with reference to the valuations conducted
by an independent firm of professional
valuers with recognised qualifications and
experiences, using the income-based approach
methodology. Based on the assessments, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the
estimated recoverable amounts of the mining
rights were approximate or higher than their
respective carrying amounts and therefore, no
impairment on the mining rights was required
at 31 December 2018.

The directors of the Company also considered
that there was no impairment on the carrying
amounts of the exploration rights and assets at
31 December 2018.

The amortisation charge during the year is
included in cost of sales in the consolidated
income statement.

12. BEEE (&)

(a)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

RZZE—N\F+=ZA
=+—H AEBEHEK
M & 45,592,650,000
B om(Z E — £ F-:
2,174,843,00078 7T ) 2
REECRRERAS
EERZBITREME
FIEE(FEE23) -

RZE-—NF+ZH
=+—H: ' ARAES
BRIBFEBRAUEERK
BRH B EEGERE
FRBAEREEE 2
fh{ESERERE 2 AT E
REEITIL o BIRET
e ARREERAK
B2 A E 258
HERIEREZEZ
BREE At RZF
—N\F+=ZA=+—H
FIEESEHRRE -

KRB EENRE
RZZE—NF+=A
—t+—BEBEREE
Z R A E LR
1 o

FAZEEIHEEA
REBRRIHEKAE
A o

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(b)

(@

It represents trading right on securities brokerage on
the Stock Exchange.

Impairment test for goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations,
which included Shenzhen Munsun Asset
Management Company Limited (“Shenzhen
Munsun”) in 2017 (Further details are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements) and
Munsun Asset Management (Asia) Limited (“Munsun
Asia”) and Munsun Securities Limited (“Munsun
Securities”) in 2016, has been allocated to the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") of the Financial Services
Operation of the Group for impairment testing.

At 31 December 2018, the recoverable amount
of the lowest level of CGU has been determined
based on value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a period of five years.
There are a number of assumptions and estimates
involved in the preparation of cash flow projections
for the period covered by the approved budget. Key
assumptions include the expected growth rate in
revenues and timing of future capital expenditures
and selection of discount rates. The growth rate is
based on management’s plan on launch of products
and expected growth in the CGU of the Financial
Services Operation. Growth rates ranging from
36% to 87% (2017: 13% to 15%) have been
applied to the cash flow projections. As there were
changes in senior management and business plans
of the Financial Services Operation, together with
the increased uncertainties in the overall business
environment, and certain funds managed by the
Group were redeemed during 2018, the Group's
revenue from the Financial Services Operation
decreased in 2018 as compared with 2017. However,
the Group is prudently optimistic that, with the
current management team and new business plans,
the growth rate of the revenue of the Financial
Services Operation will exceed that of previous
years. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 14% (2017: from 16%). In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, no impairment on
the goodwill was required as at 31 December 2018.
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BIEEE®)

(b)

(o)

It TR 8 B AR P R (R AR SR AR
ACIRTEH X HHE
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RINTEBREEERARRA
A (RN ) (FIEEHR AR
B BHmRME32) KR =
T-RNENEREEER(E
M BRREN([EREM D R
ERBHFERDA(EEE
Z))FEENEMEDBAKR
SEERREEBHNREE
HEERAERERIF o

RZE—N\F+_A=+—
H EBA&FREELEE
U EBEHRARE R
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FHYBRESRFEAEAES
B ARECHAETEEEA
HEMRESREEAR T X
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RBEEEEENERERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

13. FIXED ASSETS

Cost
At 1 January 2017
Exchange adjustments
Acquistion of subsidary (note 32)
Additions
Disposals
Interest capitalised
Transfer from construction
n progress

At 31 December 2017

At 1 January 2018

Bxchange adjustments

Additons

Disposals

Interest capitalised

Transfer from construction
In progress

At 31 December 2018

Ak
RF-1E-A-H
e
YEMBAR (F3)

i

e

EE
DR i

LA
SRERETR

AoE-rE+Azt-H

R2%-N5-R-R
EiaE

RE

i

BHEHR
SRERETR

RE-NETZA=T-A

13. BEEE
Interests in
leasehold
[ands held
for own
Office use under
equipment, operating
Buildings fumiture leases
heldfor ~ Machinery and fixtures i ]
own use and Motor BAE Miing  Constructin  EHER
BEEBR  equipment vehides ~ RE-HE  stuctwres  inprogress EREE Total
ZEEN RERRE RE  RERRE  REEEN EEIR  iHeEs it
HKS000 Hso H§000 Hso 000 s Hs0o0 S0
FAT 22 FAT Fhr & Fhr 741 FAr
(notss (0)é1(c)
(K bx0)
14358 64934 1301 833 3894761 1,152,733 3974 519413
1,085 4908 2050 531 294333 87360 218 392985
- - 430 f - - - 4386
- 2386 157 2308 2862 269518 - M8
- (11,214 @9 (131) - - - (11.774)
- - - - - 6,762 - 6,762
- = - - 433605 (433,605) = -
15,443 61,014 31,083 11,08 4,625,561 1,082,768 3869 5,865,603
15,443 61,014 31,083 11,082 4,625,561 1,082,768 38,69 5,805,603
(781) (3,052) (13%) (4%8) (234,015) (54,881) (1.957) (296,579)
- 5512 66 1347 11,046 113,919 - 131,89
- (1322) (4,054) - - - - (5.376)
- - - - - 3851 - 3851
- - - - 208,087 (208,087) - -
14,662 62,152 25,660 11931 4,610,679 937,570 36,735 599,389
EREAEEEFER D
—E-NEER 201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

13. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 13. BIEEE &)

202

Interests in
leasehold
[ands held
for own
Office Use under
equipment, operating
Buildings fumiture leases
heldfor ~ Machinery and fixtures i ]
own use and Motor BAE Miing  Constructin  EHER
BEEBR  equipment vehides  BE-HE  stuctwres  inprogress EREE Total
ZEEN RERRE RE  REREE  REEEM EEIR  iHeEs it
S0 Hso H§000 Hso 000 s Hs0o0 S0
FAT 22 FAT Fhr & Fhr 741 FAr
(notss (0)é1(c)
(K bx0)
Acumulated amortisation ~~ EstHERHE
and depreciation
At 1 January 2017 RoF-t5-3-A 5599 9127 16,785 6323 384923 - 1474 44231
Exchange adusiments Ejgs 6 20% 130 T 21 - 163 %508
Charge for the year R
(note 61c) (Histe(o) 2018 539 315 1511 84,150 - 878 97364
Disposals i - (10609 (n) (115 - - - (11,007
At 31 December 2017 RoE-CETZR=1-H 8383 15949 20885 8162 501,222 - 24% 567,0%
At 1 January 2018 RZE-JE-A-A 8383 25,949 20,885 8162 501,22 - 2495 567,09
Bxchange adjusiments EjdE (466) (1.431) (%47) (390) (21.920) = (151) (31305)
Charge forthe year i
(note 6(c) (Histe(o) 1,638 5501 2762 1431 98,544 - 887 110,763
Disposal i = (957) (29) = = = = (3902
At 31 December 2018 RZF-NErZA=1-A 9,555 29,062 19,755 9,203 571,846 - 331 642,652
Canying amounts il
At 31 December 2018 RZF-N\ETZA=1-A 5107 3,09 5905 218 4038833 937,570 33,504 5,056,737
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+ZA=1-A 7,060 35,005 10,158 290 4124339 1,082,768 36,197 5298507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/& T3/~

13. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

14.

(a)

(b)

(0)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s fixed assets
with a total carrying amount of HK$761,837,000
(2017: HK$816,326,000) were pledged as security
for bank and other borrowings facilities granted to
the Group (note 23).

The construction in progress at 31 December
2018 and 2017 primarily relates to the additional
production premises, mining structures and facilities
of subsidiaries in the PRC.

During the year, interest on bank and other
borrowings capitalised in above construction in
progress was HK$3,851,000 (2017: HK$6,762,000).
The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a
rate of 9% (2017: 9%) per annum on the specific
borrowings used for financing the construction in
progress (note 6(a)).

DEPOSITS PAID FOR GOLD MINING AND
EXPLORATION RIGHTS

At 31 December 2018, the Group paid aggregate deposits
of HK$144,666,000 (2017: HK$152,375,000) for two
proposed acquisitions of certain mining and exploration
rights for gold mines in Henan and Yunnan, in the PRC

from independent third parties. The transactions have
not been completed during the year and up the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.

e BRRME

13. EEEE(H)

(@ RZE—NFF+ZA=+—
H AEBEREERLREA
761,837,000 8 L (Z & —+
1 816,326,0008 7T ) 2 @
EEECARBRAEEE
BRI RAEMEFTEE (M
F£23) °

by RZE—NFERZZE—LtF
+ZA=+—BzHEEIR
FEEPEK BRI
FERE REBEYRE
FEERE o

(0 FA REATERIERNE
LR IRIT R EMEFHF B
2%3,851,0005%%(f$—t
F 6,762,000 L) c BEX
AT AR NERTIR
WA ERIZFEFEI%(Z
T—+F : 9%) BN (M3
6(a)) °

14. & TR ERE I RBP4

BE

RZZE—N\FE+_A=+—8 K
EERMBYLE = FEZNRIE
WEMRFBRTEEER2E T
CEEBERARBEES NEeaH
144,666,000 TL(Z & —t F ¢
152,375,000 7T) - RFAKE
EHAZSEEMBEHREXBE - K
SEEWRTKILER S ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

15

16.

. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 15.

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS

Financial assets at fair value through ZEBHtt2HEWEE

other comprehensive income ATEIEzSMEE
Unlisted investments, at fair value ELETIRE  LARFEET
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE
Unlisted investments, at fair value JEEMRE - LAAFEE

As further detailed in note 3 (a), the Group has elected to
designate the available-for-sale investments as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
at 1 January 2018. At 31 December 2018, the Group's
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income included investment in an unlisted company in
the PRC of HK$268,619,000 (2017: under available-for-
sale investments of HK$251,958,000) and investment in a
private equity fund in the PRC of HK$11,547,000 (2017:
under available-for-sale investment of HK$12,162,000).

At 31 December 2018, the Group's financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income with carrying
value of HK$280,166,000 (2017: under available-for-sale
investments of HK$251,958,000) was pledged as security
for the Group’s bank and other borrowings (note 23).

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE 16.

Share of net assets DIEFEE

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2018

BEREMEEBEEQT
BEIREMEE At
HERE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
280,166 —

— 264,120

AN FE 3(a) i — Rl - AEE
BEETAHHEREERR T
—NF—A—HBEBEME2EKE
BAFEINEZEMEE - KT
—N\F+-A=1+—H AEEH
FREMEEWEZRAFEYE
ZEMEEFAZR —HEHRBEIE
T ARMEE 268,619,000 T
(ZE—tF  GTAJHEERE
251,958,000/% 7T ) & B AR ] — I8
FAEREESHTE11,547,000
BT(ZE—EF  sTARTHEE
& 12,162,000/ °

R-ZE—NF+_A=+—8"

ANEE BRE{E A 280,166,000 %5 7T
(ZE—tF  GFAHEERE
251,958,000/ 8 T) BB E M2
HREEATFEYEZCREED
BRARERRITREMERNIE
& (fI5E23) ©

REERAR2RE

2018 2017
—E-N\FE —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
10,501 8,969




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE (continued)

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

At 31 December 2018, particulars of the associate are as

follows:

Name of associate

BENTER

Shenzhen Baotengsheng Fund
Management Company Limited
(note i)

AImREEESERERAR

iE))

16.

REBERNTZ2REE)
N-_EBE—NEFE+_A=+—H ' B

ERARZERIEAT
Proportion of ownership
interest
BEERRLA

Place of Group's
incorporation/ Fully paid-up effective Held by a
operations registered capital interest  subsidiary Principal activities
EMERL, TEE H-KE
gk BAREMER BiRER NAKE TEXB

% %
The PRC RMB10,000,000 24.5 245 Asset management
i AK10,000,0007C and advisory service

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

information of the associate:

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities

Net assets

Revenue
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

BERE L AR

TRETHE QAN EE R
E:

Dividend received from the associate

Proportion of the Group’s ownership
Group's share of net assets of the

associate and the carrying amount of

the investment

2018 2017
—E-\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHEIT
IETEEE 2,605 2,646
MENEE 41,209 34,865
mEAE (952) (903)
BEFRE 42,862 36,608
U Z5 11,549 11,081
FEHF 8,323 8,052
H b2z — —
2EWZFERE 8,323 8,052
AL YNCT ) — —
NEETEF LD 24.5% 24.5%
NEE (R B
NAZEEFER
HEREE 10,501 8,969

(i)  The English name is for identification purpose only.

—

EEREAX

) RXEWEHRBRZA -

EEERDA
Z-NEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

17. INVENTORIES

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise:

Raw materials B
Work-in-progress & m
Finished goods RIFK 0B
Total =t

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade and loans receivables JEUBR N K B
Less: Allowance for o REREME
doubtful debts

Other receivables H th & W R IE
Sub-total INEE

Deposits and prepayments Be RFERKIE
Non-current portion FEENERER
Current portion B HA &R 2

As at 31 December 2018, all of the trade, loans and other
receivables, deposits and prepayments are expected to
be recovered or recognised as expenses within one year,
except for the non-current portion.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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17. 7€
I ABISRRERN Y FERIE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
9,475 23,015
168,895 121,166
18,653 37,208
197,023 181,389

18. BWWERFX - ERREME
WFIE - BERFENTE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

Note HK$°000 HK$'000

B 5 FET FET
226,700 132,336

(a) to (¢ 226,700 132,336
(@ = (0 69,723 115,369
296,423 247,705

133,201 117,857

429,624 365,562

109,532 49,379

320,092 316,183

429,624 365,562

R_B—AFT-_A=+—8 " A
B RW AR - B RN E R R
B ReRANKEHRER —F
AT AU [ Sk e RR A A 52 HESERD
HARR D BRSO ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade and loans receivables

Trade receivables under ~ &TEFEREE

the Gold Mining 2 FE AR 3K
Operation

Trade and loans SRR ES N2
receivables under YRR R E R
the Financial

Services Operation

Trade receivables under the Gold
Mining Operation

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables under
the Gold Mining Operation (net of allowance for
doubtful debts) based on invoice date at end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Less than two months DRI {E A
More than two months but BE—EAE
less than four months AR E A
More than four months but HBm Py E A8
less than six months DR (E A
More than six months but BiEs~EAE
less than one year DR —F
More than one year tRiEm—F

The Group generally requires the customers to make
payment on the date of delivery of products or
within 7 days after delivery of products. Credit term
within two to four (2017: two) months is granted to
the customers with high credibility.

e BRRME

18. BWWERFX - ERREME
WFIE - BERFENTE

(#&)

(a) BWERRKRER

2018 2017

—B-N\FE —E—LF

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FET
(b) 107,319 23,524
© 119,381 108,812
226,700 132,336

(b) EEFMAKRER T B
X
T FE W BR SR (2 F0BR R FR 5
) RIBEEZARZRE DT

U
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FHT
60,926 18,757
39,971 =
1,496 4,767
4,926 =
107,319 23,524

AEE-RERLEPREM
NERKERMNERLAR
fEHA SR - REA =M E A
(ZZ2—t5F: MEA)KUA
ZEEMRTEEREEE
BZEP -

ERAFEEERA T
—E-NEEFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 18. BIRERFX - ERREMIE

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued) WFIE - RERFBENFIEA
(&)
(b) Trade receivables under the Gold (b) £EAREL T EWER
Mining Operation (continued) ME)
Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 B2 —F—\F+-H="4—
December 2018 H 1F FRIRIR & B IR &2
RIE9% 2 8
An impairment analysis is performed at each REBERERE B BAERAR
reporting date using a provision matrix to measure HEEETRES TN E
expected credit losses (“ECL"). The provision rates BHEEER BEXDE
are based on days past due for groupings of various REBRUEEER (B
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., & EZmEs - BEPERKE
by geographical region, product type, customer type R EREREMEER
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other SN REE D) 2 ZEE
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects P o e plE Bl R EUE E -
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of FAGtERMB R MELS
money and reasonable and supportable information R BEEBEZKHEEBEERNR
that is available at the reporting date about past EHHAEGzAEHBBEES
events, current conditions and forecasts of future B AR RoR R AR AR
economic conditions. In addition, one of the debtors AR EBAIEER - 5
with the balances of approximately HK$47 million Hho B B —EES AL
was guaranteed by and independent third parties, ATEBB T WK BEE Y
with no recent history of material defaults, the EZFEER ENEER
probability of default and the loss given default were BHBRAERMEFTER -
estimated to be minimal.
Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 BE—FE—+F+_HA="14—
December 2017 HiFFERIEEE iR
39TEIEL YRR 2E 1
The ageing analysis of trade receivables as at 31 REBEEBGTTERFE 395 -
December 2017 under the Gold Mining Operation WHERENIEEER /D
that are neither individually nor collectively WEZ ERRKRER T EIK
considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as ERR_Z—+t&+=R
follows: =+—HBZERITOT :
At
31 December
2017
RZZ—+F
pe= | —F
HK$'000
TET
Neither past due nor impaired A28 B kR (B 18,757
Less than six months past due b A P! 4,767
More than six months but less than 60 HR R A 7 E A
one year past due BALR—F —
More than one year past due B HARR R —F i
23,524
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(b) Trade receivables under the Gold

(©

Mining Operation (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables
under the Gold Mining Operation that were neither
past due nor impaired relate to certain independent
customers for whom there was no recent history
of default. Receivables that were past due but not
impaired relate to certain independent customers
that have a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold
any collateral over these balances.

Trade and loans receivables under the

18. EWNERER - EFR R HEHME
WFIE - BERFENTE
(18)

(b) ERHARER T RUWER

ENE D)

RB@EHKR - BRBH IR
MEZBARER TE
o B R BB B T 08 B HE R R B
ZETHIEFPAR Bf
1837 8 R (B 2 & WK IR B
TRAKEBERLKR S Z
BUEFBR REBER
B EEEMEGEHARZKS
REERELRERE K ARHE
RRZEFHEHRAT2HKD -
AEEYBRASERTE
EfREHm -

() TRRBEFEHT RUWER

Financial Services Operation MRER
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables from BHEHLER
securities brokerage business: FEWAR A
— Cash clients -HBexP 712 1,182
— Clearing house in HK —REBZEER — 164
712 1,346
Trade and loan receivables from Hih & BRSESER
other financial services business ERNER 118,669 107,466
119,381 108,812
EREAETERA A
—E - NEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Trade and loans receivables under the
Financial Services Operation (continued)

(i)

The settlement terms of trade receivables
from securities brokerage business are two
days after the trade date. No ageing analysis is
disclosed as the ageing analysis does not give
additional value in view of the nature of these
trade receivables. The credit terms on trade
and loan receivables from the other financial
services business under the Financial Services
Operation are ranging from one year to three
years. The ageing analysis of these trade and
loans receivables (net of allowance for doubtful
debts) from other financial services business
under the Financial Services Operation based
on the age of these receivables since the
effective dates of the relevant contracts at end
of the reporting period is as follows:

NG

Less than one year
More than one year
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18. BWRN - ERRHEAE
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RZBRBARS AR
B o I E ERER
RZME - RO
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* REEEBEANE
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2018
—E-N\fF

2017
—T—F
HKS$’000 HK$'000

FETT FET
7,964 258
110,705 107,208

118,669 107,466
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A T3 + Br 5 E FrE5h)

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Trade and loans receivables under the

(ii)

Financial Services Operation (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

The Group applies general approach to measuring
ECL for the trade and loan receivables from
other financial services business as these business
contained a significant financing component. ECLs
are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month
ECL). For those credit exposures which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

18@%%* - BR R M@
WA - &ﬁ&ﬁﬁ
(&)

«)%@%%%%TEW%
REER (4
ih BE-FT—-NF+=A
ST -BLEEEREERY
BREENE IR ZRE

 E T - NF+ A
=t+—HULEFEREBEEEY
BwmEERFEIRIEL IR
R NEERBT &K
TERFERBRABETERX
B E A S BARS X5 R
WL ER - AHREEE
BomERRETER &
E/\QE//\EEuUTélﬂgﬁgiﬁ
mevEERR  RHESES
Bt Al E’\ﬂiﬂﬂﬂlﬂﬁq
(12EARFEHEEREE) LR
BEE MR R - BN

= E/Aﬁﬁéwé*ﬁ?@%iﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ
EERR  AHEEEEER

M?EEHE’JTU%EEHE.HEEHE
B TREOFHRAE
BEE(ZHEHAEEER) -

RERSAH  NEBERF

FEEAERESRTAN
FERKRELBEZLNE

%mﬁiﬁﬁiﬁlﬂﬁi
EXHzRAKREEXERA
SR TAZEZENRR
1TEL 8 ﬂE%J’E/\ﬁHﬂE’i‘
BXRFNER  BEEFH
A UERKAHKSE S A]
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FRABFTIESN)

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Trade and loans receivables under the

(ifi)

Financial Services Operation (continued)

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

The trade and loans receivables as at 31 December
2017 under the Financial Services Operation that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows:

(1)

Neither past due nor impaired 37 g HRsOR (B
Less than six months past due BER DTN E A
More than six months but B HARR B 7S E A

less than one year past due
More than one year past due

At the end of the reporting period, trade and loans
receivables under the Financial Services Operation
of the Group that were neither past due nor
impaired relate to certain independent customers
for whom there was no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to cash clients from securities brokerage
business of HK$630,000 (2017: HK$1,098,000)
and the management fee receivables from the
asset management funds managed by the Group
of HK$1,174,000 (2017: HK$1,017,000). The
Group held the securities of these cash clients from
securities brokerage business as collateral over their
individual balance and has assessed the recoverability
of the management fee receivables from the asset
management funds. The management believed that
no impairment allowance was necessary in respects
of these receivables.
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BAOR—F
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H_+ SR UNNE
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—tF

HK$'000

FET

106,697

407

1,053
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2,115
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BN ARBE 2 B RBEB
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EETEESZENERS
1,174,000 T(—Z & —+
££:1,017,0008 75 ) o A&
EEAEREBFCLEBRT
ZHRERFHNEHREAFS
ZEANE 2B R REF
HEEERESCEKER
BARAEWE - EIEEE
EBERZERKEREL
RER R -



19.

20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group financed through leases of gold from banks
by selling the leased gold through the Shanghai Gold
Exchange (“SGE”). On maturity, the Group would return
gold with the same quantity and specification purchased
through SGE, and pay interests on leases of gold to
banks. The maturity periods are within one to three years.
The Group has engaged in gold forward contracts in
accordance with the quantity, specification and repayment
terms of gold to be returned to banks in the future. The
banks have granted gold leasing financing to the Group
under the same banking facilities arrangement of the
Group's bank borrowings (note 23(a)).

The fair values of the financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss as at 31 December 2017 are
determined based on a valuation performed by an
independent firm of professional valuers with recognised
qualifications and experiences using observable inputs
including gold future price and risk free rates. These
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss were
fully settled during the year ended 31 December 2018.
During the year, fair value gain on financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss was HK$1,187,000 (2017: loss
of HK$1,388,000) (note 6(a)).

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's total deposits of
HK$102,519,000 (2017: HK$612,155,000), including non-
current portion and current portion of HK$45,564,000
(2017: HK$47,992,000) and HK$56,955,000 (2017:
HK$564,163,000) respectively, which were held in bank
and financial institutions were pledged as security for bank
and other borrowings facilities granted to the Group (note
23). The interest rate of the pledged deposits ranged from
0.1% to 3.8% (2017: 0.1% to 3.8%) per annum during
the year.

19.

20.

ERERBENFEIRZE
BMeE

AREBREBTAAES  HBEEBB
EEEERGHILEERZRS
) EXFAEa/mEES - RNE
R AEEBRBELLEEER S
BEAHRHEMARNESEER
ntTNEERERNS - HEHA
—EZFR - AEBEARBARKE
BEFRITINELHE « BIRME
BIERFTELRBAD - R17E
BEAEERITERNOBRIRITE
BERmASERIESHERE
(Fft3E 23(@a)) °

AN-_E—+F+_A=+—HiEB
B AFTEIEZ emEBEAT
BNREEERAUEL MRS
VEEGHEREFERTEENEA
R (BREcHEERRERR
FR)VETHEEMETE - 258
BETEATEIEZCRAEDE
REE-_Z—N\F+=-A=+—8
FEHEANEREE - FR - B
BaE AFEIEZEREaEND
FEWZA1,187,0008 (==
—-t 4 : [F5181,388,0008 7T ) (K
T 6() e

SEAERK
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K& B 77 3K 42 58102,519,000 %
T(=Z & — + % :612,155,000
BIL) BREERDI D KRH
8 5 9 Bl &45,564,0007% jT(—
T — + 4 47,992,000 5T ) &
56,955,000/ o(= T — + F :
564,163,000 7T ) * Z &7 M
RITRSRKERE  CARER
AEEER ZRITEREMERE
E(MisE23) - FREEBERZ
AMENTEF01%E38% (-
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT 21. BERIBITERREFE

TRUST BANK BALANCES EERITHER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHEIT
Cash at banks RITER 80,362 141,721
Cash in hand Be 609 318
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTH R 80,971 142,039
Less: Restricted deposits in W IERITEHBP A
the bank balances XRHE® (32,972) —
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 47,999 142,039
Client trust bank balances RPEEARITES 2,947 4,032
50,946 146,071
Restricted deposits are as follows: RGN EEESHMNT
2018 2017
—B-N\E —TtF
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
Deposits paid for land reclamation T ih#EZERES (a) 23,695 —
Deposits paid for environmental
governance RIBREBRESR (a) 9,277 —
32,972 —
(@) Restricted deposits are included in the bank balances. (a) XBEHMERELHRERLE

ERITHEHTD ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT

TRUST BANK BALANCES (continued)

The Group maintains trust and segregated accounts with
authorised financial institutions to hold clients’ deposits
arising from securities brokerage business transactions.
The Group has classified the clients’ deposits as client trust
bank balances in the current assets and recognised the
corresponding trade payables to the respective clients in
the current liabilities, on the grounds that the Group is
liable for any misappropriation of the respective clients’
deposits as stipulated under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO"). The Group is not allowed to
use the clients” monies to settle its own obligations under
the SFO. As such, these monies are not included in cash
and cash equivalents of the Group for cash flow purposes
in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The interest rates on cash at banks ranged from 0.1% to
0.4% (2017: 0.1% to 0.4%) per annum during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$69,976,000 (2017:HK$74,667,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

21.

ﬁﬁgﬂﬁ%ﬁ&%ﬁ%
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RBEHRR AEBEUARK
AEEMNNRERBRITEHR B
69,976,000 T(=Z T — + F:
74,667,000/ 70) - ARKAAH
MEBRAEMENR - A - BEF
5 A0 b, ) O P 5 T (R D) K A B - B
[ERMEEERTE  AEEABBE
B EITIMNE X RIRTTIEARE
HBEMER o

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER



216

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, AND 22. BAERRREMENRK
CONTRACT LIABILITIES B REEAR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$°000 HK$000
B aE FET FET
Trade payables FETBRR (a) to () 173,572 156,568
Accrued charges and TERERA KX
other payables H fth fE A 3018 @ = (0 541,010 518,006
Financial liabilities measured ~ #Z## §pk A5t &
at amortised cost ZEmaE 714,582 674,574
Receipts in advance TR R K 37,014 64,541
751,596 739,115
Contract liabilities aRAE 29,237
As detailed in note 3 to the consolidated financial FANER & B 75 R Y 5 3 P bR -
statements, upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, receipts IR BB S LERIE 155
in advance from customers of HK$35,458,000 as at 1 B —_E—NF—A—HzHENK
January 2018 were restated as contract liabilities. As at % P BR 3% 35,458,000/8 L B 5| A
31 December 2018, the remaining balance of receipts in ERBE -R_T—-NF+A
advance represents mainly government grants received in =+—H EREFHBREEERES
advance. BT # Bl 2 TEULBR SR ©
(a) Trade payables (a) FE{SERRX
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Note HK$000 HK$000
B aE FET FET
Trade payables under SBEFAKEBT
the Gold Mining Z e ARER
Operation (b) 170,570 152,288
Trade payables under ERURBEB T Z
the Financial JE T BR R
Services Operation (@) 3,002 4,280
173,572 156,568
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, AND

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Trade payables under the Gold Mining

(©

Operation

The ageing analysis of trade payables under the Gold
Mining Operation based on invoice date at the end
of the reporting period is as follows:

PR=MEA
8 =1{E A

BOR—F
B —F

Less than three months

More than three months
but less than one year

More than one year

Trade payables under the Financial
Services Operation

Trade payables from EHBILER
securities brokerage business: FERTRRAR :
— Cash clients —-BEEP
~ Clearing house in HK —(RNBEBZEEM

The settlement terms of trade payables from
securities brokerage business are two days after
the trade date. Trade payables to cash clients also
include those payables placed in trust and segregated
accounts with authorised institutions. No ageing
analysis is disclosed as the ageing analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of these
trade payables.

15

22. BRI REMENTR
 REREE®E)

(b) EWHAKREH T RN

TA

TREMBERREZRZAHZ
BRER DTN ¢

2018 2017
—2-N\F T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
16,104 86,362
27,032 59,799
127,434 6,127
170,570 152,288
() TRIBRBEEBTEMNER
34
2018 2017
—8-0\E T +F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEr
2,952 4,280
50 —
3,002 4,280

BRI ET Z RN RN Z
BRHRZXSHAEMA - &
NREXPEATEBIET R
RABAEE ZBILEERP
Z SRR o R F AT
RR2EE  RikOoT T2
REBEINMEE - FL I EI
BRRE AT

ERAFEEERA T
—E-NEEFH
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

23. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 23. BITREMER

RZE-N\E+-_A=+t—H K
SEERATRITREMER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had bank and other

218

borrowings as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
Note HK$000 HK$°000
B 5 FET FET
Secured bank and other BIRHIRTT
borrowings HMER (a) 1,909,511 2,269,478
Unsecured bank and AR 1T
other borrowings HuEH (b) 1,238,147 1,075,563
Loans from related parties EANTER
— Shareholder loans - BEEX 35(a)(v) 101,533 —
— Other related loans - HihEAm E 35(a)(i) — 300,000
Total et 3,249,191 3,645,041
Carrying amounts repayable: AERFIRRMEE -
Within 1 year or on demand —FE R EEK 2,231,387 2,071,096
After 1 year but within 2 years —F A EEMFLAA 248,054 761,610
After 2 years but within 5 years MELEBRFUA 769,750 721,898
After 5 years FFELAE — 90,437
3,249,191 3,645,041
Less: Current portion B BNERES o (2,231,387) (2,071,096)
Non-current portion JEENERER 1,017,804 1,573,945
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

23. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(@

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group’s
secured bank and other borrowings and the financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss were
secured by the pledge of the Group’s assets and share
charge of certain subsidiaries of the Group (note 28)
and guarantees given by certain subsidiaries of the
Group and the Company, certain executive directors
and ex-executive directors of the Company and senior
management staff of subsidiaries and related parties
(notes 35(a)ii) to (iii)).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's unsecured
bank and other borrowings of HK$106 million
(2017: HK$180 million) were guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries and the Company, certain executive
directors of the Company and one (2017: one)
senior management staff of one (2017: one)
subsidiary (note 35(a)(ii) and (iii)). Save as disclosed
above, the remaining balance at 31 December 2018
and 2017 was unsecured and unguaranteed.

The range of effective interest rates on the Group’s
fixed rate and variable rate of the bank and other
borrowings are 5% to 24% (2017: 4% to 15%) and
8% t0 12% (2017: 6% to 9%) respectively.

23. $R7

(a)

(b)

(o)

TREMER @)

RZE-NFERZZTE—LF
+ZA=+—H ' KEBEEK
HIETREMER KB RER
BRAFEIRZEHABEDS
BERAREEEERAEES
T BB A B &9 AR A0 3 52 (B 5%
)ARANEEETHERFR
RARRQTE) - ARa)/ETHITE
ERAIERITESULMBA
AR EEE 8 T Kk (it
¥ 35(a)(i) Z (i) 1 HH 2 FE R PR
B o

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—
H  AEBEZE&ERRITR
HEZRI066EEBT(ZT
—tF:180BEB L) AR
THBRBRARA - AR
AAETHITESUR—HE(Z
T—+F: —MWHBARZ
—H(ZE—EF: —HA)®
&R A B R FE35()
(i ZE (i) o B E X T &
EWN R ZE-NFEER_ZF
—+tF+-_A=1+—8B8H
BRI BB IR R EER -

A& E B E R X R F B FI &
RITREMERZ BEEF X
HEDA A% E24%(—F
—+tF 4% E15%) &8%
ENB(ZE—F+F 6% %
9%) °

EREAEEBARAA
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e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The 2016 Convertible Bonds

“E-AETHRRES

At 1 January 2017

Interest expense charged to
consolidated income
statement (note 6(a))

Interest paid

Fair value gain (note 6(a))

At 31 December 2017

At 1 January 2018

Interest expense charged to
consolidated income
statement (note 6(a))

Interest paid

Extinguishment upon the
completion of the 2018
Convertible Bonds
Restructure (note (i)

At 31 December 2018

Representing:
At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017
Current liabilities

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2018

24, " R{E S

Liability
component Derivatives Total
aESs fTETR Mgt
HKS$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
NZE—+F—H—H 368,308 30,830 399,138
FAGENEE
2 EHZ (FiFE6()
44,431 — 44,431
BERFE (27,279) — (27,279
NFEYE (FE6@) — (30,830) (30,830)
RZE—tF+=ZA=+—H 385,460 — 385,460
R-_Z—\&E—HF—H 385,460 — 385,460
SEAGAKER
ZFBRE (FiiEe(a))
4,180 — 4,180
BERFE (2,728) — (2,728)
ZE-N\FrRRES
BHRFTREESE (BEE0)
(386,912) — (386,912)
RZE-N\E+=-F=+—H — — —
%
RZE-NF+-_A=+—H — — —
RZE—+F+-A=+—H
mEAE 385,460 — 385,460




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 24, "BRAE SR (@)
Liability
The 2018 Convertible Bonds component Derivatives Total
—E-N\FUHRRES &R fTET A st

HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET

At 2 February 2018 (note (i) R=Z—N\F=F =B (KzEq)) 320,394 37,854 358,248
Interest expense charged to st AfRA MzE &

consolidated ZF B (KE6))

income statement

(note 6(a)) 22,808 — 22,808
Interest paid BEASFI & (13,256) — (13,256)
Fair value gain (note 6(a))  AF{EWE (M 6(a)) — (37,638) (37,638)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-\F+-A=+—H 329,946 216 330,162
Representing: 1
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+-A=+—H

Current liabilities mEBE 329,946 216 330,162

EREAEEBARAA 291
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mEMBEHRME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)
24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 24. FARES (&)
Notes: BifaE
(i)  Loss on the 2018 Convertible (i) =B-N\E Cash paid
Bonds Restructure ARKES  Carrying for the Loss on the
BEACER amount 2018  Fair value 2018
of the 2016 Convertible of the 2018 Convertible
Convertible Bonds Convertible Bonds
Bonds Restructure Bonds Restructure
(Note (ii)) (Note 6(a))
“E-N\%
“E-RE THBREF —F-N\Ff ZB-N\%§
ARRES EfvE WHEkES TRRES
ZEEEE ek ZATE EBEAZER
(=L (i) (MEE6(a))
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET TET
Liability components BEHD R
and derivatives PTETIAR 386,912 83,421 358,248 (54,757)
(i) Cash paid for the 2018 (i) —E-NFUEREFEHAZHENE
Convertible Bonds HK$000
Restructure: FEx
Cash payment ReRAa 75,251
Transaction costs RBA 8,170
Total cash outflow included in HAGRERERERY
consolidated statement of Remntas

cash flows 83,421
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a)

On 4 February 2013, the Company issued the
convertible bonds with the principal amount of
HK$1,028 million which charged interest at 7.25%
per annum with maturity date on 4 February 2018
(the "2013 Convertible Bonds”). On 5 February
2013, the 2013 Convertible Bonds were listed
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited. The 2013 Convertible Bonds entitled the
bondholders to convert the 2013 Convertible Bonds
into ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion
price of HK$1.8125 per share at any time on or
after 17 March 2013 up to the close of business
on the date falling ten days prior to the maturity
date on 4 February 2018. The bondholders had the
right to require the Company to redeem the 2013
Convertible Bonds on 4 February 2016 at its principal
amount together with accrued unpaid interest (the
“Put Option”). In 2016, the Company made the
convertible bonds restructure (the “2016 Convertible
Bonds Restructure”) that included extinguishment
of the bondholders’ rights on the Put Option and
amendment to the existing terms and conditions of
the 2013 Convertible Bonds. On 16 March 2016, the
2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure was completed
and the Company issued and allotted approximately
1,176 million new ordinary shares of the Company
and paid the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$361 million to the bondholders.
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The key amendments to other existing terms and
conditions of the 2013 Convertible Bonds under
the 2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure (the “2016
Convertible Bonds”) include a reduction in the
conversion price to HK$0.4283 per share and a
reset to the conversion price on each of 4 August
2016 and 4 February 2017. If the volume weighted
average price during a period of 20 consecutive
trading days immediately prior to each date thereto
is less than the conversion price prevailing on the
last day of such period, the conversion price shall
be reset, subject to a minimum reset price equal to
HK$0.25 (“Conversion Price Reset”). Modification
is made to the redemption right at the option
of the Company. Save as disclosed as above, the
2016 Convertible Bonds were charged interest rate
at 7.25% per annum and would be mature on 4
February 2018 that were kept unchanged with
these terms of the 2013 Convertible Bonds. The
conversion price of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
was adjusted from HK$0.4283 to HK$0.26 and
further adjusted to HK$0.25 under the Conversion
Price Reset on 4 August 2016 and 4 February 2017
respectively. At 31 December 2017, the outstanding
principal amount of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds was approximately HK$376 million.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(b)

During the year, the Company through an
independent consent solicitation agent, Daiwa
Capital Markets HongKong Limited, invited
bondholders to consider amendment to the existing
terms and conditions of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
(the “2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure”). The key
amendments to the existing terms and conditions
of the 2016 Convertible Bonds under the 2018
Convertible Bonds Restructure include: (a) a cash
redemption amount of HK$131,099 per each bond
with principal amount of HK$1,000,000 to each
bondholder in addition to the HK$350,000 per
HK$ 1,000,000 principal amount paid on 16 March
2016 under 2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure
(the “Principal Paydown Amount”) plus an amount
equal to 20% of the accrued interest to be paid
on the completion date of the 2018 Convertible
Bonds Restructure; (b) extension of the maturity of
the 2016 Convertible Bonds together with accrued
and unpaid interest thereon to 4 August 2019; (c)
modification to the redemption right at the option of
the Company, whereby: (i) the Company may at any
time on or after 4 October 2018 to, and including 4
November 2018 (the “Optional Redemption Date”),
redeem all, but not some only, of the bonds on
the payment business day specified in the optional
redemption notice as being the Optional Redemption
Date at their outstanding principal amount together
with accrued but unpaid interest to such date; (ii) if
the Company issues an optional redemption notice,
each bondholder will have the right to elect that all
or some only of such holder’s convertible bond(s)
(subject to partial redemption at the amount equal
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

to HK$362,271.85 (the “Partial Redemption
Amount”) per each bond) shall not be redeemed
(such bonds in respect of which such election is
made) (the”Retained Bonds"); (iii) on the Optional
Redemption Date, all Retained Bonds will be partially
redeemed at the Partial Redemption Amount,
whereupon the outstanding principal amount of
such Retained Bond shall be reduced by the Partial
Redemption Amount for all purposes; (iv) on the
Optional Redemption Date, all convertible bonds
other than Retained Bonds shall be redeemed in
full by the Company at their outstanding amount
together with accrued but unpaid interest to such
date; and (v) removal of the Company’s existing right
to early redemption exercisable after 4 February 2017
under the 2016 Convertible Bonds; (d) modification
of the interest rate whereby the convertible bonds
bear interest from and including 4 February 2013
but excluding 4 February 2018 at the rate of 7.25%
per annum and thereafter at 8.5% per annum, and
in the event that the Company does not issue the
Optional Redemption Notice, the interest rate shall
increase to 11% per annum with effect from and
including 4 November 2018; (e) modification to the
conversion period so that the conversion right in
respect of a convertible bond may only be exercised
at the option of the bondholder at any time on
or after 5 November 2018; (f) reduction in the
conversion price to HK$0.0618; and (g) removal of
Conversion Price Reset provision in the existing terms
and conditions of the 2016 Convertible Bonds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure was
approved by a written resolution of the bondholders
and by the shareholders at the Company’s special
general meeting on 5 January 2018 and 31
January 2018 respectively. On 2 February 2018, the
Company completed the 2018 Convertible Bonds
Restructure and paid the Principal Paydown Amount
of approximately HK$75 million plus 20% of the
accrued interest of approximately HK$3 million
in an aggregate amount of approximately HK$78
million to the bondholders. The total outstanding
principal amount of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
of approximately HK$376 million reduced to
approximately HK$312 million at 2 February 2018
and will be repayable on 4 August 2019. Details
of the 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure are set
out in the Company’s circular on 15 January 2018
and the Company’s announcements between 21
December 2017 and 2 February 2018.
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The amendments to the terms and conditions of the
2016 Convertible Bonds under the 2018 Convertible
Bonds Restructure are considered to be substantial
modification of terms and conditions of the 2016
Convertible Bonds. Accordingly, the 2016 Convertible
Bonds have been accounted for as extinguishment and
the 2018 Convertible Bonds have been recognised
upon the completion of the 2018 Convertible Bonds
Restructure on 2 February 2018. The Group recognised
a loss of the 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure of
HK$54,757,000 during the reporting period, which
was mainly arisen from the difference between the
conversion price of the 2018 Convertible Bonds of
HK$0.0618 and the share price of the Company of
HK$0.071 at the date of completion of the 2018
Convertible Bonds Restructure. The Group recognised
the liability component and derivatives of the 2018
Convertible Bonds on 2 February 2018 which were
determined based on the valuations performed by an
independent firm of professional valuers with recognised
qualifications and experiences using average market
interest rate for bonds with similar credit rating and
industry and Binomial option pricing model, respectively.
The effective interest rate of the liability component is
8% per annum. The derivatives of the 2018 Convertible
Bonds include the option of the bondholders to convert
the 2018 Convertible Bonds into the Company’s
ordinary shares and the option of the Company to
redeem the 2018 Convertible Bonds. Both options are
interdependent.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/ T3/~

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(0)

The conversion price of the 2018 Convertible Bonds
was adjusted from HK$0.0618 to HK$1.236 for
the Share Consolidation with effect from 28 May
2018 (note 26(b)(iii)). The conversion price of the
2018 Convertible Bonds was further adjusted from
HK$1.236 to HK$0.8144 for the Rights Issue (as
defined and further detailed in note 26(b)(iv)) with
effect from 27 August 2018, the first date on which
the Company's shares in issue were traded on ex-
rights. Details of the adjustments of the conversion
price of the 2018 Convertible Bonds are set out in
the Company’ s announcements on 28 May 2018
and 27 August 2018.

During the year, none of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
and the 2018 Convertible Bonds were exercised.
The 2016 Convertible Bonds and 2018 Convertible
Bonds were listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. At 31 December 2018,
the outstanding principal amount of the 2018
Convertible Bonds was approximately HK$312
million.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(d)

At 2 February 2018 and 31 December 2018, the fair
values of derivatives of the 2018 Convertible Bonds
were determined based on the valuation performed
by an independent firm of professional valuers with
recognised qualifications and experiences using
Binomial option pricing model. The derivatives of
the 2018 Convertible Bonds represent the option
of the bondholders to convert the 2018 Convertible
Bonds into the Company’s ordinary shares. Fair
value gain on derivative financial instruments of
the 2018 Convertible Bonds of HK$37,638,000
was recognised during the year. The following
assumptions are used to calculate the respective fair
values of the derivatives:

Share price (HK$) REGET)
Conversion price (HK$) H]MECET)

Expected remaining life of
FH(F)
TEARRE B (%)
B K (%)
TEAARR B (%)
BAIR R (%)

the convertible bonds (years)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk free rate (%)
Expected dividend yield (%)
Discount rate (%)

* Adjusted for the Share Consolidation and Rights Issue
with effect from 28 May 2018 and 27 August 2018,
respectively.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A T3 + Br 5 E FrE5h)

25. DEFERRED TAX
(a) Deferred tax liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and the movements during the year are as follows:

Jﬂiﬁlﬁ
(a) 2 ERIE L*RIE% f

FARGETBMRRXMER
ZELEBHEEERY REE
BT

Depreciation
allowance in
excess of
related
depreciation
Intangible RERK
assets BiE Others Total
BYEE  WENLE Hth o
Note HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
ik TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2017 RZE—tF-F—H 527,978 18,405 30,737 577,120
Exchange adjustments [ 3% 1% 39,282 1,820 1822 42,924
Acquisition of subsidiaries (it & 2 & (f13 32)
(note 32) — — 38 38
(Credited)/charged REABERGIA)/ Nk
to consolidated
income statement 7(a) (17,019) 11,838 (210) (5,391)
At31 December 2017 RZZ—+F
+-A=+-H 550,241 32,063 32,387 614,691
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-\5—-A—-H 550,241 32,063 32,387 614,691
Exchange adjustments [ % F1% (27,503) (2.233) (1,323) (31,059)
(Credited)/charged MRABRRGEA) /1
to consolidated
income statement 7(a) (12,905) 23,515 (14,015) (3,405)
At31 December 2018 RZT—-N\F
+=R=1-H 509,833 53,345 17,049 580,227

EREAEERERA
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities not

recognised

As at 31 December 2018, temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of the Group's
PRC subsidiaries of approximately to HK$1,636
million (2017: HK$1,721 million) and the related
deferred tax liabilities of approximately HK$164
million (2017: HK$172 million) have not been
recognised in these financial statements. In the
opinion of the Company’s directors, the Group
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries
and it has been determined that it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute profits in the
foreseeable future.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2018, the
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$19 million (2017: HK$19 million)
as it is not probable that future taxable profits
against which the losses can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
The tax losses of the Group do not expire under
current tax legislation.

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the reporting period are set out below:

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

25, IREBLIE (&)

(b) RERELRBEER
=K

RZE—-N\F+—ZA=+—
H BRANSEEPEKNEB
RAIZ AP IR EF 2 G =
BEHRE1636BEEL(ZE
—+E 1721 EEBT)
MmABEELEHIEEEL 1648
gFT(ZE—tF:1728
BETT) AR EMBERE
BR - ARBIEERE A%
B2 EWNB AR ZREK
R WRABNRATERRRKZSE
MEBARBAIREETE D IKiE
F o

BREXHIEEEN RZF
—NF+_A=+—H8B" K
EERERRANEBEEHBR
AR EEBEENI9BEEE T
—E—+tF19HEBT)
ZIELERBEE  RAARKE
BRI AR REEAA
BEBE M AR EZSE
BIZARERB SR - KN&E
B HIEEEREE S
SEBIE & BIH o

26. RAK & E

REBR AR HEREE DR E
HERBERZHREN G AR
R o AR EERSEKI DR
BERVERERZEHFBOT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 26. BA R #E®)

(a) The Company (a) &2
Share Share Contributed Gpital ~ Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve losses Total
e RRE BdEs EXGE 2iEE 5
HS000 HS 000 HS000 #5000 #5000 HS 000
FAT 7ET 7ET 7ET 7ET FAT
(note(¢)
fotelt)  fhotes ) &0)  frote @40 i
() (o)
() Kt kow (o)
At1 January 2018 W-E-NE-F-A 1,731,240 - 5,611,589 95,511 (1,667,000 5111340
Changes in equity for 2018 25 \FoRESD:
Total comprehensiie EReEEREE

loss for the year - - - - (198,678) (198,678)
Captta reorganisation (note (o)) EREA(F b)) (1,667,750) - 1,667,750 - - -
st of new shares under BERHRERTIRA

share pladng note (o)) (B3 ol 13895 144,508 = = - 158,403
Transaction costs for iste of BERHRERTHRN

New shres Under SRR (bli)

share placing (note (o)) - (3,126) - - - (3,126)
st of new shares uncder BERRETIRG

Rights sue (note (5] (E3E o) 500,307 600,369 = = - 1,100,676
Transaction costs or iste REMREROE

of new shares under Rights ke R (b))

(note o)) - (13,088) - - - (13,088)
Lapse of share options ElERH = = = (65,163) 65,163 =
At31 December 2018 RZ8-NE+2f=1-8 583,692 728,663 1219339 3034 (1,800515) 6821521
At1 January 2017 WoE-tE-5-A 1,737,240 5,611,589 - 210429 (1,603,635) 595,623
Changes in equity for 2017: “3-tE7RERY.

Totel comprehensie ERREERE

loss for the year = = = = (178,283) (178,283)
Transferof sare premiumaccount.~—~~ RAEREEES RS

to contriouted surplus - (5611,589) 5,611,589 - = -
Lapse of share options ElkiEx = - - (114918) 114918 =
At 31 December 2017 W-5-tE+ZA=1-R 1,737,240 - 5,611,589 95511 (1,667,000) 5177340
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26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b). SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised: EERK
Ordinary shares of HK$0.125 each SREE125ETERR
At 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—-A—H
Increased during the year FREM
At 31 December 2017 and RZZ—tF+-A=1—H
1 January 2018 R=T-\F-HA—H
Capital Reorganisation RAEH
Share Consolidation Bin &bt
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each B afiE s BREE
after Share Consolidation 0.1 BT EEMRK
Increased during the year EWE?JD
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each RZF-N\$+-A=1+—H
at 31 December 2018 ZERmE.1 BT EEMR
Ordinary shares issued ERTRARLER :
and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.125 each RZE—+t5—-A—-H"
at 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 —Z—+F+-A=+—H

and 1 January 2018 RZE-\F-A—-B2
BREE0.125ETERR
Capital Reorganisation RAEH
Ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each BRAER%R BREE
after the Capital Reorganisation 0.005 & T E @K
Issue of new shares under BREROEEBTHRG

share placing

Share Consolidation W& B
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each B EfE s BREE
after the Share Consolidation 0.1 /8T L BAR

Issue of new shares under Rights Issue 76?&)219%%%%?%%@

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each RZT-\&+=-A=1+—~H
at 31 December 2018 ZEREE AT LB
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(b). IR

Number

of shares

R EE
Note ‘000 HK$'000
Bzt R TART
20,000,000 2,500,000
10,000,000 1,250,000
30,000,000 3,750,000
0] — (3,600,000)

(iif) (28,500,000)
1,500,000 150,000
(iv) 8,500,000 850,000
10,000,000 1,000,000
13,897,919 1,737,240
(i) = (1,667,750)
13,897,919 69,490
(i) 2,779,000 13,895
16,676,919 83,385
(iif) (15,843,073) =
833,846 83,385
(iv) 5,003,075 500,307
5,836,921 583,692
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26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b). SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

0

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary
meeting by the Company’s shareholders on 27 November
2017, the Company has taken the following events:

—  cancellation of the entire amount standing to
the credit of the share premium account of the
Company of approximately HK$5,611,589,000 and
to transfer the credit arising from such cancellation
to an account designated as the contributed surplus
account of the Company before the change of
domicile becoming effective on 12 December 2017,

— change the domicile of the Company from the
Cayman Islands to Bermuda by way of de-registration
in the Cayman Islands and continuation as an
exempted company under the laws of Bermuda with
effect from 12 December 2017; and

—  implemented the capital reorganisation (the “Capital
Reorganisation”) after the change of domicile
becoming effective which comprises the following:
(a) the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced through a cancellation of the paid-up capital
of the Company to the extent of HK$0.12 on each
of the issued existing shares such that the nominal
value of each issued existing share was reduced from
HK$0.125 to HK$0.005; (b) immediately following
the capital reduction taking effect, all the authorised
but unissued share capital of the Company (which
shall include the authorised but unissued share
capital arising from the capital reduction) was
cancelled in its entirety and forthwith upon such
cancellation, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased to HK$150 million by the
creation of such number of additional new shares as
shall be sufficient to increase the authorised share
capital of the Company to HK$150 million divided
into 30,000 million new shares; and (c) the credit
arising in the books of the Company from the capital
reduction was credited to the contributed surplus
account of the Company. The Capital Reorganisation
was completed on 2 January 2018, a credit of
approximately HK$1,667,750,000 arisen from the
capital reduction was transferred from the share
capital account to the contributed surplus account of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b). SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(ii)

Details of the above are set out in the Company's circular
on 2 November 2017 and the Company’s announcements
on 12 October 2017, 27 November 2017, 12 December
2017 and 2 January 2018.

On 17 January 2018, the Company entered into
a placing agreement with an independent placing
agent whereby the Company conditionally agreed
to place, through the placing agent, on best effort
basis, up to 2,779,000,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company at the subscription price of HK$0.057
per share. On 1 February 2018, the Company issued
and allotted 2,779,000,000 new ordinary shares
of the Company with net proceeds approximately
HK$155,277,000 after deducting issuing expenses
HK$3,126,000. All new ordinary shares issued and
allotted rank pari passu in all respects with the then
existing ordinary shares of the Company in issue.
Details are set out in the Company’s announcements
on 17 January 2018 and 1 February 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b). SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(iii)

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the special general
meeting by the Company’s shareholders on 25 May
2018, every twenty issued and unissued shares of the
Company of a par value HK$0.005 each in the share
capital of the Company were consolidated into one
share of the Company of a par value HK$0.1 each
(the “Share Consolidation”) with effect from 28 May
2018. The number of the authorised ordinary shares
of the Company was reduced from 30,000,000,000
to 1,500,000,000 and the number of issued
ordinary shares was reduced from 16,676,918,800
to 833,845,940 upon the completion of the Share
Consolidation. The consolidated shares rank pari
passu in all respects with each other. Details are set
out in the Company’s announcements on 10 April
2018 and 25 May 2018 and the Company’s circular
on 4 May 2018.

26. AR wHfE(E)
(b). B (&)

(iii)

BEARAFTRRIRR=ZZT—N
FRAZ_+HABHAERES
AIRE L@EBH—BRRE
R ARABRAFRE=Z
MKEREE0.0058 T2
NABBETRRETRG A
HE—REREE.1ET
mARARMD ( [RHE
#l) BZE-N\ERA
ZHNBEBER - REMKR
MmeaptE  XREEELR
A% B #330,000,000,0008%
B ZE1,500,000,0000% -
MEFETERKREE A A
16,676,918,800 8 L &
833,845,9400% - A HIR
FETEREE=ZERERE
&= o FBENART AT
E-NFEATEE=ZZE—N
FRA-+RBZAHUREAR
NRHEAZZE—N\FHAN
HZBHA °

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER

237



238

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b). SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(iv)

On 21 June 2018, the Company entered into
an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting
Agreement”) with certain underwriters for the
proposed rights issue of not less than 5,003,075,640
rights shares and not more than 5,045,075,640 rights
shares (the “Rights Share(s)”) at the subscription
price of HK$0.22 per each Rights Share on the basis
of 6 Rights Shares for 1 existing issued share of
the Company (the “Rights Issue”). The aggregate
subscription price for the Rights Issue will be not less
than approximately HK$1,101 million and not more
than approximately HK$1,110 million. Pursuant to
the Underwriting Agreement, the underwriters have
undertaken to the Company to fully underwrite the
Rights Shares and certain underwriters will set off the
aggregate subscription price payable by the relevant
underwriters to the Company for subscription
of the Rights Shares which are not taken up by
the qualifying shareholders of the Company (the
“Untaken Shares”) pursuant to the Underwriting
Agreement against part of the underwriters’
loans, including the Loans of the Incoming
Lenders (note 35(a)(i)), owed by the Company
to the respective underwriter (the “Set-off”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b). SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(iv)

(continued)

The estimated net cash proceeds from the Rights
Issue (taking into account the effect of the Set-
Off and deducting the related expenses for the
Rights Issue) will be not less than approximately
HK$326 million and not more than approximately
HK$1,096 million. In order for the Company to allot
and issue the Rights Shares proposed under the
Rights Issue and to provide the flexibility for future
development, the Company increased its authorised
share capital from HK$150,000,000 divided into
1,500,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each to
HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each by the creation of
an additional 8,500,000,000 new ordinary shares
(the “Increase Authorised Share Capital”), all of
which will rank pari passu with all existing ordinary
shares of the Company in all respects. The Rights
Issue and the Increase Authorised Share Capital have
been approved by the shareholders of the Company
at the Company’s special general meeting on 23
August 2018 and the Increase Authorised Share
Capital was effective from 23 August 2018. At 27
September 2018, the Rights Issue transaction for
5,003,075,640 Rights Shares with net cash proceeds
of approximately HK$326 million (taking into
account the effect of the Set-off of approximately
HK$761 million and deducting the related expenses
for the Rights Issue of approximately HK$13 million)
has completed. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcements between 21 June 2018 and 26
September 2018 and its circular and prospectus on 3
August 2018 and 4 September 2018 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ir)

(itf)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the transfer
of the credit arising from the cancellation of
share premium of the Company (note 26(b)(i)).
The contributed surplus is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the
Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(r)(ii). Details of the share
option schemes of the Company are disclosed
in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises the exchange
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the Group’s operations
outside Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

26. AR wHfE(E)
(c) REBEHEERAR®E)
SEEEE

(iv) ~ Statutory reserves (iv)

Statutory surplus reserves

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer 10% of their net profit,
as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of their registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution
of a dividend to shareholders.

HEE B G
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Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make EERERFEE A BIER
good previous years' losses, if any, and may HWATEFE 2 BB

be converted into share capital by the issue of
new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholdings or by increasing the
par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the balance after such issue is
not less than 25% of their registered capital.

Safety production fund

Pursuant to the relevant regulations in the PRC,
the Group's subsidiaries are required to transfer
safety production fund at fixed rates based
on a specific amount of volume of gold ores
excavated to a specific reserve account. The
fund is used for improvements of safety of the
mines and is not available for distribution to the
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

v)

(vi)

Share premium

Under section 34 of the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is available for distribution
to shareholders subject to the provisions of the
Articles of Association of the Company which
was in effect before the change of domicile
becoming effective on 12 December 2017 and
no distribution may be paid to shareholders
out of the share premium account unless,
immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid,
the Company shall be able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 27
November 2017, the change of domicile of the
Company from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda
was approved by the shareholders. The change
of domicile of the Company was subsequently
completed on 12 December 2017. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the funds in
the share premium account of the Company
may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive
income and available-for-sale investments held
at the end of the reporting period and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies
in notes 2(n) and 2(h) (ii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Distributability of reserves (continued)

(e)

At 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount
of reserves available for distribution to owners
of the Company was HK$6,207,487,000 (2017:
HK$3,944,589,000), which included the balances of
contributed surplus, share premium and accumulated
losses, provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.
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26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debts divided by total equity plus net
debts. The Group’s net debts include bank and other
borrowings, financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and convertible bonds, less cash and
bank balances and pledged deposits. The Group's
total equity comprises total issued share capital and
reserves of the Group. The gearing ratio at the end
of the reporting periods is as follows:

Total debts EIHAEEE
Less: Pledged deposits

Cash and bank balance e RIBITHEH
Net debts FEIR
Total equity e
Total equity and net debts R MR EE
Gearing ratio BEEABLE

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher returns to the owners of the
Company that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments
to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions. There were no changes in the
Group's approach to capital management during the
year.

Except for share charge of certain subsidiaries of
which details are set out in note 28, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements during the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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26. AR wHfE(E)

(e) EXEHE(E)
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HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
3,579,137 5,018,945
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7,724,828 7,209,880
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 27. A\ Z B AR OR &
THE COMPANY
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HKS$000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZIKE 7,544,340 7,229,641
Deposit paid for fixed assets ~ FEEIEEEHES 3,162 3,162
Total non-current assets IRBEELRE 7,547,502 7,232,803
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due JE U B B A B F0E 661,970 282,892
from subsidiaries
Other receivables, deposits HEMEWEIE - Zek
and prepayments TEfTRIE 16,159 17,504
Cash and bank balance B& NMIRTT4E R 484 53,698
Total current assets REEEH#ATE 678,613 354,094
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETB B A Bl B 251,143 298,527
Other payables F At &~ FRIE 73,197 64,834
Bank and other borrowings RITNEMER 28,359 54,782
Derivative financial PTESMITA
instruments 216 —
Convertible bonds AR E S 329,946 385,460
Total current liabilities REBEEHEEE 682,861 803,603
Net current liabilities REBERE (4,248) (449,509)
Total assets less HWEERARBERE
current liabilities 7,543,254 6,783,294
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 27. KRATF 2B RRFTE)
THE COMPANY (continued)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HKS$000 HK$ 000
BT FHET FET
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMER 721,727 1,005,954
Total non-current liabilities EFRBEEARE 721,727 1,005,954
NET ASSETS BEFE 6,821,527 5,777,340
CAPITAL AND RESERVES AR 18
Share capital N 26 583,692 1,737,240
Reserves G 6,237,835 4,040,100
TOTAL EQUITY RKRDREEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO i
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 6,821,527 5,777,340

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of REFGN _T-NF=AZtILBE%

directors on 29 March 2019. EWFFRAI B o
Mr. Yi Shuhuo Mr. Zhang Lirui
SRERE RAUSH £
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Executive Director
FTERITEAAZ HITEEF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

28. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's assets with the
following carrying amounts were pledged to secure bank
and other borrowings (note 23(a)) (2017: bank and other
borrowings and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (note 19(b))):

28. EEIKH

R-ZZE—-—N\F+-A=+—H =K
SENTERMEZEECARER
RITREMER(MFE230)(=ZF
—tF  BITREMERKBERE
=EATEIE e/ A E(ME

19(b)))

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P aE FET FET
Intangible assets — mining rights & & — SRAE#E 12(a) 5,592,650 2,174,843
Fixed assets & & & 13 761,837 816,326

Financial assets at fair value through#Zz A BT A E M2 H
other comprehensive income WAZEREE 15 280,166 —
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE 15 — 251,958
Pledged deposits EHEAER 20 102,519 612,155
6,737,172 3,855,282

Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, all
issued shares of three (2017: six), 49% issued shares of
one (2017:nil) and 51% issued shares of two (2017:nil)
subsidiaries of the Company were subject to share
charge as security pledged for the Group's bank and
other borrowings (note 23(a)) (2017: bank and other
borrowings and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (note 19)).

BElEE R NF+=
A=+—H ARR=ZM(ZE
—tF: AHENBATZHABER
BIRD —HEKBARCCZE
—+tF  T)Z49% EEHTRD K
MEHBAG(—E—+F: T)
Z51% E&EITRNHE BIERAEE
RITREMER(MHF23@)(ZF
—tF  RITREMERARER
BaZATEIIRzemaE (M
F£19)) Z R pHE IR -

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

29. SUBSIDIARIES 29. B AA
(@)  The following list contains only the particulars of the (@ THREIHFAEER_-ZF
principal subsidiaries of the Group at 31 December —N\F+A=+—HBz=*x
2018. The class of shares of those subsidiaries which EMBARIZER - BREE
were incorporated outside the PRC held is ordinary HIBASN - FTRFZ SRR EIR
unless otherwise stated. HNTEA A SZ 2 BT A B IR (D

BRI R E A o

Proportion of ownership interest

BRERLLA
Issued and

Place of fully paid-up Group's Held Held

incorporation/ share capital/ effective by the bya
operations registered capital interest Company  subsidiary Principal
Name of Company AR/ BETRAR 550 HALE H-KE activities
AER Tend Ra/EREs BRER 52} AABE IERH

% % %
China Precious Metal BVIHong Kong Us$2 100 100 - Investment
Resources Co,, Limited ~ KERKEES/A% I3 holding
TEELBARARAA REER
Able Supplement Limited BVIHong Kong S$50,000 100 - 100 Investment
RERAEE/ER 50,000%7T holding
RERK
Decent Connection Overseas  BVI/Hong Kong U5$50,000 100 - 100 Investment
Limited RERUEE/ER 50,000 %7 holding
RERR
Wah Heen Holdings Limited  BV/Hong Kong US$10,000 100 - 100 Investment
EEARERLT RERLEE/ER 10,000%7 holding
REER
Sinowise Century Limited BVIHong Kong Us$! 100 - 100 Investment
ABRaBE/B E7 holding
RERR
Munsun Asset Management ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 —  Asset management and
(Asia) Limited 5 10,000,000 advisory service
RREEER(TH)RRAA EEEE AR
Munsun Securities Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$95,140,000 100 100 —  Securities brokerage
REEFRRAA B 95,140,000 %7 EHIL
Hongkong Realking Hong Kong HK$50,000 100 - 100 Investment
Mining Industry Ltd. B 50,0007 holding
BEREBREARAA RERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

29. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@) (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
operations
Name of Company iR/
AIER Teny
Hongkong T&R Mining Hong Kong
Investment Limited Bk
BARRBEREARAT
Kong Chun Hong Kong Hong Kong
Limited Bk
BREBARAT

Fast Trend Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong

LRREARAA 30

Chifeng Yongfeng Kuangye ~ The PRC

Co., Ltd. (note (i) i

TEXEREARES
AR (BE)

Luanchuan County The PRC
Jining Mining Co, Ltd.
(note (i)

R geRBFEREL
A7 (BE)

Luanchuan County The PRC
Luanling Gold Mine hE

Co., Ltd. (note (i)
8| Z2EeRAR AR
(B (i)

Issued and

fully paid-up/
registered capital
BRARME/
iAhEx

HK$10,000
10,0007

HK$1,000
1,000/7

HK$1
1T

RMB40,820,000
AR 40,820,000

RIMB122,450,000
AR 122,450,007

RMB102,050,000
AREH102,050,0007

29. KB 2B (&)
(@) (&)

Proportion of ownership interest
BREERLA

Group's Held Held
effective by the bya
interest Company  subsidiary
KB BE0A B-WE
Ll B8 0ARE
% % %

Principal
activities

IEXH

100 - 100 Investment
holding

REER

Investment
holding
RERR

Investment
holding
REBR

Mining and
processing of gold
ores and sale

of gold products
SRR NIR
EREDHE

100 - 100 Mining and
processing of gold

ores and sale

of gold products

and purchase and sale
of metals and minerals
ERRK NIR
FTEMBER
BEMHECRREE

100 o 100 Mining and
processing of gold
ores and sale

of gold products
SRRK NIR

REMAE

ERAFEEERA T
—E-NEEFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

29. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@) (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

operations
Name of Company iR/
LRER Tend

Mojiang County Mining The PRC
Co,, Lid. (note () i®
BIEBEAREALT
(R0

Pu'er Hengyi Mining Co., Ltd ~ The PRC
(note () s
EREERRARAL
A7) (HE)

Kai Yuan Financial Leasing The PRC
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. note )
SEREEE (M) ARAR
(RizEa)

Shenzhen Munsun Asset The PRC
Management Company
Limited (note (i)

MmEREEERAA

(HtzE(i))

Zhuhai Munsun Asset The PRC
Management Co., Ltd. s[5
(note (i)

KRR AREERARAR

(HizE(i)

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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Issued and

fully paid-up/
registered capital
BRARME/
iAhEx

RMB102,050,000
AEH102,050,000 7T

RMB102,050,000
AEH102,050,0007

RMB150,000,000
AR 150,000,000 7T

RMB17,857,140
ARH 17,857,140

RMB5,000,000
AR5,000,0007

29. B AR ()

(@ (&)
Proportion of ownership interest
BREERLA

Group's Held Held

effective by the bya
interest Company  subsidiary Principal
A%H RN} H-HE activities
BERER KB G IERH

% % %
100 - 100 Mining and
processing of gold
ores and sale
of gold products
LRFER - IR
EREDHE
100 - 100 Mining and
processing of gold
ores and sale
of gold products
SBRR MR
REEMPE
100 - 100 Provision of financing
services
RURERS
100 - 100 Asset management and
advisory service
EECR AR
100 = 100 Investment
holding
REZR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAB AR + Br B A FTHEIN)

29. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@) (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

These subsidiaries established in the PRC are wholly
foreign-owned enterprises.

This subsidiary established in the PRC is limited
liability company.

The English names of all above PRC subsidiaries are
for identification purpose only.

29. MYB R ()

(a) (&)
PisE -
() RPBEKRKIZFEMNER
AYBINEBEERE -
(i) RPBEKZzZHBERARE
BRETAR -
iy AEZBHEHBARZ

RN BRERBIZA -
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30. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities in the PRC
whereby the Group is required to make contributions to
the Schemes at a rate ranging from 13% to 20% (2017:
13% to 20%) of the eligible employees’ salaries. The
local government authorities are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has no obligation for the payment of pension
benefits associated with those schemes beyond the annual
contributions described above.

The total costs charged to consolidated income statement
of HK$8,918,000 (2017: HK$8,211,000) represent
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group
during the year.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2018

30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

8 TRREF

RIEP R 2 B4 TR LR -
RNEEL B R H A A BT
T H B K 37 2 SRR KRR R (R FkGT
EI(TEHEID) - Bt - NEEERGT
ElEHET - 2BUAERESH
& Z13%E20%(—ZF — £ F:
13% £ 20%)T 8 o 7 BT
BEMEKEEZEEIRKSE -

AEETREFEARGELES A
ZED - RIRBERBEOIRET
ZRERIBHELTEEF B8]
BEtE)) wEeHER—(E
HBZEFEAE R 2 EREFURA
FHE - RIBRIESAE  BIRHE
EEHBHTEIFLIZEBMERAK
AZ5% B2 - mMEAE
K2 #H B WA _EBR /30,0008
7T ° st 8- BERHRANRE o

B Dt S ERON - AR E RS S
SRR BENE AR BT -

RiFEERaRANTRZEER
8,918,000/ /t(= T — £ F:
8,211,000 8 L) EASERFA
FEMEZFETEIEL < K -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/ T3/~

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has two share option schemes: the 2004
Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

The 2004 Share Option Scheme was adopted by a
resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on 18
September 2004 whereby the directors of the Company
were authorised, at their discretion, to invite directors
and employees of the Group, to take up options to
subscribe for shares of the Company up to a maximum
of 160,000,000 shares. By a resolution passed by the
Company's shareholders on 26 May 2011, the Company
refreshed the limit in respect of the granting of share
options under the 2004 Share Option Scheme and all
other share options scheme up to 10% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue. The
2004 Share Option Scheme would be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years ended on 17 September 2014. By
a resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on 30
May 2014, the 2004 Share Option Scheme was terminated
and thereafter no further options would be offered or
granted under the 2004 Share Option Scheme. However,
outstanding options granted under the 2004 Share Option
Scheme remain valid and exercisable.

31.

e BRRME

B SHHE)

UREEE CROERR
=

RRBIEMERERENS : —TF
MERBRERT S R — T - FER

fEstEl -

“ETNEERETE B QAR
FRBAZREN_ZZTUFANA
+AH%W Bt - ARRIEEE
RENERBE N SEESREERE
ANE%HxﬁEkAamﬁ%ﬁ%éé160,000,000
AR TR o FBARRNTIRRER
—E——FRA-tBEAEN—
ERZR S AQREEFRE-Z
TIUFIERERT 8 R P A E R
BEAERHEREZCEREARARD
AEETEBRBEHRZ10% °
T FEREGEI BN AT
F HE-ZT—NFALA+LEAR
IF - BRAARRRRAR-Z—HF
TA=THBAN—ERRER =
%?miﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂaﬂmﬁﬂﬁ

AREEBBETERE-_STNFE
ST B4R 2 s I B Ah B AR RE o
AT ETTUFERER EI18
THEREB®RITENBREDEE
Al FATE o

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The 2014 Share Option Scheme was adopted by a
resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on 30
May 2014. The 2014 Share Option Scheme provides that
the board of the directors of the Company (the “Board”)
may specify the eligible participants to whom the options
shall be granted. The eligible participants include directors,
employees, suppliers, customers, consultants, agents
and advisers of the Company and its subsidiaries and
any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or may contribute to the Group in recognition
of their contribution to the Group. The Board shall
determine the exercise price of option in accordance
with the terms of the 2014 Share Option Scheme, which
cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated in the
Listing Rules. The maximum number of the ordinary shares
of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not
in aggregate exceed 10% (i.e. 435,127,903 shares) of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at the date
when the 2014 Share Option Scheme was approved and
adopted. The existing scheme mandate limit in respect of
the granting of options to subscribe for shares under the
2014 Share Option Scheme was refreshed and renewed
at the an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 19 September 2016. The maximum number of
the ordinary shares of the Company upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 10% (ie. 1,385,769,378 shares)
of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at
19 September 2016 being the date of approval of the
refreshment of the existing scheme mandate limit. The
2014 Share Option Scheme was effective on 4 June 2014
and will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from that date. During the year ended 31 December 2016,
1,385,769,378 options were granted under the 2014
Share Option Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

UREEE 2 RODERT
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—E-OFBERES AAR AR
FRBAZRN_-_Z—NMFAHA
=+ BE®N —E-NFEBRE
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ZNAETEREREZEER
LHE  AERBEEREARA
MEWBARIZES BB - #
Bl BPF - BAER RER
BERULEZS S RMNBEETHAR
SEEHSAIREER ER 2 A
T URAEEAEEB TR - &
EeBEE _T-MEBREASZ
ZIEREEBREITEE - EE
AN BER LR AIFTRI R 2
B RE-_T—NFBERET
Bl 2 AR RE ] E At 5T 4% H Y
FrEBRERITEMAIREEITZ
RRARRALEBBRHEEARETSE
MBBR T — T ERESE
HERRMNEB AR B HITE
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FEBBAR_ZT—A~FALATNA
(AR BEEIRELREHERE
Mo A ARFRERITEBER S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The exercise price of options under the 2004 Share Option
Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme is at least the
highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on
the date on which an offer of an option is made by
the Company to the grantee (which date must be a
business day);

(i) a price being the average of the closing prices of the
Company'’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and

(i) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the 2004 Share
Option Scheme and 2014 Share Option Scheme, the
maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2004
Share Option Scheme and 2014 Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 30% of the total number of ordinary shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

31.

/|

UREEEZRDERT
2 (18)

—EENEREREFE R TN
FREER EA THB IR TEE
TEERCARRERE)

(i) ARB AR ARSERE
EH(WAREEB )BT
BHBRERARZARAK
U (E

(i EXRREZEHILELEER
BT HRERARZ
AR FHETE &

(i) ARAFRMHEE -

B — R FEERETEI R =T
— PO AR EIRT B A A A E
o ZETNFEREFER =T
— PO 4F B IR AT B A R AN R B AR
HAibBAERT SITE T AT AR K&
RITE 2 AR i — B T(E M AT 3%
TZARREBREE  &ZNHT
ABBARE T D RTERRE
#30% °

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme

(@ The terms and conditions of the grants that existed

31. UREEE 2 RHER

2 (#)

—E-NEFERERTS

during the year are as follows, whereby all options

are settled by physical delivery of shares:

Number of shares
issuable under
options granted

BEERE
BRET T
BITRM2EE
‘000
Fig
Options granted
on 12 October 2016
RIBE-—RE
+A+=H
Rz B
Directors& & 612,000
Employees(& 8 283,000
ConsultantsEa 490,769
1,385,769
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Vesting conditions

BB

Immediate on the date of the

options granted

NEHEREE R

Immediate on the date of the

options granted

RXHREREE R

Immediate on the date of the

options granted

RIX L RBREE R

(a)

FARABBRER L 2 HFX
BARHET - itk - A
PR AR D 2 B RUAEH

Exercise period

T

3 years from the
date of the
options granted
BB
AR =5
3 years from the
date of the
options granted
BB
HEEst =5
3 years from the
date of the
options granted
B h AR
HEEst =5



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 31 UREBEE 2ROERR
TRANSACTIONS (continued) 2 (18)
2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) —E-MFEREE(E)
(b)  The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b) FEAREZE RMEFHITE
share options are as follows: BT
Number of
shares
issuable
under
Weighted options
average granted
exercise RESEE
price Exercise  FBIRAET
hnE g price FERITRH
THEE TEE 2 ¥ A
HK$ HK$ ‘000
Er BT FR
Outstanding at RZT—+t4F
1 January 2017 —A—BEARTE 0.2486 0.2486 1,342,544
Lapsed during the year ~ PAGF ALK 0.2486 0.2486  (443,275)
Outstanding at RZT—tF
31 December 2017and +-A=+—HAK
1 January 2018 —ET-)\F—H—H
e RTT 2 0.2486 0.2486 899,269
Exercised during the R & PRI FA
year before Share 778 (BT (0)(0))
Consolidation (note (c)(i)) - - -
Lapsed during IR0 & OF AT SF IR 3R
the year before
Share Consolidation 0.2486 0.2486 (106,500)
Effect of Share BiAEOIE
Consolidation (753,131)
Outstanding after A& OHR M ARTTHE
Share Consolidation 4.972 4.972 39,638
the year after
Share Consolidation 4.972 4.972 (17,538)
Effect of Rights Issue HREE 796
Outstanding after AR TEA & M RTTE
completion of
Rights Issue 4.799 4.799 22,896

Lapsed during the year — HARTEAE R F A KK
after completion of
Rights Issue 4.799 4.799 (8,340)

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 31 UREEE 2 ROERR
TRANSACTIONS (continued) 2 (#&)
2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) —E-NFEERETTEE)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b) EMESE MMEFHITE
share options are as follows: B :
Number of
shares
issuable
under
Weighted options
average granted
exercise RESHED
price Exercise  FBRRAET
InREFE g price FETRAG
TEE TEE Z¥H
HK$ HK$ ‘000
ET BT FR
Outstanding and WZZE—-—NFE+AH
exercisable at =+ —HERTE
31 December 2018 KA iT{E 4.799 4.799 14,556
Outstanding and RZT—LF
exercisable at +-A=+—H
31 December 2017 H ARATIE M A 1T 1 0.2486 0.2486 899,269
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(© (i) The options were exercised to subscribe for
19 ordinary shares of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2018. No options
were exercised to subscribe for ordinary shares
of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2017.

(i) The share options outstanding at 31 December
2018 had an exercise price of HK$4.799 (2017:
HK$0.2486) and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 0.78 years (2017: 1.78
years).

(d)  Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of options granted is measured based on
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model. The contractual
life of options is used as an input into this model.
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model.

UREEEZRODERR

2 (18)
—E-NFERBRERE(E)

(o)

(d)

() BE=-_Z—N\Ft+-A
=t+—HLFE  BR
BOETEUARERR
A9 ERAR - HEZ
T—+tHF+ZA=+—
HIEFE - SEEReE
BITEUREBARAQR Y
AR -

(i RZE—-—NF+=A
=t+—BERTEZE
RERTITEERL.799
B Z T — & F
0.2486 % 7t ) » 1 A0 #
ETHRBENTFH A
0.78F (=T —t F:
1.784) °

BREAFERBR

DA BB AU RE SR B 2 PR 1S AR
B2RFELZEMRLE
BEZAFEMSE K
2Bz N EMAE TR
MhR &R MEEER
B8 - BEEZANFH
TYREUER 28 A2 -
Mhw -—sFRATMEEER
DEeMmARRRPITEZE
Pt

ERAFEEERA T
—E-NEEFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(d)

(e)

Fair value of share options and assumptions
(continued)

Fair value of share options granted on 12 October
2016 and assumptions are as follows:

Fair value at measurement  REfEHHIZ
date (HK$) ANFEECET)
Share price (HK$) RE(ET)
Exercise price (HK$) TEECGERT)
Expected volatility (%) TEERR B (%)
Option life (expressed as FE AR i BA (AR hn e
weight average life) (years) $i’]¢HH ) (5F)

Expected dividends yield (%) F8HiM% &8 & (%)

Risk-free interest rate (based 4 [& & K| & (32 5MNE
on Exchange Fund BEeER) (%)
Notes) (%)

The expected volatility is based on the historical
volatility adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service
condition. The condition has not been taken into
account in the grant date fair value measurement
of the services received. There were no market
conditions associated with the share options granted.

The fair value of the share options granted under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme of HK$144,833,000
was fully recognised in equity-settled share-based
payment expenses and the capital reserve of the
Group in 2016.
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31. LUREEECRHERR
2 (&

—E-NERRESE ()
(d) EEREDTERERRE

RZE—R"F+A+-_HE
THEREz A TFERRE

W
Directors Employees Consultants
= B’E& B
0.106 0.092 0.110
0.245 0.245 0.245
0.2486 0.2486 0.2486
72 72 72
3 3 3
0 0 0
0.62 0.62 0.62

TRHIR ) T AR 2R Eh m B
ERBLAFASENZED
ARRKBE B WAL FE -
TR EA LB JhHR B 52 BB AR AR
B THRAAZ2BRIZE
BRIEH N FEZEEABEX
BASE o

R R T AR B AR TS 6k 1 T 3R
e WIEH T EMAGTE
FIERBERELEBEHZATF
B o FT#% I B AR 30 48 B 75
S -

&) RZZTE—R"F - BRE=-F
— M FBERER EIR B
¥ Z » F{E144,833,000/8
TLEREER AN E B R
EREEZBROHERITEER
KBRS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2004 Share Option Scheme

(@ The terms and conditions of the grants that existed
during the year are as follows, whereby all options
are settled by physical delivery of shares:

31.

UREEE 2 RODERT
2 (18)
—ETNFRERERTS

(a) FARBBRER D ZIER
FARFIN - R FRARE
PRAEARL D 2 BRI AEE

Number of shares
issuable under
options granted

Contractual life

RECRLBRE Vesting conditions of options
AFRTROZBE BEGY BREZSNFH
‘000
TR
Options granted
on 28 October 2011
R-Z2-——%+A=+NR
Rz BRE
Tranche 1
£t
— Directors 33,600 24 months from date of grant 6 years
&% B E B =+ EEA 6F
— Employees 46,830 24 months from date of grant 6 years
—EE& BB -+ mEA 64
— Consultants 19,500 24 months from date of grant 6 years
— B B E B =+ EEA 6F
99,930
Tranche 2
F4t
— Directors 44,800 36 months from date of grant 6 years
&% BRI E SR =1RER 6F
— Employees 62,440 36 months from date of grant 6 years
—E8 B H SR =1RER 6
— Consultants 26,000 36 months from date of grant 6 years
— M B H SR =1+RER 6
133,240
Tranche 3
E=Ht
— Directors 33,600 48 months from date of grant 6 years
—-EF B & H B+ \EA 6
— Employees 46,830 48 months from date of grant 6 years
—EE& B B s m+ N\ @A 64
— Consultants 19,500 48 months from date of grant 6 years
— B B s m+ N\ @A 64
99,930
Total number of shares issuable 333,100

A FEITAD 2 AR

EREAEEBARAA

ZTE-NFEEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 31 UREEE 2 ROERR
TRANSACTIONS (continued) 2 (#&)
2004 Share Option Scheme (continued) —EENFERETS(E)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b) FEAREEE RNEFHITE
share options are as follows: BT :
2017
—E—+F
Number
of shares
issuable
Weighted under options
average granted
exercise S mE
price Exercise R
hiREF5 price  FETED
TE(E T8 pd - {=
HK$ HK$ ‘000
BIT ABTT T
Outstanding at 1 January — 8 — B KT
Tranche 1 F—H 1.15 32,730
Tranche 2 Edt 1.15 43,640
Tranche 3 F=4 1.15 32,730
Total #Et 1.15 109,100

Exercised during the year RERTTEE —

Lapsed during the year RERKXK

Tranche 1 E—4t 1.15 (32,730)

Tranche 2 £ 1.15 (43,640)

Tranche 3 £=4 1.15 (32,730)
Total st 1.15 (109,100)
Outstanding at + SHIESEE

31 December i ARITHE

Tranche 1 E—Ht 1.15 —

Tranche 2 =8t 1.15 —

Tranche 3 F=4t 1.15 —=

Total “EEt 1.15 —

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2004 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(b)

(0)

(d)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of
share options are as follows: (continued)

Exercisable at +=A=+—H
31 December CIEREd
Tranche 1 F—H#t
Tranche 2 Bt
Tranche 3 F=4

Total Bt

No options were exercised to subscribe for ordinary
shares of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2017.

The exercisable period of the share options under
2004 Share Option Scheme expired during the
year ended 31 December 2017. The 109,100,000
outstanding share options were lapsed accordingly.

31. UREEE 2 RHER
2 (%)

—TTFRERER S ()

(b) EEMESE MMEFHITE
BT : (&)

2017

—E—+F
Number of
shares
issuable
under
Weighted options
average granted
exercise RIRE i
price Exercise fE AR
¥ price  TETRG
1TEE 11EE Z 8B
HK$ HK$ ‘000
BT BT Th
1.15 —
1.15 —
1.15 —

@ REBEE-_ZFT—ttF+_H
=t—BLEFE H$EBRK
BETEARBARR LR
&O

(d —ZTMFERESEET
MBRER TEBHRERE
EZE—tF+ZA=+—
HiEFE&Em ° 109,100,000
M RITEZ BRED Bt
K o

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION 32. ¥%&6t

On 22 April 2016, the Company and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Purchaser”) entered
into an agreement (the “Shenzhen Munsun Agreement”)
with all shareholders (the “Shenzhen Munsun Sellers”)
of Shenzhen Munsun, a company incorporated in the
PRC. Pursuant to the Shenzhen Munsun Agreement, the
Shenzhen Munsun Sellers agreed to sell and the Purchaser
agreed to purchase the entire equity interest in Shenzhen
Munsun at a consideration of RMB25,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$27,830,000). On 3 January 2017,the
Group completed the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Shenzhen Munsun. Shenzhen Munsun is
engaged in asset management and advisory services in
the PRC. The acquisition was made to expansion on the
Group's existing businesses into asset management and
advisory service industry in the PRC and to broaden its
source of revenue.

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of
Shenzhen Munsun as at the date of completion on the
acquisition are as follows:

Net assets acquired: EWBEERE:
Fixed assets &l &
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE
Investment in associate REE QR 2 IRE
Other receivables, deposits H o R GRIR
and prepayments Re RIBHMARK
Cash and bank balances R e MRTTHEER

Trade and other payables
Deferred tax liabilities EEHRIEEE

Total identifiable net assets at
fair value HERRE
Goodwill kS

Satisfied by cash KB e ARE

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2018

FEAS BRI Eo At e A5 3R

RZE—XRFWUWA=-+=H AR
ARARBIZEZENBRARE
FDERYIEE  —HRPEE
MK AT 22 RER(EY
BEREF DI HBE(DRNNER
&l  BEBEFRNERBE &
NERBEFRELEMEFRE
BERIERZZHRE  RE
A AR ¥ 25,000,000 7T (HEE R
27,830,000/7C) c RZT—+4F
—A=8 ' AEEZEKBEFRYIZE
B IRME o RYIEREPENSE
BEETBERBARBGER - #1T
WA TBARNEBNHEEE
EENABARBITE  BREER
HEEZEE  UREREEZK
AR o

KU BB TRE B RYIIZE R 7T 5

BRFEIR A #AEE

BERBBZATEE:
Note HK$" 000
it FET
13 4,386
11,284
6,424
13,460
1,566
(16,477)
25(a) (38)
20,605
12 7,225
27,830
27,830



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

An analysis of the consolidated cash flows

32. ¥%E6t®

in respect of the acquisition of ERWENBAREE Y
a subsidiary is as follows: FeBHenRESMWT
Cash consideration paid ENBEeRE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BURERE RIS EEY

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

(i)

(ii)

included in cash flows from
investing activities

Shenzhen Munsun contributed revenue and net
profit after tax of HK$18,707,000 and HK$4,525,000
respectively to the Group for the period between the
date of completion on the acquisition and the end of
the reporting period.

Had the acquisition of Shenzhen Munsun taken
place at 1 January 2017, the revenue and the net
loss after tax of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 would have been HK$838,305,000
and HK$390,332,000.

The fair value of the other receivables were
HK$11,563,000 as at the date of completion of the
acquisition. The gross contractual amounts of the
other receivables were HK$11,563,000. None of the
receivables was expected to be uncollectible at the
date of completion on the acquisition.

AARERBREREMS
HBekReSFEWHFRE

(i)

(i)

Note HK$" 000
Bzt FET
(27,830)

1,566
(26,264)

N2 B P U BE SE Rk B R &
BEEMEHRZHBAARN
E BRI A R FEF R F
o Bl A18,707,0005% 7T &
4,525,000 7T °

RMKBERINERR -F
—tF-A-HCD#&T
AIAEBER_FT -t F
tZA=+t—HLEFEZ
BWARB®RFEBERES
7l #838,305,000/8 T K&
390,332,000 87T °

H b e R IE R BB 7T X B
HIM A F{E A 11,563,0007%
TC o B EWKIBRIEE X
£ % /511,563,000/8 7T ° %
W TER B HA - B UK
IRTEER Ty RN E o

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(i) The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$92,000
for this acquisition. The transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in consolidated income
statement.

(iv) The goodwill arising from the acquisition of
Shenzhen Munsun is attributable to the expansion
on the Group’s businesses into asset management
and advisory service industry in the PRC and revenue
sources from the anticipated profitability and revenue
growth of Shenzhen Munsun. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income
tax purpose.

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include pledged
deposits, client trust bank balances, cash and bank
balances, trade, loans and other receivables, investments,
trade and other payables, bank and other borrowings,
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, derivative financial instruments and convertible
bonds. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include credit, liquidity, interest rate
and currency risks. The Group is also exposed to price
risk arising from any unexpected changes in price of gold
products. These risks are limited by the Group's financial
management policies described below.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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32.

33.

EBE6@

(i) A"EEMREEAKBELERS
X 7K 92,0008 7T ° 22 S KK
EXH TREEEZRA
E\% o

(iv) WEBFRYEZRELENEHES
HRBEBARNEERTEEE
BIE N R 1T R BRI
BERHTAHEN G R A
BREENRARIER - &8
ERZEERRAILAE
BT o

tREKREERSRMITA
ZAYE
AEBTESHT ABIEFEDIKM
B BEEERTES Be R
BT  EWREER - BRRHEAM
FEUERIE - FERTBE R R E PR X
H - BT REMER  FEBRESR
ATEIESMEERAR 17
ESBMTAERARRES - BT
EYHBERBERS AN - 2%
SRMITEEBZEARBIESY &
BES - FIERINERR - KEE
BAZRAAMAERIZSES
BRBE 2 BRER - It ZAKRT
5 By A 2 B B S IR B T
BRI o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade, loans and other receivables, pledged deposits,
client trust bank balances and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposure to the credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and loan receivables, credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. Credit terms are
granted to customers, depending on the credit
worthiness of individual customers. At 31 December
2018, there is certain concentration of credit risk as
36% (2017: 8%) of the total trade debtors was due
from the Group's five largest customers. The Group
did not hold any collateral over these balances.

In respect of other receivables, the credit quality of
the debtors is assessed by taking into account of
their financial position, relationship with the Group,
credit history and other factors. Management
regularly reviews the recoverability about these
receivables and follows up the amounts overdue,
if any. The directors are of the opinion that the
probability of default by counterparties is low.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by appropriate credit-rating agencies.

33. e A M EERESRMIT A
ZRNFEEE

(a)

&R

rEBZEERREENRE
FEUBR 5K~ B R I H At FE UL
B BEBRER - BFPE
ARITEBRUARRITESS -
EEEREMEEERR -
MZzEEERR 2 EAZIEE

M BIFRFAEER SR ©

HEBESRERME @ 4
FIBEkBRE TeHEEEL
BEPEITEENE - SR TER
BPZEEME @ TP AR
BRERER - MZZE—N\FE+_A
=+—8B AXEEEKAEKX
EPEFNEWERERBRE
36%(=F—+HF :8%) ' W
AEXETEESTRR - K
SEVWERZSERFTEEM
iR o

REMERFENS €%
BERAZ BB B
SEZBEE FEELRHE
AERMmMILEEEER -
B IE B B T 5 R
I/ AT e AR B R B 8 HR
SR(WAB) EFRR/ETF
TTEK Z AR MERIE ©

nBEEZEERRBAR
B REARHF T RAGE
MEEFLARER TRER
FEAREVERTT °

EREAEEBARAA
ZTE-NFEEFER
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BB BFTEIN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group'’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2018. For listed
debt investments, the Group also monitors them by
using external credit ratings. The amounts presented
are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and

the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee

33. cREMEENREMTA
ZAFEGE)

(a) EERBR (&)

RZFE-NF+-A=1—H

Z R E JRR K AR B
TREIR-_F-NF+Z

A=+ - HRBRAKEEE
BR(EEZEREBE R (KR
FEMEMBALETHBE
RN S A5 7 BN R B Bl 3 2
EEEZMRREERR

AREREERSE LT
BREREMNS  AEETE
L?%FH&VI\%BF,\%W&E‘??@C
B2 eBAETRMEE

contracts. LEHBEREBREEZE
ERE
12:month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
125 3k
EEREER FEER
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  Simplified approach
£-Ea 32ER £ER Btat
HkS000 S0 HS 000 S0 HS 000
FAT FAr FAr FAr FAr
Trade receiables Flse+ 119,381 - - 107319 226700
Financil asets included in trade, THEWES  ERREGRIGNE 2R
loans and other receivabls, BRSE EHEE
deposits and prepayments
-Normal** i3 80,537 - - - 80,537
Pldged deposts EERER
- Not yet pastdue -AREE 102,519 = = - 102,519
Clien trust bank balances RPEfES
- Notyet past e Ser ek 2947 = = = 2947
Cash and bank balances RERGES
- Not yet past due -RAAE 80971 = = = 80,971
386,355 - - 107,319 493,674
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2018 (continued)

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, further
quantitative disclosures in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included
in trade, loans and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets have a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

Liquidity risk

At 31 December 2018, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$2,702,234,000. To
manage liquidity risk, the Group regularly monitors
its current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from
banks and financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The
directors are of the opinion that the Group will
be able to finance its future working capital and
financial requirements as described in note 2(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

33. cREMEENREMTA
ZAFEE)

(a)

(b)

EERMK %)

RZFE-NF+-A=1—H
ZREEBRRFRER (8)

* BRASERERBEHEE
EREZ B S EWKIE M
= E— 2 ENR

G AN 18 .

** fMETATANKE - HibE
W K B B B 2 & B
BEVERAHATEER
BreEREEZFERR
B8 MR N REE b
Tt AEGEREERRER
[E%]- BRI =@EE
ZIEEERWERIAIRE]

MENE £ & b

RZE-—NF+ZA=+—
H @ AEBERESRBEETFE
#72,702,234,0008 7T > & T
THRBESRR - AERTE
HERERMET 2 RBES
B URRAEB#RFTR
ZHE S REEBRRIT RS B
BESEHZALMEREE
NEMAEBEHERREZ
RBESFER - EERAE &
E B REMIR R A IS IRE
B3 2(b) BTl B H R SR & 48
BeRMBHEE -

ERAFEEERA T
—E-NEEFH
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B RERE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of
the Group'’s non-derivative financial liabilities and
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

Specifically, for bank and other borrowings which
contain a repayment on demand clause which can be
exercised at the lender’s sole discretion, the analysis
shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period
in which the Group can be required to pay, that is, if
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights
to call the loans with immediate effect. The maturity
analysis for bank and other borrowings is prepared

based on the scheduled repayment dates.

pult}

= k3
Morethan ~ More than
Total Within 1year 1years
contractual 1year hut but
undiscounted oo lessthan  lessthan
Carying ~ cashoutflow ~~~ demand 1years 5 years
amont THARE -ERE SH-F 0 BHCE
BEE BedtaE BER  EOMCE  BOREE
MO Ao KO SO RSO
71 i i1 23 71
Non-dervative fiancial bt~ #67£4HEE
Trade and oter pajtles ’@HH&EWWE T TR TSR = =
Bank and otherborrowings £ U009 3 236m 306,281 onam
Convertle bonds 39346 W m - -
L2379 ASI658 30 6 wan
Dervatve financal iabiles fitSRAR
Dervatve francl insruments *EMIE 6 = = = =
Financl i t i value ATE
through proftrloss iE eBAR = = = = =

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2018

33. &AM

More than
5years
Eliiit3
st
i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated b T3/~

EERERMIA

ZAFEE)

(b)

Carmying
amount

FEE 3

S0

674574
3645041
385460

470505

988444

988 444

RENE R (E)

AEERBEHRZIFTE
TRBEAIEERABZ
BT R AR B TR T &
P WARTHARFTIRA S
mE(BRBREONERFEZ
MEXH - wmEFRER
A AR & HIRBE 1T 2 B R 5+
B2 MBS ) RAEE R H
BRZEFERAIERE -

mE - SWEE A ABK

i

P

£
%’M%%ﬂZfﬁﬁ&Eﬂﬂ%%’&ﬁﬁ
DITBRERANEE R
ié/ Rz B (B B SRA
178 B G BB 38 W B 3K
Zﬁéﬂ)ﬂ’ﬂfﬁfﬁfﬁﬁ o R1T M
Hit &R 2 BB D TR
%Eﬁfkﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ% °

oif

n
5-tF
Moethan — More than
Totd Within Tyear 1years
contactue yer hut but
und\smumed oo Jess than Jess than
demand 1ye3rs Syeas More than
-Ehg BR-E 0 SRR Syears
BEX EIRZE EJREE ARIE
0/ 1/ 1/ 1/ /N 41/
&t Fér 7.1 7 i

B74574 67454 = = -

4051083 2185601 849289 916,608 99,565

389,89 38989 = - -
511553 3250010 849,289 916,608 99,565
10910 1039170 - - b
10910 1039170 . - -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(c) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank and other
borrowings and bank balances and fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings, financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and pledged deposits.

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest
rate profile of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings, financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss, bank balances and
pledged deposits at the end of the reporting
period:

Variable rate bank and SZENRIRIBITR

other borrowings HiE R

Fixed rate bank and ElEFIEFITR
other borrowings HER

Total borrowings BEXeE

Fixed rate borrowings BEEMEER
as a percentage of HERERE
total borrowings ZBEDL

Fixed rate financial ERSES ok
liabilities at fair value BAFETE
through profit or loss ZeMaE

Variable rate bank balances JZ#)FI&R1T 4 &4
Fixed rate pledged deposits  [EE % B K #H 17 3¢

33.

tREREEREMITA
ZAFEE)

(c) RIRREEkR(E)

AEBzREREN KRR
BUZ BN RIRTT R EMBER
FARTTHESHRE R - T AFE
A = e B2 [ N R R AT K2
HithER - BBBERAF
BIRzERABNMEER
FRAR

i) FEFE
TRFINHEHRA
SEBITREMER
BiBB A FEIIRK
ZeMEERAB R
THBLREERERZ
RGN

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F

Effective
interest
rates
BRFI=
%

8-12

5-24

0.1-0.4
0.1-3.8

Effective

interest

rates
HK$000 EFHNZE  HK$'000
FETT %  TET

527,910 6

T
O

1,066,482

2,721,281 4-15 2,578,559

3,249,191 3,645,041

84% 71%

— 4-7 988,444
80,362 0.1-0.4 141,721
102,519 0.1-3.8 612,155

ERAFEEERA T
—E-NEEFH
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LAZSTTEIR » Br BEFTHEIN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

All of the bank and other borrowings, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
pledged deposits of the Group which are fixed
rate instruments are insensitive to any change
in interest rates. A change in interest rate at the
end of the reporting period would not affect
profit or loss.

At 31 December 2018,
a general increase/decrease of 100 basis

it is estimated that

points in interest rates for variable rate bank
and other borrowings and bank balances,
with all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group's loss before tax
and its accumulated losses by approximately
HK$4,475,000 (2017: HK$9,248,000). Other
components of consolidated equity would not
change in response to the general increase/
decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for variable
rate interest bearing financial instruments in
existence at that date. The 100 basis point
increase/decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the end of
the next annual reporting period. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/ T3/~

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(d) Price risk

(1)

(ir)

Gold product price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from
the market price fluctuations on gold products.
To protect the Group from the impact of price
fluctuations in gold products, the management
closely monitors gold product price exposure
and will consider to use derivative contracts
should the need arises.

Changes in the fair value of derivative contracts
that economically hedge the price fluctuations
in gold products and for which no hedge
accounting is applied are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Equity Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk from equity instruments and fund
investments held by the Group which are
classified in the consolidated statement of
financial position as financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income
and available-for-sale investments. Price risk
is the risk of changes in fair value of financial
instruments from fluctuations, whether such a
change in price is caused by factors specific to
the individual instrument or factors affecting
all instruments traded in the markets. The
Group did not enter into any equity securities
forward contracts to manage this price
risk. The Group mitigates this price risk by
performing detailed analysis of investments
and dedicated professionals are assigned
to oversee and monitor the performance of
investments. The management considers the
Group's equity price risk is low as the Group
has only financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income in relation to
investment in an unlisted company in the PRC
of HK$268,619,000 (2017: under available-
for-sale investment of HK$251,958,000)
and investment in a private equity fund of
HK$11,547,000 (2017: under available-for-sale
investment of HK$12,162,000) at 31 December
2018 (note 15).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(e) Currency risk

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period
to currency risk arising from the following
significant assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate.

The management may consider to use forward
foreign exchange contracts to manage its
foreign currency risk arising from above
anticipated transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. During the year, the Group did
not enter into any forward foreign exchange
contracts to manage its foreign currency risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(e) Currency risk (continued)

()

(i1)

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. e EEREMIA
ZDEEE)

(e) EMEAPR(8)

United States dollar would not be materially
affected by any changes in movement in value
of the United States dollar against the Hong
Kong dollar. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis
has been prepared. The analysis is performed

on the same basis for 2017.

Exposure to currency risk (continued) () SMNEEEAE (B)
2018 2017
—E-N\F B e
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Assets/(liabilities) BETIEZ
denominated in USD BE/ (A1)
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTHERR 13 11
Pledged deposits [RELEES — —
Bank and other borrowings ~ $R1T R EME K — —
Total assets mEE 13 11
Total liabilities Y =R — —
Sensitivity analysis (i) SRS
The management considers that the pegged ERERA XL
rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the T EE#ELD

EHETHETZHE
[ERERERTE °
It EREGRE D
e ofiim—T—t
F 2R —EEHET
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group's financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2018

33. e A M EERESRMIT A

ZAFEGE)
() AFEHE
() BAFEIEGSRE

ERAE
TREJAEERHE
HARREFEEEFE
WerRt TEMNATE -
DEREARAVBMESE
AE 135 A TFEHE
FT R E B = A F1ER
€ - RFEFEREN
B B 2 E (A E R
&R A2 EBH A B
RENBEEEBEMN
T

- F-REEMHE:E
BHE BB A
(BIEREEXE
ERETE A TR
BT IS ) R AR T B
BEIGHENRF
(=30

- FZREME: A
REZE®H A
(BDREEEERIE —
B JE Y ] B 2 8 A
B \FAEAT
AEREA)GE
WAFE - T8
Rig A\ B BTG
HEHE A o

- F=RBEME:F
AEXRTA#HRE
AFTEHNATE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(1) Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair
value (continued)

Recurring fair value

measurements KEMATETE
Assets/(Liabilities): ¥E/ (8F)
Financial liabilities at fair value BRBERATE
through profit or loss SRz eRERE
Derivative financial instruments fTHEeRIA
Financial assets at BREM AN
fair value through BOTER
other comprehensive income LEREE
Available-for-sale investments AfHERSE

There were no transfers between instruments in
all levels during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.

An independent valuation company with
appropriate recognised professional qualifications
is engaged to value the derivative financial
instruments at each financial reporting period.
Appropriate valuation methods and assumptions
with reference to market conditions existing at
each financial reporting period to determine the
fair value of the derivative financial instruments
are adopted. The basis for determining the fair
value is disclosed in notes 19 and 24.

33. e A M EERESRMIT A

ZAFEE)
(f) DFEFTEE)
() BAFEIEGSRE

ELREE (F)

2018 2017
—E-N\F i 3
Level 2 Level 2
E2R F28
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAT
— (988,444)

(216) —
280,166 —

— 264,120

BE_Z—N\HEK=_F
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(ir)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost
are not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 except
for the convertible bonds. As at 31 December
2018, the fair value of the convertible bonds
amounted to approximately HK$287,041,000
(2017: HK$346,392,000) which is categorised
into Level 1 fair value measurements (i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices).

34. COMMITMENTS

(@ Asat 31 December 2018, the Group had contracted
but not provided for capital commitments in respect

of the acquisitions of gold mining and exploration
rights of HK$14,239,000 (2017: HK$14,998,000)
and fixed assets of HK$88,566,000 (2017:
HK$119,726,000). Investment in unlisted equity
investment funds of HK$44,436,000 (31 December
2017: HK$46,804,000) and capital contribution
in associate of HK$nil (31 December 2017:
HK$4,799,000).
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e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

34. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b)

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are payable as follows:

Within 1 year —FR
After 1 year but within 5 years —FUAEEBERFUA

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number
of properties for an initial period of three to ten
years (2017: three to ten years). None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

34, AIEE)

(b)

RZE—-NF+ZA=+—
B NEBRESAHERZ
KEHERRREN Z&E
REMREREHINT

2018 2017
—E2-NEF —T—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEr
9,805 13,729
23,566 4,290
33,371 18,019

AEBASZHEME 2 AHE
A NERBHM=Z2+F(=F
—tF:ZE+F) ZFH
EXTERERIAER -

ERAFEEERA T
—E-NEEFH
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@  During the year, the Group had the following related party
transactions:

(i) Munsun Assets Management Ltd (“Munsun Assets”)
and Tai Ning Investment Holdings Limited (“Tai Ning”)
(collectively the "Joint Lenders”) jointly granted a loan
of HK$300 million (the “Joint Loan"”) to the Group
in 2016. The Joint Loan was charged at an interest
rate of 9% per annum, unsecured and repayable in
January 2019. Tai Ning is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu
Liyang (Mr. Liu) who was appointed as the executive
director and the chairman of the Company on 13
October 2015 and 6 September 2017 respectively and
resigned as the chairman and the executive director on
5 September 2018 and 24 October 2018 respectively.
The Company's executive director Mr. Zhang Lirui (“Mr.
Zhang”) and an ex-executive director of the Company
Mr. Li Xianghong (“Mr. Li") (who was appointed as
the executive director of the Company on 10 July 2015
and the chairman and the chief executive director
on 7 August 2015 and resigned all above posts on
31 August 2017) holds approximately 18.3% and
31.6% respectively shareholding interest in Munsun
Assets. During the year, the Company entered into
a loan novation agreement and a supplemental loan
novation agreement (collectively the “Loan Novation
Agreements”) with the Joint Lenders and incoming
lenders (the “Incoming Lenders”). Pursuant to the
Loan Novation Agreements, the Joint Loan together
with accrued interest in an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$325 million owed by the Company
to the Joint Lenders was novated to each of the
Incoming Lenders which included an amount of
HK$11,274,000 to Tai Ning (“Tai Ning Loan”), an
amount of HK$53,018,000 to Mr. Zhang (“Mr. Zhang
Loan”) and an amount of HK$10,840,000 to Mr. Li (“Mr.
Li Loan”) and an aggregate amount of HK$250,069,000
to other independent Incoming Lenders (collectively, the
“Loans"”). The Loans were charged at an interest rate
of 9% per annum, unsecured and repayable in January
2019 which were kept unchanged with these terms
of the Joint Loan. The Group recognised interest on
the Joint Loan of HK$11,984,000 (2017: 27,000,000),
Tai Ning Loan of HK$274,000 (2017: HK$nil), Mr.
Zhang Loan of HK$1,290,000 (2017: HK$nil) and Mr.
Li Loan of HK$264,000 (2017: HK$nil) respectively in
the consolidated income statement during the year. On
21 June 2018, the Company and certain underwriters,
including all Incoming Lenders, entered into the
Underwriter Agreements to set-off the subscription price
payable by the Incoming Lenders against the Loans.
The Rights Issue and the Set-off has completed on 27
September 2018 (further details are set out in note
26(b)(iv)).
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e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year, Mr. Liu, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Li and
Mr. Zhang Shuguang (who was appointed as
the executive director of the Company on 6
September 2011 and resigned on 31 August
2017) and their spouses, Mr. Yi Shuhao (the
chairman and the executive director of the
Company) and certain senior management
staff of the subsidiaries of the Group have
provided certain joint personal guarantees for
bank and other borrowings facilities granted
to the Group with an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$869 million (2017: HK$765
million) (note 23(a) & (b)).

During the year, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Li have
provided personal guarantee for bank and
other borrowings facilities granted to the
Group of HK$72 million (2017: HK$126
million) and HK$344 million (2017: HK$404
million), respectively.

35. BEALTRZ (&)
@ (&)

(i)

(iii)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA 77

N

B SAEMEIN)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(iv)  On 21 June 2018, the Company entered into
an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting
Agreement”) with certain underwriters for
the proposed rights issue of not less than
5,003,075,640 rights shares and not more
than 5,045,075,640 rights shares (the “Rights
Shares”) at the subscription price of HK$0.22
per rights share on the basis of 6 rights
shares for every 1 existing issued share of the
Company (the “Rights Issue”). The aggregate
subscription price for the Rights Issue will be
not less than approximately HK$1,101 million
and not more than approximately HK$1,110
million. Details of the Rights Issue are set out
in the Company’s announcements between 21
June 2018 and 26 September 2018 and the
Company's circular dated 3 August 2018 and

the prospectus dated 4 September 2018.

Mr. Liu Liyang (“Mr. Liu™), the former executive
Director and the chairman of the Board,
through Tai Ning Investment Holdings Limited
and his personal interest, was interested in
21,482,343 Shares (representing approximately
2.58% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 23 August 2018); Mr. Zhang
Lirui ("Mr. Zhang"), an executive Director, was
interested in 2,584,169 Shares (representing
approximately 0.31% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 23 August 2018).
Under the listing rules, Mr. Liu and Mr. Zhang
are the connected persons of the Company
and they are required to abstain in favour
of from voting on the resolution in relation
to the approval of the Rights Issue and the
Underwriting Agreement. The Rights Issue and
the Increase Authorised Share Capital have
been approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the Company’s special general
meeting on 23 August 2018. The Rights Issue
transaction was completed on 26 September

2018.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 35. BEALRZ (#)

(@) (continued) (a) (&)

(v)  In addition to the transactions detailed above, v) BRI EFFAZFZIN
the Group had the following transactions and REERELE=ZZF—N
balances with related parties during the year F+-_RA=+—"HBHEE
ended 31 December 2018: HARR A AR B R s 7 B A

TITR S REAREE
Related parties transactions: AR5
2018 20174
—EBE-N\F —T—+F
Note HK$°000 HK'000
P aE FET FET
1. Liu Shiwei Interest expenses (1) 271 —
w4 of providing
financial assistance
REHIBEY 2T E
BH
2. Grace Silver Limited Interest expenses (1) 221 —
mBARAA of providing
financial assistance
RHIBER 2T E
BA
3. Shengzhen Fang Di Hua Revenue from financing (2) 2,794 —
Technology Service and advisory services
Co., Ltd. * EEREBARBEHA
RN E Mo ZE R R TS
BRAF]
4. Easyhome Interest expenses (3) 2,275 =
Financial Holding of providing
Co., Ltd. * financial assistance
BAZRETRE RHITBER 2T E
ERABR AR £H
EREXANEEERQ A 083

ZTE-NFEEFER
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 35. BEALRZ (&)

(@  (continued) (@) (%)
(v)  (continued) ) (%)
Outstanding balances with related parties: T Ak a4 EE
2018
—EB-NF
Note HK$°000
ik FHET
1. Liu Shiwei Other Borrowing (1) 14,000
Wt B Hib &%
Interest Payable (1) 3,565
JEATFLE
2. Grace Silver Limited Other Borrowing (1) 3,927
mBRARAE Hib &%
Interest Payable (1) 1,553
JEAH FLE
3. Shengzhen Rui Ying Equity Interest Payable 4) 190
Investment Fund Management J&ff %] 5
Co., Ltd.*
RINEBBERERSETR
BRAA]
4. Easyhome Financial Holding Other Borrowing (3) 83,606
Co., Ltd.* Hib &M%
BAZRTRERER QT
Interest Payable (3) 2,216
JEAT FLE
5. Koo Yuen Kim Interest Payable (5) 1,516
mEE JEASE AR,
*  The English name is for identification purpose * B 2T E MR
only. 5]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)

Notes:

M

As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Liu Shiwei (“Mr.
Liu SW") holds 365,477,181 Shares by virtue
of his personal interest. Ms. Guan Yuyan, being
Mr. Liu’s spouse, has interest of 1,305,038,799
Shares in the Company via her wholly-owned
controlled corporation namely Grace Silver
Limited. Accordingly, Mr. Liu is also taken to
be interested in 1,305,038,799 Shares via his
spouse. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2018,
Mr. Liu SW holds approximately 28.62% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Liu SW and Grace Silver Limited was one
of underwriters of the Rights Issue (as defined
in note 26) of the Company completed on
26 September 2018. Upon the completion
of Rights Issue, Mr. Liu SW and Grace Silver
Limited became substantial shareholders of the
Company.

35. BEALTRZ (&)

(a) (&)
(v) (&)
it
(n mZZE—NF+=
A=4+—8 ¥+
B AT 58 &£ )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

M

(continued)

On 1 March 2018, 7 December 2018 and 19
December 2018, Mr. Liu SW granted loans of
HK$84 million to the Group, respectively. On
24 May 2018, Grace Silver Limited granted
loans of HK$329 million to the Group. The
loan from Mr. Liu SW (“Mr. Liu SW Loans")
was charged at interest rate of 7.5% per
annum. The loans from Grace Silver Limited
("Grace Silver Loans") were charged at interest
rates 12% and 15% per annum. These loans
were unsecured and have repayment terms
ranged from 3 months to 1 year.

The Mr. Liu SW Loans of HK$40 million and
Grace Silver Loans of HK$287 million were set
off with the subscription price payable by Mr.
Liu SW and Grace Silver Limited in Rights Issue
(Further details of the Rights Issue are set out
in note 26(b) (iv) to the consolidated financial
statements) respectively. Further details of
the Set-off are set out in note 35(a) (i) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

M

@)

(continued)

In addition, the Mr. Liu SW Loans of HK$30
million and the Grace Silver loans of HK$38
million were settled during the year ended 31
December 2018 respectively.

The above loans are fully exempted connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Shengzhen Fang Di Hua Technology Service
Co., Ltd. is wholly and beneficially owned by
Grace Silver Limited up to 13 December 2018.
The revenue from financing and advisory
services was charged pursuant to the terms in
the agreement signed between the Group and
Shengzhen Fang Di Hua Technology Service
Co., Ltd. on 1 August 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

3)

Easyhome Financial Holding Co., Ltd and China
Home Hong Kong Limited is wholly-owned by
Beijing Easyhome Investment Holding Group
Co., Ltd. China Home Hong Kong Limited
directly holds 643,061,087 Shares of the
issued share capital of the Company as 31
December 2018. Beijing Easyhome Investment
Holding Group Co., Ltd. is deemed to hold
643,061,087 Shares, representing 11.02% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at
31 December 2018.

China Home Hong Kong Limited became
substantial shareholder by subscription of
the Rights Issue which completed on 27
September 2018.

On 15 June 2018, Easyhome Financial Holding
Co., Ltd granted a loan of HK$ 228 million
to the Group. The loan was charged at an
interest rate of 10% per annum, unsecured
and has a repayment term of 1 year or payable
on demand. The loan was settled HK$144
million during the year ended 31 December
2018.

The above loan is a fully exempted connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

4)

(&)

Shengzhen Rui Ying Equity Investment
Fund Management Co., Ltd. is wholly and
beneficially owned by Grace Sliver Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

On 13 March 2018, Shengzhen Rui Ying
Equity Investment Fund Management Co.,
Ltd. granted a loan of HK$11 million to the
Group. The loan was charged at an interest
rate of 15% per annum, unsecured and has
a repayment term of 2 months. The loan
was fully settled during the year ended 31
December 2018.

Mr. Koo Yuen Kim holds 595,258,945
Shares by virtue of his personal interest and
16,086,782 Shares through his wholly owned
corporation namely Golden Eagle (Asia)
Investment Limited. Mr. Koo Yuen Kim holds
10.47% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2018.

Mr. Koo Yuen Kim was one of underwriters of
the Rights Issue of the Company completed
on 26 September 2018. Upon the completion
of Rights Issue, Mr. Koo Yuen Kim became a
substantial shareholder of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(5)

(continued)

On 14 March 2018, Mr. Koo Yuen Kim
granted a loan of HK$50 million to the Group.
The loan was charged at an interest rate
of 7.5% per annum, unsecured and has a
repayment term of 7 months.

On 14 June 2018, Mr. Koo Yuen Kim as one
of incoming lenders (as defined in note 35(a)
(i) with the Company and the Joint Lenders (as
defined in note 35(a) (i)) entered into a loan
novation agreement and a supplemental loan
novation agreement (collectively the “Loan
Novation Agreements”). Pursuant to the Loan
Novation Agreements, the Joint Loan together
with accrued interest in an aggregate amount
of approximately HK$325 million owed by the
Company to the Joint Lenders was novated to
each of the Incoming Lenders which included
an amount of HK$71,780,000 to Mr. Koo
Yuen Kim. Further details of the Loan Novation
Agreements are set out in note 35(a) (i) to the
consolidated financial statements. The above
loan was fully set off by the subscription price
payable by Mr. Koo Yuen Kim in Rights Issue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Key management personnel
remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in notes 8 and 9 is as follows:

FE R B SR
BERAE A

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The method, estimates and judgements the directors
use in applying the Group’s accounting policies have a
significant impact on the Group’s financial position and
operating results. Some of the accounting policies require
the Group apply estimates and judgements on matters
that are inherently uncertain. In addition to note 31 which
contains information about the assumptions and the risk
factors relating to fair value of share options granted,
certain critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group's accounting policies are described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Mining rights and mining structures

Mining rights and mining structures are amortised
or depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the
mines, in accordance with the production plans of
the mines concerned, by using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over
the estimated total proven and probable reserves
of the ore mines. Proven reserves refer to the
economically mineable part of measured resources.
Probable reserves include economically mineable part
of indicated resources. The process of estimating
quantities of reserves is inherently uncertain and
complex. It requires significant judgements and
decisions based on available geological, geophysical,
engineering and economic data. These estimates may
change substantially as additional data from ongoing
development activities and production performance
becomes available and as economic conditions
impacting mineral prices and costs change. Reserve
estimates are based on current production forecasts,
prices and economic conditions. The directors exercise
their judgement in estimating the total proven and
probable reserves of the ore mines.

Renewal of mining rights

The Group's mining rights will expire during
the period from the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements up to 2026 and,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group will be able to renew the mining rights with
the relevant authorities in the PRC continuously at
insignificant cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA/& T3/~

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(9

(d)

Depreciation and amortisation

Fixed assets, other than mining structures, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account
their estimated residual values. The Group reviews
annually the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any. Interests in leasehold land held for
own use under operating leases are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated
useful lives of the leased assets and the lease term.
Both the period and methods of amortisation are
reviewed annually. The depreciation and amortisation
expense for future periods is adjusted if there are
significant changes from previous estimates.

Valuation of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value at the end of the reporting period.
Net realisable value is determined on the basis of
the estimated selling price less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. The directors estimate
the net realisable value for inventories based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and current
market conditions. In addition, the directors perform
an inventory review at each year end date and assess
the need for write down of inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B |RME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Impairments

In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for the Group’s intangible assets, fixed
assets, deposits paid for gold mining and exploration
rights and fixed assets, recoverable amounts of
the assets need to be determined. The recoverable
amount is the greater of the fair value less costs
of disposal and the value in use. It is difficult to
precisely estimate fair value less costs of disposal
because quoted market prices for these assets
may not be readily available. In determining the
value in use, expected cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgement relating to items such
as level of sales volume, selling price and amount
of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount
that is reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable
and supportable assumptions and projections of
items such as sales volume, selling price and amount
of operating costs. Had different parameters and
discount rates been used to determine the fair
value of the intangible assets, the Group's results of
operations and financial position could be materially
different.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(e) Impairments (continued)

()

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired
at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2018 was HK$281,118,000 (2017:
HK$281,118,000). Further details are given in note
12(0).

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are
assessed and provided based on the directors’
regular review of ageing analysis and evaluation
of collectibility. A considerable level of judgement
is exercised by the directors when assessing the
credit worthiness and past collection history of each
individual customer.

An increase or decrease in the above impairment
losses would affect the net profit of the Group in
future years.

Loss allowance for trade receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade
receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires the
use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
and an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the end of reporting
period. Where the estimation is different from the
previous estimate, such difference will affect the
carrying amounts of trade receivables and thus the
impairment loss in the period in which such estimate
is changed. The Group keeps assessing the expected
credit loss of trade receivables during their expected
lives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(9)

(h)

Fair value of derivative financial
instruments and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive
income and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

The fair value of derivative financial instruments
and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss that are not traded in
active markets are determined by using valuation
techniques. Where valuation techniques are used
to determine fair values, they are periodically
reviewed. To the extent practical, models use only
observable data, however areas such as credit risk,
volatilities and correlations require management
to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the fair values of derivative
financial instruments and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Income tax

Determining income tax provision involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions. The directors carefully evaluate tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislations. Deferred
tax assets are recognised for temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only
be recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which
the unused tax credits can be utilised, the directors’
judgement is required to assess the probability of
future taxable profits. The directors’ assessment
is constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax
assets are recognised if it becomes probable that
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(i)

()

(k)

Functional currency of the Company

The Company is carrying out its operating activities
and making management decisions in Hong Kong,
that is, raising finance in Hong Kong dollars and has
a significant degree of autonomy from its subsidiaries
in the PRC in the way its business is managed. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, its
functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.

Environmental contingencies

During the year and up to the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, the Group
has not involved in any significant environmental
remediation at this initial stage of gold mining
activities and has complied with the existing
environmental legislation requirements. The PRC
government, however, may move further towards
more rigorous enforcement of applicable laws and
the adoption of more stringent environmental
standards. Under existing environmental legislation,
management believes that there are no probable
liabilities that will have a material adverse effect
on the financial position or operating results of the
Group for the current reporting period.

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine

The Group is required to determine whether waste
removal costs (“stripping costs”) incurred during
the production phase of a property of a surface
mine provide improved access to a component of
an ore body that will be mined in a future period,
and whether the costs can be reliably measured.
The Group has to apply judgment when identifying
components of the mine over which stripping costs
are capitalised, estimate the average stripping ratio
for each component, and use judgment determining
the period over which the stripping activity assets is
amortised.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had the following significant events subsequent
to the end of the reporting period and up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements:

(@ The Group has been granted new bank and other
borrowings of HK$111 million.

(b) Pursuant to a special resolution passed at
the extraordinary meeting by the Company’s
shareholders on 27 February 2019, the Company has
implemented the capital reorganisation (the “Capital
Reorganisation”) which comprises the following:
(a) the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced through a cancellation of the paid-up capital
of the Company to the extent of HK$0.099 on each
of the issued existing shares such that the nominal
value of each issued existing share was reduced from
HK$0.1 to HK$0.001; (b) immediately following the
capital reduction taking effect, all the authorized but
unissued share capital of the Company (which shall
include the authorised but unissued share capital
arising from the capital reduction) was cancelled in
its entirety and forthwith upon such cancellation,
the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased to HK$10,000,000 by the creation of
such number of additional new shares as shall be
sufficient to increase the authorised share capital of
the Company to HK$10,000,000 divided into 10,000
million new shares; and (c) the credit arising in the
books of the Company from the capital reduction
was credited to the contributed surplus account
of the Company. The Capital Reorganisation was
completed on 28 February 2019 and a credit of
approximately HK$577,855,236 arisen from the
capital reduction was transferred from the share
capital account to the contributed surplus account
of the Company. Details of the above are set out in
the Company'’s circular on 4 February 2019 and the
Company’s announcements on 18 January 2019, 27
February 2019 and 28 February 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transaction

The major non-cash transaction is other borrowing
set off by the aggregate subscription price payable
by the relevant underwriters with an amount of

approximately HK$761 million.

mEe

BrBBPIIESN)

38. MEBEERERHFE

(a) EEFREXRSH

TEIRRERHREMEHAZE
MaRBEREMEREE €8
#761EEBTT °

(b) Changes in liabilities/(assets) arising (b) KERME TR ARG
from financing activities (BEE) &
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through
Bank and profit or loss
other  Convertible ~ #BER Pledged Accrued
borrowings Bonds  &ATE deposits interest
RITR Bk v BER FEf Total
EthER E5 cRAR B ME CH
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
TET T T TE7 TE7 TET
1 January 2017 S
—A-H 4,009,202 368,308 727,748 (1,018,472) 22,649 4,109,435
Changes from financing BEGEnER
cash flows
Net proceeds from new bank #7138 4T R E
and other borrowings -0t
JBFE 1,167,506 - - - - 1,167,506
Repayment of bank and EBETR
other borrowings EtER (1,789,544) - - - - (1,789,544)
Net proceeds from financial BRRREATE
liabilites at fair value S &8
through profit or loss BEZ G
JBFE - - 780,450 - - 780,450
Repayment of financial [EBEEATE
liabilites at fair value STABRZ
through profit or loss cRak = - (574,919) - - (574,919)
Decrease in pledged deposits 2 &AL - = = 466,202 = 466,202
Interest paid RAREIEN - (27,279) - - (367,791 (395,070)
(622,038) (27,279) 205,531 466,202 (367,791) (345,375)
Effect of foreign exchange Ex2FH 52
rate changes 236,400 - 53,777 (59,885) 1,604 231,896
Interest expenses MEXH NATT* 44431 - - 397,078 462,98
Fair value loss NYEBR 5 = 1,388 - = 1,388
At 31 December 2017 RZB—+F
+-A=1+—H 3,645,041 385,460 988,444 (612,155) 53540 4,460,330

*  Representing amortisation of financing transaction costs.

* RERBEBESNRHRAEH o
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. MEBEERERMT &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities/(assets) arising (b) REMETE BB
from financing activities (continued) (BE) 28 &)
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through
profit or loss
Bank and Other
other  Convertible  #EBEzH Accrued  financing
borrowings Bonds  EATE interest  activities**
RITR AR v Fef Eth Total

sHER B% SBRR ME RERBe A
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000  HKS 000 HK$000
Fer AT AT AT TET  TEI

At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\F
—A—H 3,645,041 385,460 988,444 53,540  (612,155) 4,460,330
Changes from financing cash flows  BER & HES
Net proceeds from new bank MERITRE
and other borrowings B FETR
ek 2,234,903 - - - - 2,234,903
Repayment of bank and ERRITR
other borrowings HtER (1,756,388) - - - - (1,756,389)
Repayment of financial liabilities at ~ EEHATE
fair value through profit or loss itAER
ZeRaR - - (962,295) - - (962,295)
Decrease in pledged deposits BEAFTRS - - - — 491,441 491,441
Payment for the 2018 ZE-\Eu#
Convertible Bonds Restructure REFELFH - (83,421) = - = (83,421)
Net proceeds from issue of BERHEE R
new shares under share placing HRETHRD
and Rights Issue LETREE - - - - 482,188 482,188
Finance costs paid BB A - (15,984) - (443,186)  (61,238) (520,408)

478,515 (99,405)  (962,295)  (443,186) 912,391 (113,980)

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. MEBEERERMFT &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities/(assets) arising (b) XEMETE2EE
from financing activities (continued) (BE) 28 &)
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through
profit or loss
Bank and Other
other  Convertible  #EBER Accrued  financing
borrowings Bonds  EATE interest  activities*
RITR Bk v FEf Eth Total

EfER B%  2HAR mg  BEED &t
HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSOOO - HKST000
TET FiET FiET FiET TiET TiET

Effect of foreign exchange ExEFH /52
rate changes (131,219) - (24,962) (4,100 18,195 (142,086)
Interest expenses HELH 17,531* 26,988 - 481,612 - 526,131
Other borrowings set off by the  #REAHEEL
aggregate subscription price EREREER
payable by the relevant Bt ETE
underwriters (760,677) - - - - (760,677
Loss on the 2018 Convertible - \FAk
Bonds Restructure REFEEEHE - 54,757 - - - 54,757
Fair value gain on derivative {TEERIA
financial instruments ATENE - (37,638) - - - (37,638)
Fair value gain on financial liabilities EBBHEATE
at fair value through profit or loss ~ FIkz 4B AR
NFERE - - (1,187) - - (1,187)
At 31 December 2018 RIE-\F
TZEERE 3,249,191 330,162 - 87,866 318,431 3,985,650
*  Representing amortisation of financing transaction costs. O RKRBEEDNR SRR -
**  Other financing activities are financing assets arising from o HMBEERBRERKEREIE
financing activities, including cash flows and non-cash ZEE  BEEERER - 4R
changes in pledged deposits, Rights Issue and finance cost, R BA AR RIFRE 2 &
which is for illustration purpose only. g HIRARBZEZA -
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39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued the following amendments, new and
revised standards and interpretations which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2018:

The Group has not early applied any of the following new
and revised standards, amendments or interpretations that
have been issued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an investor and
its Associate or joint Venture 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment features with
negative compensation '

HKFRS 16 Leases !
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts?
HKFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax
treatments '
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKAS 12,
HKFRS 2015-2017 Cycle Income taxes'

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2018
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39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (continued)

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKAS 23,
HKFRS 2015-2017 Cycle Borrowing Costs’

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material?
and HKAS 8

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019.

2 Effective for annual periods begining on or 